
  

 

Meeting of the  
 

INNER NORTH EAST 
LONDON JOINT 
OVERVIEW & 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
__________________________________ 

 
Thursday, 11 February 2010 at 9.30 a.m. 

_______________________________________ 
 

AGENDA 
______________________________________ 

 
VENUE 

NEWHAM TOWN HALL, BARKING ROAD, EAST HAM, LONDON E6 
2RP 

 
 
 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact:  
 
Tracey Anderson, Overview & Scrutiny Officer 
 
Tel: 0208 356 3312 Email: tracey.anderson@hackney.gov.uk  
 



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

INNER NORTH EAST LONDON JOINT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  

 
Thursday, 11 February 2010 

 
9.30 a.m. 

 
 PARTICIPATING LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

 
 MAP OF LOCATION 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 Any Member of the Committee or any other Member present in the meeting room, having 

any personal or prejudicial interest in any item before the meeting is reminded to make 
the appropriate oral declaration at the start of proceedings.  At meetings where the public 
are allowed to be in attendance and with permission speak, any Member with a 
prejudicial interest may also make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
but must then withdraw from the meeting room before the matter is discussed and before 
any vote is taken. 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING AND 
MATTERS ARISING  

5 - 20 All Wards 

 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 21January 
2009 as a correct record of the proceedings. 
 
To note that the minutes of the meeting held on 02 
February 2010 are unavailable and will be submitted to a 
future meeting for agreement. 
 

  



 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

4. WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS  21 - 40 All Wards 
 • Royal College of Paediatric and Child Health (attached) 

• Health for North East London Consultation  
Events Timetable        (attached) 

 

  

5. WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF NURSING  41 - 46 All Wards 
 • Presentations on the impact of the proposals to 

nursing 
 

  

6. WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF 
PSYCHIATRISTS  

 All Wards 

 • Presentation on the impact of the proposals to mental 
health services 

 
  

7. WITNESS - TRANSPORT FOR LONDON   All Wards 
 • Presentation on the impact of the proposals to 

transport services 
 

  

8. WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS  47 - 140 All Wards 
 • Presentation on the impact of the proposals  

 
  

9. WITNESS - PUBLIC AND PATIENT 
REPRESENTATIVE GROUPS  

 All Wards 

 • North East London - Local Involvement Networks 
• People’s Platform 
 

  

10. WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF GENERAL 
PRACTITIONERS (GP'S)  

 All Wards 

 • Presentation on the impact of the proposals to GPs 
and primary care 

 
  



11. ANY OTHER ORAL OR WRITTEN ITEMS 
WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT  

  

 [Each written report on the public part of the Agenda as 
detailed above: 
(i) was made available for public inspection from the 

date of the Agenda; 
(ii) incorporates a list of the background papers which 

(i) disclose any facts or matters on which that 
report, or any important part of it, is based; and (ii) 
have been relied upon to a material extent in 
preparing it. (Relevant documents which contain 
confidential or exempt information are not listed.); 
and 

(iii) may, with the consent of the Chairman and subject 
to specified reasons, be supported at the meeting 
by way of oral statement or further written report in 
the event of special circumstances arising after the 
despatch of the Agenda.] 

 

  

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC    
 There are no matters scheduled to be discussed at this 

meeting that would appear to disclose confidential or 
exempt information under the provisions Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985. 
 
Should any such matters arise during the course of 
discussion of the above items or should the Chairman 
agree to discuss any other such matters on the grounds of 
urgency, the Committee will wish to resolve to exclude the 
press and public by virtue of the private nature of the 
business to be transacted.  
 

  

 
 



PARTICIPATING AUTHORITIES 
 
London Boroughs 
 Appointed Member 
City of London  Common Council Man 

Wendy Mead 
Cllr Daniel Kemp 
Cllr Jonathan McShane 

London Borough of 
Hackney  

Cllr Maureen Middleton 
Cllr Winston Vaughan London Borough of 

Newham  Cllr Ted Sparrowhawk 
Cllr Tim Archer 
Cllr Ann Jackson 

London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets  

Cllr Sirajul Islam 
 

Agenda Annex

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



Directions to Newham Town Hall 
 
Newham Town Hall, Barking Road, East Ham, E6 2RP 

 

Public Transport 
Bus: 5, 58, 101, 104, 115,238, 300, 325, 376 and 474 
 
Train: East Ham 
The Town Hall is approximately 10 minutes walk from East Ham Underground 
station.  East Ham is on the District Line. 
 
Driving 
Drivers please click on the link below. 
http://tinyurl.com/newhammap  

Agenda Annex

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
Inner North East London Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Health 
 
11th February 2010 
 
Item 3 – Minutes of the last meeting and Matters Arising 
 

 
Item No 

 

3 
 
Outline 
 
Attached are the minutes for the last Joint JOSC meeting on 21st January 
2010  
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked:  
 

• To agree the minutes 
 
Matters Arising 
 
For information attached is a copy of the power point presentations form the 
JOSC on 21st January 2010 

o London Ambulance Service – Presentation and Report for Information 
o Royal College of Midwives – Presentation and Report for Information 
o Health for North East London – Presentation on Vascular Surgery  

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan20100.doc 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE OUTER NORTH EAST LONDON JOINT 
HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

(JOINT MEETING WITH INNER NORTH EAST LONDON HEALTH JOINT 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE) 

Barking Town Hall 
Thursday 21 January 2010 (9.30 am – 12.55 pm) 

 
 
 
 
Present: Councillor Dee Hunt (London Borough of Barking & Dagenham) in the 

Chair 
  

Councillors representing London Borough of Barking & Dagenham: 
John Denyer and Marie West 
 
Common Councilman representing City of London: Wendy Mead 
 
Councillors representing London Borough of Hackney: Daniel Kemp 
and Jonathan McShane 

 
Councillors representing London Borough of Havering: Ted Eden and 
Fred Osborne 
 
Councillor representing London Borough of Newham: Winston 
Vaughan 

  
 Councillor representing London Borough of Redbridge: Ralph Scott 
 
 Councillor representing London Borough of Waltham Forest: Richard 

Sweden 
 
 Councillor representing Essex County Council: Chris Pond (observer 

status) 
 
 Co-opted Members: Malcolm Wilders was in attendance. 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Maureen 

Middleton (Hackney), June Alexander (Havering), Ted Sparrowhawk 
(Newham), Filly Maravala (Redbridge), Tim Archer and Sirajul Islam 
(Tower Hamlets). 

 
Also present were: 
 
Helen Brown (HB) Programme Director, Health for North East London 
Don Neame (DN), Health for North East London (H4NEL) 
 
Several representatives of North East London LINks were also in 
attendance. 
  
Councillor McShane declared a declared a personal interest, which 
was not prejudicial, as he was employed by NHS Lambeth.  

Page 7



2M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

 
The Chairman advised those present of action to be taken in the event 
of emergency evacuation of the Town Hall becoming necessary. 

 
1 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
1.1 The minutes of the previous meeting of the Joint Committee, held on 26 

November 2009, were confirmed as a correct record, subject to the 
amendments listed below and were signed by the Chairman. 

 
Minute 1, para 1.1, fourth paragraph amended by the addition at the end of 
the paragraph of the following words ‘and other associated services.’ 
 
Minute 1, para 1.3, final sentence of fifth paragraph amended by the addition 
of the following words at the conclusion of the sentence ‘and recommend that 
further evidence be provided.’ 
 
Minute 1, para 1.3, final sentence of seventh paragraph be amended to read 
‘The future of the Forest Medical Centre in Loughton had not, so far, been 
discussed.’ 
 

2. MATTERS ARISING 
 
 Referral of H4NEL Proposals to Secretary of State by Redbridge Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
2.1 Since the last meeting the Redbridge Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee had decided to refer the H4NEL proposals and their consultation 
to the Secretary of State for Health, with immediate effect.  The Chairman 
clarified the position that Redbridge’s decision did not impact on the work of 
the two Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The Outer and Inner North 
East London Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees remained the statutory 
consultee for these proposals and would report at the end of the consultation 
period as previously agreed. 
 

2.2 Councillor Scott advised the meeting that there was an overwhelming 
consensus against and strong opposition to the Health for North East London 
proposals in so far as they affected Redbridge, especially the closure of A & E 
at King George Hospital.  The London Borough of Redbridge remained 
committed to the Joint Committee, and it was possible that the Secretary of 
State may not do anything until the conclusion of the consultation process. 
 

2.3 Councillor Scott informed the meeting that Redbridge were concerned that the 
proposals had not been properly costed. They also had concerns on the affect 
of the closure on local maternity services and had no confidence in the ability 
of Queens Hospital to cover all acute services.  A number of issues including 
travelling time/driving distance, lack of vision for the Redbridge community, 
the fact that the proposals were devised by clinicians and the timing of the 
consultation pre-election were all of concern to Redbridge. 

Page 8



3M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

 
2.4 Councillor Denyer advised the meeting that as a local ward councillor he fully 

supported the position taken by Redbridge.  
 

2.5 Councillor Eden expressed similar views confirming that he felt the timing of 
the consultation was premature. 
 

3. HEALTH FOR NORTH EAST LONDON - UPDATE 
 

 Don Neame, joint Communication and Engagement lead at H4NEL, advised 
the Committee that all the PCTs in the area were working to deliver the 
Communication Plan agreed in November.  They were working with libraries 
and G.P. surgeries to ensure information is available and were asking LINks 
to be their eyes and ears to ensure this was the case. 

 
 The first of the roadshows had been held at Homerton Hospital and full details 

of all the proposed roadshows had been provided to local newspapers.  
Special arrangements were being made to reach difficult to reach groups with 
eighty agreeing arrangements for meetings. The dates for all the meetings 
would be circulated. 

 
 Councillor Pond informed the Committee that Essex had asked H4NEL to 

arrange meetings in Loughton and Brentwood.  He was also seeking details of 
the timetable for what happens after the conclusion of the consultations and 
what will happen after March. 

 
 Helen Brown (HB) explained that it was difficult to be certain as to future 

timetables but H4NEL expectation that it will take 2 to 3 months to analyse the 
responses to the consultation. It was likely the next stage would be reported 
to the PCTs in June/July with the possibility of an Independent Review Panel 
being arranged to move things forward. 

 
 Councillor Denyer asked how many members of the public attended the 

Homerton Roadshow. H4NEL advised that they had engaged with hundreds 
of people and others were made aware of the proposals. Councillor Denyer 
felt they still were not consulting in the right way nor engendering enthusiasm 
from the general public. 

 
 Both Pat Brown (London Borough of Barking and Dagenham) and Councillor 

Eden made it clear that residents from both Barking and Dagenham and 
Havering attended King George Hospital and therefore they needed to be 
reached in the consultation process. 
 
 

4. EVIDENCE SESSION 1 – LONDON AMBULANCE SERVICE 
 
 Kathy Jones KJ), Director of Service Development and Katie Millard (KM), 

Assistant Director of Operations for the London Ambulance Service attended 
the meeting to give evidence. Seven questions had been sent to the officers 

Page 9



4M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

prior to the meeting. Kathy set the context for the Ambulance Service’s 
response to the consultation.  London Ambulance Service had established a 
set of criteria for supporting PCTs in their aims to rationalise services. These 
criteria were: 

 
• Criterion 1: proposals must be clinically appropriate for seriously ill or 

injured patients; 
• Criterion 2: London Ambulance Service should have access to facilities 

for patients with less serious emergency needs; and 
• Criterion 3: Proposals should include a commitment to resourcing the 

ambulance service so that no patient waits longer for an ambulance 
than they would have done before the change.  

 
 The Committee was informed that only approximately 10% of ambulance 

patients have a life threatening condition, many of the patients are already 
taken to a specialist hospital (not the nearest hospital) and most of the 
remainder could be treated in an Urgent Care Centre or even at home. The 
London Ambulance Service had been consulted on the proposals early in the 
summer of 2009 and had been a member of the Clinical Reference Group 
since the start of the process. They were now represented on the Programme 
Executive Group. 

 
 The London Ambulance Service had commissioned modelling with H4NEL on 

impact of journey times on their operational delivery. The model predicted a 
13.8% increase in ambulance activity to Queens (an additional 14 patients a 
day), an 11.8% increase to Newham (an additional 10 patients per day) and a 
10% increase to Whipps Cross (an additional 9 patients a day). These figures 
also assumed that 39% of current ambulance journeys to King Georges 
Hospital going to the Urgent Care Centre. 

 
 The average journey time for all patients was four minutes. The increase in 

journey times was 10 minutes or less for around 80% of affected patients, with 
31% of patients having similar or shorter journey times because the were not 
currently accessing their nearest hospital. The maximum impact for an 
affected patient was predicted to be 19 minutes. 

 
 To manage the performance effects in the local area the London Ambulance 

Service would need additional resources. Extra staff training would also be 
required to assist in selecting the most appropriate treatment pathways for 
patients. 

 
 However it was pointed out that: 
 

• Most heart attack patients already go to the London Chest Hospital; 
• Most stroke patients already go to Queens: and 
• As of April 2010 all major trauma cases would go to Royal London. 

 
 
 

Page 10



5M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

 
4.7 Questions and Discussion with the Committee 

 
4.7.1  Councillor Osborne asked where the Urgent Care Centres were based, how 

many there were and how do the public know where they are. He also asked 
what had happened regarding the idea of GPs being available 24 hours per 
day. 
 
KJ informed the Committee that every NEL A & E department would have an 
Urgent Care Centre at the front.  Doctors would be trained to prioritise care.  
She agreed that GPs should be available 24 hrs per day and the objective of 
this exercise was to enable H4NEL to invest in suitable services. 
 
HB advised the Committee that there was a complex relationship between 
Urgent Care Centres (UCC) and A & E, and both services will be available 24 
hrs per day.  A UCC would be available at King George. PCTs were 
developing 12-hour services at Polyclinics. 
 

4.7.2 Councillor Osborne then asked when the UCC would be up and running and 
when would the Polyclinics be available. 

 
 HB responded that there were plans for 32 polyclinics in NEL and these would 

be opened over the next 4 to 5 years. In the meantime every PCT had at least 
one GP led Health Centre which provided 12 hour care. 

 
4.7.3 Councillor Eden asked who would be providing care at home, and if the 

changes were to be funded by the PCTs where was the money coming from? 
 
 KJ gave examples of the types of treatment it was envisaged would be 

provided at home. LAS estimated that probably 40% of patients do not need 
to travel to hospital to receive treatment. In Barking and Dagenham a 24-hour 
District Nursing Service was available.  She reiterated that the idea behind the 
proposals was to free up funds for community based services. 

 
 KJ advised the Committee that it cost the LAS £600,000 to provide an 

ambulance for a year of the year on a 24 hour basis. 
 
4.7.4. Councillor Sweden asked about the hyper acute services for stroke victims. 

He accepted the need to concentrate specialisms but were the LAS confident 
that ambulance crews would be able to recognise a complicated vascular 
emergency? 

 
 KJ accepted that it would be difficult for crews to recognise these. However, 

the most vulnerable sections of the community were now being screened. It 
was proposed to carry out a trial somewhere in London. Complicated 
paediatric problems were easier to identify. 

 
 HB informed the Committee that vascular procedures would be provided at 

two specialist centres rather then four at present. 

Page 11



6M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

 
4.7.5 Councillor Ralph Scott questioned the issue of funding for the London 

Ambulance Service, as he felt this should be resolved at the time of the 
annual commissioning process.  He also asked if there would be any knock 
on effect for local authorities, especially in the return of patients after 
treatment. 

 
 KJ responded that the LAS receives annual funding from all 31 London PCTs. 

What was being asked here was additional funding to cover the cost of the 
extra impact of any local changes.  There were a large number of patients 
whose needs were social not medical.  She felt the proposed changes should 
not have any impact. 

 
4.7.6 Councillor Sweden felt there had been some uncertainty around what funding 

local authority social services departments would receive following the OSC 
meeting at Redbridge. Very little assurance had been forthcoming. 

 
 He also felt the new arrangements would put too much pressure on 

ambulance crews who would need to make more diagnoses. 
 
 KJ responded that patient survival rates were in fact higher under this system. 
 
4.7.7 Councillor Pond asked whether the information given on increased activity 

included patients delivered by the East of England Ambulance Service to 
Whipps Cross, King George and Queens. He also asked how the London 
Ambulance Service liaised with the East of England Ambulance Service. 

 
 KM informed the Committee that there already existed a working relationship 

with the East of England Ambulance Service. 
 
 HB advised that there had been lots of modelling carried out which included 

the effect on Essex patients.  There had not been any specific discussion with 
the East of England Ambulance Service but the modelling did include times 
for East of England patients. She undertook to speak to the East of England 
Ambulance Service on these issues and agreed to provide Councillor Pond 
with a copy of the Business case.  

 
4.7.8 Malcolm Wilders (co-opted member) referred to problem of A&E on divert. 
 
 KJ advised the Committee that there had been difficulties especially this 

winter but it was anticipated that the changes would reduce pressure. 
 
4.7.9 Councillor Denyer expressed his support for the London Ambulance Service 

and asked how many of the passengers LAS transport have their own 
transport. He also asked what the policy was with regard to charging those 
who have self inflicted injuries which are drink related. 

 
 KJ informed the Committee that there appeared to be a minority of car owners 

who believe it is their right to call 999. Alcohol accounted for approximately 

Page 12



7M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

8% of the ambulance service work.  It was difficult for ambulance crews to 
assess whether those who are drunk are in serious need and a safety first 
policy was adopted. In London there is a bus which operates on Friday and 
Saturday nights to pick up drunks and over Christmas a tent was provided at 
Liverpool Street to assist those who had drunk too much. With regard to 
charging this was a policy issue for the government. 

 
4.7.10 Common Councilman Mead was concerned that all the figures centred on 

King George and asked what the effect on Royal London would be. Her 
perception was that the facilities for ambulances at Royal London were very 
poor and she was concerned that the Ambulance Service/hospital would not 
be able to cope adequately with the increased numbers. 

 
 KJ advised the Committee that Royal London was not a hospital where the 

ambulance service had problems. With regard to the increase in numbers this 
would largely relate to major trauma and would be 1600 to 1800 cases per 
year. The issue of step down was not the responsibility of the LAS. It was 
expected that there would be some transfers from Urgent Care Centres to 
specialist centres. 

 
 In response to a question on how hospitals would cope with major incidents 

without King George, KJ advised the Committee that a number of hospitals 
would be put on alert with walking wounded being dealt with at the Urgent 
Care Centres.  

 
4.7.11 Malcolm Wilders informed the Committee that Hackney LINks had concerns 

that category B response times were not being met. 
 
 KJ admitted that the LAS was underperforming on one of its targets; the 

utilisation rates were too high. The issue of the ambulance service’s ability to 
meet targets would be discussed in the next funding round. 

 
4.7.12 Councillor McShane asked whether ambulances could use bus lanes. 
 
 KJ advised the Committee that ambulance drivers were required to follow 

traffic regulations unless there were on an emergency call (under blue light) 
when it was acceptable to use the bus lanes.  

 
4.7.13 Lin Lahm from Hackney LINk asked how the hospitals would cope in a major 

incident. 
 
 KJ answered that in even the worst incident the major care units were unlikely 

to be swamped. All the evidence suggested not more than 4 major trauma 
units were needed in London. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



8M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

5 EVIDENCE SESSION 2 – ROYAL COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES (RCM) 
 
5.1 Pat Gould (PG), Team Manager,  and Shaun O’Sullivan (SS), Policy Analyst, 

gave evidence on behalf of the Royal College of Midwives. PG set the policy 
context for the RCM’s response to the consultation. 

 
5.2 Maternity services in north east London faced a particular challenge from the 

rising birth rate – which had increased in London by 23% since 2001 – the 
increasing complexity of maternity care and a continuing shortage of 
midwives. They therefore welcomed the vision set out in the consultation as it 
recognised that maternity services will have to both support most women to 
have as normal a pregnancy and birth as possible whilst ensuring women with 
medical problems have seamless access to high quality medical care.  

 
5.3 Obstetric Services 
 
5.3.1 The RCM welcomed the recommendation to retain obstetric services at the 

Royal London, Homerton, Newham General, Queens and Whipps Cross 
Hospitals. Maternity services in all the North East London’s Trusts except 
Whipps Cross were however rated as weak by the Healthcare Commission 
and staff levels were below the average for England, with the exception of the 
Royal London. The RCM were therefore urging the Trusts concerned to take 
action, as a matter of urgency, to improve the quality of care for women and 
their families. 

 
5.3.2 The RCM’s preference would be for the retention of an obstetric unit at King 

George, provided that the right level of support services, such as 24 hour 
anaesthetic cover was in place. However, having considered all the 
arguments they had concluded, reluctantly, that obstetric services may need 
to be consolidated on five sites, with King George the most logical candidate 
for closure. 

 
5.3.3 Therefore while not opposed to the closure of the obstetrics unit at King 

George they were extremely concerned about the impact of transferring the 
majority of activity to Queen’s Hospital. Queen’s is already the biggest 
maternity unit in north east London and the consultation projected that it 
would deliver almost 10,000 births a year with the transfer of activity from King 
George.  The RCM was against the creation of such a large unit because, in 
their view, a unit with 10,000 births a year would struggle to support normalcy 
in pregnancy for the majority of women who are at low risk. They also 
believed that large, high tech units find it harder to recruit and retain midwives. 

 
5.4 Midwife led care 
 
5.4.1 The RCM welcome the proposal to include antenatal and post natal services 

as part of the polyclinic that would be established at King George.  They 
would have gone further and recommended the inclusion of a birthing unit 
also as part of the polyclinic. 

 

Page 14



9M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

5.4.2 The  RCM questioned however whether King George, in the south of the 
London Borough of Redbridge, was the right place to site a birth centre given 
the close proximity to the standalone midwifery unit that is due to open at 
Barking Hospital. They accepted that there was an argument for establishing 
the unit at Barking Hospital first but strongly recommended examining the 
case for a second birth centre to be located in the northern part of Redbridge. 

 
5.5 Questions and Discussion with the Committee 
 
5.5.1 Councillor Scott felt that the real reason for getting rid of obstetrics from King 

George was resource driven. There were obvious problems with recruiting 
sufficient midwives. He was also disheartened with the basis of the RCM’s 
argument. 

 
PG admitted that any reduction in choice was lamentable and she understood 
his support for King George. The RCM had approached their response on a 
geographical basis. She accepted that any change cannot be cost neutral; 
there would have to be investment to improve services.  

 
5.5.2 Councillor Scott said he was encouraged by the idea of continuing antenatal 

and post natal services at the polyclinic at King George but would like to see a 
birthing unit also present to maintain continuity of care.  

 
PG said the RCM would recommend a birthing unit at the Redbridge 
Polyclinic if it met the criteria. 
 
SS stated that if A&E was being retained at King George the RCM would 
oppose closure of the maternity unit. 
 

5.5.3. Malcolm Wilders expressed concern at the already high incidence of 
caesarean births in North East London. He was concerned that this would 
increase with the large increase in births at Queens. 

 
PG felt that the proposals would promote normality and therefore see a 
reduction in the number of C-sections. 
 

5.5.4. Councillor Eden had four questions: 
• The Committee had been lead to believe that Queens would specialise 

in complex births, was this still the case? 
• Were there sufficient midwives available for recruitment? 
• Why are there more home births in Europe than the UK? And 
• What is the vacancy rate for midwives at Queens? 

 
PG responded that: 

• Queens was already specialising in complex births and would continue 
to do so.   

• There was a national shortage of midwives and there were specific 
issues in London. BHRUT had been very innovative in attempting to 

Page 15



10M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

recruit, devising such programmes as the apprenticeship scheme. NHS 
London was also looking at issues around recruitment. 

• The Annual Report for London showed there were just 1.8% of births at 
home, compared to 3% nationally.  None of the PCT’s in north east 
London met the national average. In mainland Europe, hospitals 
tended to be smaller and therefore home births numbers were higher. 

• The vacancy rate across London was 13%, in north east London, other 
than at Whipps Cross, it was 19%.   

 
5.5.5 Councillor Sweden questioned why there was no mention of Waltham Forest 

as the closure of King George’s would also affect Whipps Cross, which is a 
very good hospital. SS accepted that Whipps Cross was doing well relative to 
other PCTs in the region. It is rated as fair. He was unsure how they would 
deal with the expected increase. The vacancy rate at Whipps Cross was 12% 
compared to 13% across London and 19% in the region. A formal response 
would be provided dealing with the effect on Whipps Cross and copied to the 
JOSC. 
 

5.5.6 Councillor West asked about the level of home births - 1.8% across London 
and the effect increasing this would have on the number of midwives required. 

 
PG responded that if it is a policy to increase the number of home births, 
sufficient resources would need to be invested to meet the extra demand on 
midwives’ time. 

  
5.5.7 Councillor Osborne questioned whether Queens could physically cope with 

10,000 births per annum. 
 

PG said the RCM do have concerns about the number. They felt low risk 
births should take place elsewhere. 10,000 was not ideal and they would 
prefer to see the unit supported by a mid wife led unit any a second doctor led 
unit capable of dealing with 1,500 births a year, to ensure the midwife led unit 
was not used as an overflow unit for labour ward activities in the obstetrics 
unit. 
 

5.5.8 Councillor Osborne asked a further question as to how Queens would cope 
now as the other facilities are not yet available. SS answered that it was 
anticipated that the figure of 10,000 would be reached by 2017, by which time 
the proposed birthing unit at Barking should be available.  
 

5.5.9 Councillor McShane asked how it was envisaged the 10,000 births would be 
divided how do the RCM intended attracting sufficient midwives and what 
would be the optimal level of births. Other issues raised included whether an 
anaesthetist needed to be in attendance to deliver an epidural and if a doctor 
needed to be present for a suction birth. 

 
 

Page 16



11M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

5.5.10 Councillor Vaughan asked about the shortage of midwives in Newham, and 
what was the reason for this, was it due to inadequate accommodation and 
could midwives be considered for key worker housing? 

 
PG responded to these points as follows: 

• The 10,000 births would be divided by categorisation, with some being 
low risk at the beginning. They would expect 65% to 70% of births to 
be low risk, with the relatively small number of high risk births being 
dealt with at Queens. Other births will be dealt with elsewhere. 

• An anaesthetist would need to administer an epidural. Therefore those 
who chose a home birth or birth centre would be advised that an 
epidural will not be available. 

• There was always a risk with a hospital transfer late in labour. There 
would however be selection criteria applied to ensure births take place 
at the right place, and there is an on-going risk assessment process 
with all patients. 

• Suction of Von Tuse extraction was usually done by a doctor. 
• The information on still births was not available at the meeting.  
• Many mothers would still be able to give birth in Redbridge, but across 

the region it was anticipated there would be approximately 300 home 
births. 

• Accommodation was likely to be a key factor in the difficulty in 
attracting midwives to the region. 

 
 
6. HEALTH FOR NORTH EAST LONDON – VASCULAR SURGERY 
 
6.1 Dr Mike Gill (MG), Clinical Director of Health for North East London and Mr 

Gabriel Sayer (GS), Vascular Consultant, Barking, Havering and Redbridge 
University Hospitals Trust (BHRUT) delivered a presentation on the proposed 
changes to the delivery of complex vascular surgery in North East London.  

 
6.2 The presentation described the proposed model and explained how this was 

currently working in Newham and Homerton.  The aim was to improve safety, 
efficiency and quality of services across North East London.  

 
6.3 The clinical view was that to be good and efficient at vascular surgery 

(operations on arteries and veins) surgical units needed to perform about 500 
complex operations a year. Currently there were 1,000 complex operations in 
North East London. 

 
6.4 The proposal was to concentrate complex vascular surgery onto two sites – 

The Royal London and Queens. Currently Newham and Homerton referred all 
complex vascular surgery to Royal London. This was not the case with 
Whipps Cross and King George. 

 
6.5 According to Mr Sayer recent European data demonstrated that the UK had 

an unacceptably high mortality rate for aortic surgery. Also, UK patients are 
less likely to receive new technology based treatment, had prolonged lengths 

Page 17



12M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

of stay and many surgeons did not reach the minimum numbers of cases 
necessary to maintain competence. 

 
6.6 The evidence was that high volume arterial centres had better outcomes. New 

technologies e.g. endovascular surgery had better results and the length of 
stay was related to the volume of procedures. Patients currently died for want 
of high quality vascular centres. 

 
6.7 Questions and Discussion with the Committee 
 
6.7.1 Councillor Denyer informed the meeting that the case presented was strong.  

He had however concern at travel times, availability of ambulances and the 
level of equipment carried by ambulances. 

 
GS stated that travel times were not a significant outcome. The biggest 
predictor of outcomes was who operated on the patient.  
 
MG asked that the JOSC get the message across that the time of travel was 
not crucial, the key was who treated a patient you. 
 

6.7.2 Councillor Pond asked that the statistics be resubmitted including details of 
Essex patients.  He was assured that this would be done. 

 
6.7.3 Councillor Osborne asked what was meant by world standard. GS responded 

that the UK was “the poor man of Europe”. There were six hospitals in London 
providing complex vascular surgery. World class meant that all operations 
would be carried out by the very best  
 

6.7.4 Councillor Sweden felt that the case for critical mass and expertise was well 
made. His concerns were who would make the diagnosis and determine 
where the patient should go to the specialist centres; were paramedics 
suitably trained? Secondly how were co-morbidities dealt with? 

 
MG responded that it was fairly likely that these patients would attend A & E 
and the diagnosis would be carried out there.  The Royal London and Queens 
were already taking more patients with co-morbidities and there was no 
problem with immediate transfer. 
 

6.7.5 Councillor McShane asked Dr Gill how the JOSC could get the message 
across. GS said that some areas are more contentious than others, but the 
initiatives would save lives and improve care. 
 
HB advised the meeting that there were some areas of the consultation they 
would wish to push ahead with as quickly as possible and those included the 
proposals for vascular surgery. 
 

6.7.6 Common Councilman Mead referred to the screening process for middle aged 
men. GS advised the Committee that North East London had missed the first 

Page 18



13M 
 

Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 21 January 2010 
 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\0\6\AI00023606\INELJOSCMinsLBBarkingDag21Jan201
00.doc 

phase of funding but were applying for funding now. They did not however 
wish to commence screening before services were centralised.  
 

6.7.7 Councillor Ralph Scott asked whether the officers were confident that as 
specialist teams were built up, sufficient staff would be able to be recruited. 
MG advised the Committee that certain models of care such as that being 
proposed did serve to attract staff. 
 

6.7.8 Malcolm Wilders was concerned that rehab services would become more 
marginalised, and also asked if less acute patients would suffer. 

 
MG assured the Committee that the Team at Queens felt responsible for 
rehab and other hospitals would have access to the expertise available at the 
specialist hospital. In his experience, patients in Newham received a better 
service since the centralisation of specialist services. 
 
GS advised the Committee that most of the patients come with a Model of 
Care document to ensure they receive the best possible treatment. 
 

6.7.9 Councillor Kemp asked why it had taken so long to reach this stage. MG 
responded that it was an indictment on local health services that things hadn’t 
moved sooner. The evidence in the last ten years has encouraged this type of 
development. 
 

6.7.10 Councillor Sweden asked for further information of the provisions for 
diagnosis and the number of specialist vascular nurses in the community. GS 
explained that most A&E departments had the facility to carry out ultra sound 
scans. Screening needed to be undertaken carefully. 
 

7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
7.1 Councillor Eden referred to the visit many of the Havering Committee had 

made to the London Ambulance Service nerve centre.  Perhaps a visit to 
meet ambulance crews could be organised. 

 
7.2 The next meeting of the ONEL JOSC would be held on Tuesday, 2 February 

2010 at Havering Town Hall. 
 
7.3 The next meeting of the Joint meeting would be on Thursday, 11 February at 

Newham Town Hall.  

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
Inner North East London Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Health 
 
11th February 2010 
 
Item 4 – Written Submissions 
 

 
Item No 

 

4 
 
Outline 
 
The attached are written submissions to the committee from  

• Royal College of Paediatric and Child Health – Comments and 
Information Reports  

• Health for North East London - Consultation Events Timetable 
 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked:  
 

• To note for information 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Royal College of Paediatric and Child Health 
 
Some comments on the document “Delivering High Quality Hospital Health 
Services for the people of North East London”. 
 
RCPCH believes that local clinicians, managers, and commissioners are best 
placed to make recommendations about local services.  We do, however, 
recognise how important it is that any reconfiguration of services should be to 
the benefit of children and we have produced generic guidance on this issue 
and your committee members may be interested to see the following 
documents: 
 

a. Modelling the Future 
b. The Role of the Paediatrician in Maintaining Faith and Sustainable 

Acute Services 
c. Working Time Solutions  
d. Reconfiguration Standards for Paediatric Services. 

 
I shall restrict my comments to the implications for Children’s Services. 
 
The Child Health Strategy had a wide ranging remit with respect to children’s 
services, both in the hospital and in the community, throughout the different 
stages of childhood.  The majority of the strategy deals with the issue of 
promoting health and wellbeing and it is difficult to determine how many of 
these proposals will be addressed from the information provided in the 
document.  There is a section in strategy on acute health services and I 
cannot find anything in your document which is at odds with the philosophy of 
the child health strategy in terms of urgent and emergency care. 
 
From the documents that I have seen in relation to the NHS London Wide 
Vision for Children if your strategy for developing children’s assessment and 
treatment units where children are treated by staff specifically trained in 
dealing with their particular illness it would appear to be in line with this 
strategy.  It is recognised that there are currently considerable difficulties in 
providing general paediatric surgical services for children on the current 
number of inpatient sites in the UK.  There are a number of reasons for this.  
Some units have to smaller case load and other units do not have surgeons 
and anaesthetists with appropriate skills available 24 hours per day.  I would, 
therefore, fully support the proposals to reduce the number on inpatient sites 
where surgical procedures are performed but it is important to recognise the 
need for appropriate local protocols and transport arrangements for sites 
where children may be initially assessed.  It is not always clear which children 
have surgical problems (only around 25% of children who have a surgical 
opinion will require an operation) and it is extremely important that there are 
network arrangements so that paediatricians are clear where to obtain both 
advice and a surgical opinion. 
 
With regard to Workforce implications, it is clear from work that we have 
undertaken at RCPCH that there are currently insufficient consultant 
paediatricians to provide Working Time Directive (WTD) Compliant Rotas 

Page 23



across all sites in the United Kingdom that currently have in patient units.  The 
problem has been compounded by the fact that the hours reduction under 
WTD 2009 has meant that many middle grade rotas are now supported by 
consultant paediatricians.  The modelling would suggest that there are around 
400 too few paediatricians for consultant rotas and there are around 200 
Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) gaps on middle grade rotas.  The RCPCH, 
therefore, would support the reduction in the number of inpatient units but we 
recognise that when the paediatric services are no longer provide an onsite 
that there are implications for other parts of the remaining service (for 
example maternity care or emergency departments).  When service 
reconfiguration is proposed it is extremely important that these services are 
considered.  We would support your proposals that there should be a 
paediatric assessment unit in hospitals that do not have inpatient services as 
it is quite clear that the majority of children who present to the hospital 
department can be treated quite appropriately either in an urgent care setting 
or an assessment unit.  There would however have to be clear protocols 
drawn up with all relevant agencies to ensure that children with specific 
presenting features were transferred directly to the nearest inpatient service. 
 
Without a detailed knowledge of your current services for acute children’s 
health it is difficult to comment whether your proposals will improve their care 
but provided services are reconfigured appropriately the RCPCH has no 
evidence to suggest children’s outcomes would deteriorate.  I would refer you 
again to the College proposals for reconfiguration (listed above) which provide 
advice on developing safe and sustainable services.  From the Modelling of 
work that we have undertaken and assuming that where there is to be closure 
of an inpatient facility but paediatric presence remains the reduction in the 
total requirement for the consultant workforce is relatively small.  There may, 
however be the scope for reducing the number of tiers of doctors.  Both of 
these factors could contribute to a cost saving which in the current economic 
climate is an important consideration when looking at totality of child health 
services. 
 
With regard to your final comment on Child Protection and Social Care 
Wellbeing for Children under these proposals there are inadequate details 
within the document to make a specific comment.  Safeguarding 
arrangements are extremely important in any child health services and it is 
very important that local protocols are designed and agreed between all 
relevant agencies when considering your future service configuration. 
 

 
 
Dr David Shortland  
Vice President (Health Services)  
RCPCH 
 

Page 24



Healthy lives, brighter futures 
The strategy for children and young people's health – a summary 

Healthy Lives, Brighter Futures, the new strategy from the DH and DCSF, for 

children and young people’s health, aspires to make the UK the best place in the 

world for children to live. It builds on the National Service Framework, Every Child 

Matters, High Quality Care for All, and The Children's Plan.

The strategy recognizes the importance of good health in the achievement of all other 

outcomes, including educational attainment, personal well-being, and economic 

success.

The report focuses on three age groups: pregnancy and up to five; school age; and 

young people. It then outlines new proposals for universal, targeted, and specialist 

services for each age group. 

Public Health

The strategy discusses the changing epidemiology of morbidity, with the increase in 

lifestyle-related health concerns such as obesity and sexual health problems, and the 

consequences of alcohol consumption, smoking, and substance misuse. The 

importance of minimising the impact of poverty and social inequalities on child health 

are also acknowledged. 

To address these public health concerns, the strategy proposes: 

! Better engagement with children and families 

! The provision of health information and advice for families 

! A focus on creating healthy environments 

! Extra support for the most disadvantaged in society.  

The intention is to make services locally available through extending the roles of both 

Children’s Centres and schools, to provide health, education, and social care services. 

The health service challenges 

The report also highlights concerns about:

! The variation in quality of children's health services, including acute services, 

and access to specialist services 

! The fragmentation of services, particularly for children with complex 

conditions

! The workforce issues resulting from the Working Time Directive (WTD) 

! The lack of robust quality improvement systems 

! Insufficient commissioning capacity. 

Working Time Directive

There is a commitment to work closely with professional organisations to resolve the 

medical workforce problems resulting from the WTD, in order to create safe and 

sustainable services. There is recognition that services should be accessible locally, 

but that there is also a need co-locate tertiary centres to ensure high quality specialist 

care.

Page 25



Whole systems approach

The strategy recognizes the need for whole system level transformation to support 

local delivery, including whole system alignment, with quality as the organising 

principle, and with clinical leadership to support the redesign of services. Managed 

networks are endorsed to create alignment between agencies and services, with 

competent multidisciplinary teams providing personalised services, but working 

together in managed networks which drive continuous improvement.  The strategy 

also highlights the importance of performance information to drive quality 

improvement. 

Increase in resources

£340 million is to be made available to develop better services for children with 

complex health care needs, including the provision of community equipment, 

wheelchairs, palliative care, and end of life care.  This amount matches the previous 

investment by DCSF to provide more short breaks for disabled children and their 

families. 

Primary Care

For primary care, specific mention is made to: 

! Engaging general practitioners in the work of children's trusts 

! Improving first contact practitioner skills in recognizing the sick child 

! Increasing the focus on children's services within the Quality and Outcomes 

Framework, and practice accreditation 

! New systems to identify families most at risk. 

Transforming services

The need to spread ‘leading edge practice’ will be supported through a national 

Transforming Services Programme which will include pilot studies for new ways of 

working, and will focus on: 

! Urgent and emergency care 

! Services for children with complex health care needs 

! The Healthy Child Programme 

! Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services provided in the community. 

RCPCH

The focus of this report is very much on creating health and well-being, with a lesser 

emphasis on the development of health services. However, the strategy complements 

the thinking and proposals in the RCPCH Modelling the Future work 

(http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/Policy/ServiceReconfiguration/Modelling-the-Future).

For more information on the Government’s Child Health Strategy go to 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAn

dGuidance/DH_094400

Page 26



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 1 

 
 

Modelling the Future III 
 

Safe and sustainable integrated health 
services for infants, children and young 

people 
 

December 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 
www.rcpch.ac.uk 
 
 

Page 27



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 2 

Executive summary 
Safe and sustainable integrated health services for infants, children and 
young people is the final part of a series of publications by the RCPCH which 
examine the future of children's health services in the UK. The aim of this 
paper is to describe a practical implementation strategy for the reconfiguration 
and improvement of children's health services, making recommendations at 
national, regional and local levels. 
 
The first paper, A consultation paper on the future of children's health services 
(2007), outlined a model for high quality services for children, proposing a 
range of service options and how these might be implemented locally. 
Consultation with paediatricians across the UK indicated broad support for the 
principles behind the design of future services and the models proposed. The 
second paper, Reconfiguration and workforce estimates (2008), described the 
current workforce, the present configuration of services and examined all the 
options to create safe and effective services with a sustainable medical 
workforce. The conclusion was that the number of inpatient units needed to 
decrease, the number of career grade paediatricians needed to increase, 
coupled with less reliance on trainees for service delivery in the longer-term. 
 
Why is change needed? 
 
Children's health services are not currently meeting the needs of children and 
their families in the best possible way. Three prime drivers for change are: 
•  Changing epidemiology of conditions in childhood. The new 

morbidity arising from changes in society and lifestyles requires a new 
health service delivery model. Unlike the management of infectious 
diseases or trauma, which can be delivered in hospital settings, the 
emerging morbidities and complex long-term conditions require the 
collective competence of a community-based, multidisciplinary, children's 
team. 

 
•  Fragmentation of services and systems. Children’s health care 
crosses many organisational and professional boundaries, particularly for 
vulnerable children, and all those with long term conditions or complex health 
needs. Recent policy developments based on market principles and targets 
have at times discouraged joint working, to the detriment of the care of 
children. 
•  Workforce imbalance. To ensure WTD compliance more doctors are 
required to fill middle grade rotas. However, if there are too many doctors in 
training this creates an imbalance with the numbers of available consultant 
posts. This problem needs to be considered in relation to the changing roles 
of other professional groups who contribute to the workforce, the changing 
epidemiology of conditions and the future configuration of services. 

Page 28



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 3 

 
Solutions 
 
Three components need to be combined to achieve meaningful change: 
 
1.  Systems alignment 

Good outcomes children are dependent on all the parts of their service 
being in place and working well together. It is proposed that future 
services should be designed around patient journeys, grouped together 
into pathways that children and families take and delivered by teams. 
These teams work in networks that all share the same purpose, values 
and practice to create a seamless service. These principle holds true 
across all public-sector organisations and any private or third 
sector/social enterprise organisations that may contribute components 
of the pathways in the future.   
 
To guarantee such an integrated service, commissioners within 
health, education and social care will increasingly be expected to pool 
budgets and work together within joint commissioning arrangements. 
Providers of services should work collaboratively in a network to 
ensure all the component parts of the pathways are integrated. 
Regulators should likewise work together with their respective 
improvement agencies to examine a network, pathway or programme 
of care, rather than simply inspect organisations or professional 
groups, and then facilitate improvements at a local level. 

 
2.  Medical workforce planning 

The short-term options for creating a sustainable medical workforce are 
limited and challenging.  Modelling the Future II (2008) concluded that 
the most viable option is consultant expansion, accompanied by the 
redesign of services in order to reduce the dependence on trainees for 
acute service provision. This will result in acute care increasingly being 
a consultant delivered service, particularly in smaller services which 
are close to larger inpatient units.   
 
It is recognised that consultant roles and responsibilities are likely to 
evolve throughout an individual’s career. Therefore opportunities for 
further training should be promoted. Also, the non-clinical component 
of consultants’ job plans must be supported, with appropriate training 
programmes to develop their leadership, education, management and 
improvement roles. 
 
To ensure that the future medical workforce is competent and 
sustainable, the roles of other child health practitioners should be 
reviewed in the light of current workforce challenges.  Commissioning 
for workforce development must be integrated with commissioning for 
services to ensure the right numbers of people, with the right 
competencies, are available for the new models of working in the 
future. 

 

Page 29



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 4 

3.  Quality improvement 
Improving outcomes and experience of services is of the highest 
priority. Quality accounts should demonstrate where children’s health 
services are working well and where they need improvement. Different 
measures will be needed at NHS Trust Board, PCT and SHA levels, 
and the individual reports will need to complement one another to 
demonstrate how all the components of pathways are working across 
the whole network. The concept of quality accounts is equally 
appropriate for Children’s Trusts and local authority children’s services. 
Improved assurance or governance arrangements should drive 
continuous quality improvement, which must become integral to the 
day-to-day delivery of services. Clinical leadership and engagement 
are crucial here; paediatricians will need to support, where appropriate, 
large scale reconfiguration of clinical services and be committed to 
small-scale improvements in every day clinical practice within their 
teams. 

 
What needs to happen within networks? 
 
The application of the proposed solutions will produce different service 
structures across the UK, 
depending on the size and geographical location, local demographics and 
workforce availability 
within the service. Networks will span different sized units; it is essential that 
they work 
cooperatively to deliver better outcomes. Overall success will depend on 
reducing the number of 
inpatient units, whilst improving local urgent and emergency care systems. 
This must go with the 
development of community children's teams integrating professionals from 
different professional 
groups and organisations. 
•  In smaller and more remote units paediatricians will need a broad 

range of skills to cover the spectrum of acute and long-term care, with 
more specialist care for children being provided by visiting specialists, 
or through children travelling to the specialist. Maternity care will need 
to be supported by a neonatal service that can safely resuscitate, 
stabilise and manage common problems with support from within the 
network with the sickest babies transferred to a suitable unit within the 
network.  

 
•  Services in smaller units close to larger ones which are able to expand 

their acute capacity should be remodelled: the aim being high-quality 
urgent care provision in the smaller unit based around the emergency 
department, supported by a short stay paediatric assessment unit 
(without inpatient beds), with inpatient expansion in the companion 
larger unit, and better transport systems. A co-located midwifery-led 
unit on the smaller site will need to have robust systems to manage the 
unexpectedly unwell infant. 

Page 30



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 5 

• Medium-sized units will continue to manage the majority of acute and 
long-term conditions occurring within the population they cover. 
However, there will be greater differentiation of consultant roles: while 
some may retain more generic roles, others may develop more 
specialist roles in community settings. These units will have inpatient 
beds with HDU capacity, a neonatal unit and integrated community 
children's teams. 

 
•  Larger centres will be the nucleus for specialist provision. Like medium-

sized units they will have the capacity to provide the majority of care for 
their local populations. The acute service will need to be less 
dependent on specialists for their day-to-day running than in the 
current system. Due to their size the majority will have an independent 
children's emergency department, a level 3 neonatal intensive care 
unit, and a PICU. However, not all will have the capacity for complex 
paediatric surgery; this will need to be co-located in fewer specialist 
centres. 

 
Public health networks 
 
Robust public health programmes are essential to improve the health of 
communities, the immediate priorities are reducing poverty and inequalities in 
health outcomes, reversing the trend toward obesity, improving child mental 
health and well-being, reducing injuries and reducing global climate change. 
Although universally acknowledged as important, such programmes are often 
extremely difficult to implement and evaluate locally. 
 
Every opportunity needs to be taken to implement cost-effective public health 
strategies. The public health capacity within local authority and health 
services has to be increased, then public and private sectors engaged in 
delivering healthcare need to use resources wisely and prevent harmful 
environmental or social impacts from the provision of services. 
 
High priority should be given to protecting the health of the most vulnerable in 
society, especially in times of economic recession or limited resources, 
through the redistribution of wealth and specific programmes targeted the 
most needy, for example the Family Nurse Partnership Programme, or 
programmes to reduce inequalities in infant mortality. 
 
The Government's declared policy is to make the UK the world’s best place 
for children to grow up in and the consequent benefit, from a health service 
perspective, is that healthy children should use fewer NHS resources 
throughout their adult lives. 
 
Maternity and newborn networks 
 
A healthy start to life is essential. This depends on accessible family planning, 
good maternal health, a stable parental relationship and excellent antenatal 
care, especially for women at risk of poor outcomes. 

Page 31



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 6 

The recent Neonatal Taskforce Review encourages the creation of clinical 
and commissioning networks for maternity and newborn services. Each SHA 
will need to review the distribution and capacity of the three tiers of neonatal 
care within their region. Paediatric services must aim to avoid the high-risk 
neonate being delivered in a low-risk unit. 
 
The importance of ensuring that maternity networks map onto neonatal 
networks cannot be overstated. In future, it is unlikely that a 24/7 acute 
paediatric service will exist on all current or proposed sites for maternity units; 
alternative ways of providing neonatal resuscitation and immediate neonatal 
care have to be developed for hospitals without a 24/7 on-site paediatric 
service. The roles and career pathways of neonatal staff, particularly neonatal 
nurse practitioners, need to be developed, with clear plans for recruitment, 
training and retention of all staff in each SHA. A networked approach should 
enable the same quality of care to be delivered in all units, so that survivors of 
level 3 intensive care can be returned to local units as soon as possible. 
Networks should enable shared training, standards and measures, and also 
permit staff to move around within the network to maintain their skills. 
 
Urgent and emergency care networks 
 
Urgent and emergency care is the backbone of a traditional paediatric service. 
It is essential that staff with appropriate skills are available 24/7 in every 
community to manage acute conditions – whether medical, surgical, or 
psychiatric. Out-of-hours urgent care services, emergency departments and 
acute assessment services, paediatric intensive care units and acute surgical 
specialties, should all be commissioned as an integrated network. 
 
Local urgent care and emergency care for children should, wherever possible, 
be co-located so that children can be triaged to the most appropriate service 
on arrival at hospital. The provision of short-stay paediatric assessment units 
allows observation of children whose appropriate clinical management is 
uncertain, without having to resort to hospital admission. Such units, 
accompanied by access to senior medical opinions early in the child’s care 
journey, should enable substantially fewer hospital inpatient admissions. Such 
reductions could enable the reconfiguration of small and medium units near 
one another, avoiding the need for two acute middle grade rotas so 
contributing to the creation of a sustainable medical workforce. 
 
Child mental health and psychological wellbeing network 
 
Child mental health services involve more than just child and adolescent 
mental health services. The contributions of primary care, community child 
health, behaviour support services provided by education, and of youth 
offending teams should be integrated into a comprehensive child mental 
health service. A major part of the service should be delivered locally but 
there should be access to specialist, forensic, or residential services as 
required. 
 

Page 32



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 7 

For common conditions such as conduct disorders, self harm, ADHD, autistic 
spectrum disorders, anxiety and depression, there should be clear local 
pathways agreed between local providers. Pathway approaches for these 
teams could help clarify who is responsible for which components of a 
pathway.  Subsequently local workforce planning should create a children’s 
mental health workforce that can deliver the service specification and 
outcomes agreed between commissioners and providers. 
 
Provision of inpatient mental health services is often inadequate; the 
relationship between secure educational provision, social care provision and 
provision within the criminal justice system is often unclear. This issue needs 
to be addressed so that emotionally immature young people with learning 
difficulties do not find themselves unnecessarily within the criminal justice 
system. 
 
Long-term condition networks 
 
The model of service delivery for long-term conditions should be largely 
community based, meaning delivery at home, in schools, or in other local 
settings, with hospital-based reviews or interventions only when necessary. 
There is an emerging model of multidisciplinary teams for children with 
complex continuing health care needs and those requiring palliative care. The 
model’s advantage is that it creates a ‘team around the family’ which 
considers the consequences of a condition for the family, as well as its impact 
on the child. 
 
The lead professional will often be a children’s nurse, who ensures completion 
of a comprehensive assessment of family needs and a clear care plan with 
access to a range of services. This model of the integrated team working with 
a lead professional across traditional boundaries is not only more cost 
efficient than current approaches, but also provides a better patient 
experience by reducing the number of unnecessary interagency assessments 
and appointments. 
 
There is a shortage of suitably qualified community children’s nurses; but 
there is a potential opportunity to reinvest skilled nursing time into community-
based nursing teams if inpatient admissions can be reduced. Access to 
training is often the limiting factor in creating community based children's 
teams, so there needs to be an explicit link between the planning of services 
for the future and the commissioning of training programmes to enable 
delivery of future models. 
 
Vulnerable children’s network 
 
Vulnerable children are, by definition, at high risk of a wide range of health 
problems, and subsequently have poorer outcomes than other groups in 
society. Many vulnerable children go unrecognised, with only those in contact 
with safeguarding services, looked after children services, and those involved 
in the criminal justice system accessing a dedicated service. 
 

Page 33



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 8 

Whether or not to investigate following initial concerns of child abuse or 
mistreatment, to intervene following an initial assessment, and to remove a 
child from his or her biological family are some of the most difficult decisions 
within children’s services. The process of decision making requires full 
participation of all professional groups and organisations involved, and 
exemplifies the need for working with families and accountability between 
agencies. 
 
The vulnerable children's network needs to integrate the services for 
recognised vulnerable groups, services for children and young people in need 
of safeguarding, looked after children services and those excluded from 
school or in contact with the criminal justice system. 
 
The development of a local child protection network within the health service 
would enable specialist child protection opinions to be more readily available 
when required. 
 
Specialist service networks 
 
The commissioning of specialist services requires development of managed 
networks to make clear who is responsible for each component of the service 
and where it is delivered. There is real potential to develop greater outreach 
services staffed by paediatric consultants and specialist nurses, who will work 
closely with their colleagues in local community-based teams. 
 
Specialist services should be designed to be accessible as close to home as 
safety and sustainability allows; however some specialist services do need to 
be co-located together in fewer specialist centres. On-call specialists need to 
be readily available to enable local paediatricians to have access to expert 
opinion when required. This may mean developing telemedicine facilities 
across wider geographical areas. 
 
Complex surgical procedures are best undertaken where there are co-located 
support services, and sufficient numbers of children to maintain the 
competence of individuals and teams undertaking these complex procedures. 
Specialist commissioners, working closely with specialist service providers, 
need to implement the recommendations of the recent Department of Health 
report on commissioning safe and sustainable paediatric services. 
 
Who needs to make what happen? 
 
For health services to realign, redesign and continually improve, concerted 
effort is called for at a national level, by government departments, 
professional organisations and other regulatory agencies; in England at a 
regional level by Regional Government Offices and SHAs; and at a local level 
by the commissioners of services, provider trusts, clinicians and families. 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 9 

Nationally 
 
Government departments must support the re-provision of local services - 
particularly remodelling adjacent inpatient units, centralising specialised 
services onto fewer sites, and delivering non-acute children’s health services 
in community settings such as children’s centres and extended schools.  
Governments across the UK should clarify structures so that the 
commissioners of children's services from different agencies are aligned and 
have common goals, values and methods of working with their respective 
providers. Furthermore, government departments in England should agree the 
role and expectations of Children's Trusts, including whether they are 
commissioner or provider organisations and how they are held to account 
locally and nationally. 
 
The Department of Health (DH) workforce team needs to urgently review its 
workforce models and predictions in the light of Modelling the Future and the 
recent announcement by the DH of additional funding for consultant 
expansion. There should be greater integration between workforce planning 
for doctors, nurses and allied health professionals, particularly as these roles 
evolve with the development of multidisciplinary community teams. 
 
To improve quality and outcomes, regulatory agencies have an important 
responsibility to assist in setting standards, developing measures and 
inspecting services. Given the multi agency nature of services for children and 
families, the various regulatory agencies and improvement organisations need 
to share a common approach based on networks, complementing their 
traditional approaches based on organisational or professional groups. 
 
Professional organisations have a responsibility to ensure the clinicians they 
train and assess are fit for future and prepared for new ways of working. Such 
organisations need to work together to provide clear leadership on the future 
configuration of services, influence government and regulators, develop better 
understanding of future workforce needs and ensure members have practical 
support to improve their services. 
 
Regionally 
 
Regional Government Offices (RGOs) have a significant role to play in the 
formulation of regional planning policy, as they form an interface between 
national policies and practice at a local level and between the public and 
private sectors. RGOs also have an important public health function to ensure 
present and future plans meet the needs of children and families, particularly 
in terms of employment opportunities and affordable housing and leading the 
sustainable development agenda. 
 
Strategic Health Authorities (SHAs) need to create a clear strategy for the 
NHS that meets the needs of their populations using their post-NHS Review 
implementation groups. They should lead the process of strategic planning 
and managing the performance of the various commissioning and provider 
organisations within their geographical boundaries. They should set the 

Page 35



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 10 

priorities for the development of quality accounts with their local trusts, 
focusing on services where it is known that the quality of care is less than 
optimal. Furthermore SHAs have an important role in supporting the creation 
of managed networks commissioned, provided and improved as 
comprehensive “whole systems”. Because of the vested interests of local 
trusts and PCTs, it is SHAs that must lead in creating reconfiguration plans to 
co-locate specialist services, improve local access, and enable remodelling of 
local acute services. SHAs are well placed to develop a sustainable workforce 
strategy complementing their service development plans for the future. These 
estimates then need to be combined at a national level to ensure the right 
recruitment and training programmes are in place. 
 
Locally 
 
Commissioners have the responsibility to distribute resources to achieve the 
best outcomes for the population they serve. Commissioners of children’s 
services within health and from various agencies should be aligned and have 
the same goals, values and methods of working with their respective 
providers. They should work in partnership with provider organisations and 
teams to adopt ‘whole system approaches’ to improving services, being 
explicit about the improvements they commission and the development of the 
metrics for quality accounts. 
 
Provider organisations must ensure that their services or teams are delivering 
the very best care, by ensuring the competence of teams, by creating regular 
and meaningful feedback and by supporting practical strategies for quality 
improvement. They have a responsibility to work together to create seamless 
care, within and between organisations. They should explore the benefits of 
integrated management structures to bring teams together. 
 
It is important that clinicians recognise the implications of the changing 
epidemiology of disease for their clinical practice, and the changing roles of 
professional groups within the healthcare system. Clinicians’ need to maintain 
their personal competence through revalidation which must be seen as an 
opportunity to simultaneously improve personal practice and improve the 
service they deliver. Service leaders need to ensure their teams are 
supported by the best evidence translated into protocols, that these protocols 
are being used, and have the intended impact on quality of care. 
 
Parents, children and young people have a responsibility to protect and 
promote their own health by adopting healthy lifestyles, avoiding potential 
hazards, using universal services and taking appropriate action if they 
become unwell. When a child is sick or has any long-term condition, patients 
and carers should expect high quality, well-coordinated care, in which they 
are full partners in the decisions made. They should have information about 
local services and support groups, and should expect to become experts their 
child’s condition. 
 
 
 

Page 36



Modelling the Future III – December 2009 
 

 11 

Next Steps 
 
Individuals and organisations responsible for the future development of 
children’s services need to learn from the past, but look to the future. 
Children’s services should be seen as whole systems, designed on a 
foundation of pathways and networks enabling the right things to be done at 
the right time and place, developing competent teams working together within 
a managed network to achieve the best experience and outcomes. The 
proposed transformation must start immediately, first reaching a consensus 
on a local service delivery model, which then informs future workforce 
commissioning plans. 
 
The RCPCH recognises this transformation will not happen overnight, but will 
lead, facilitate and support change that leads to an improvement in all 
organisations that contribute to the health of children. To help paediatricians, 
children's teams and other organisations, the RCPCH intends to apply the 
principles behind this document to inform future projects such as the 
development of networks, urgent and emergency care services, specialty 
services, the development of quality metrics and to support improvements 
throughout all health services for children and young people. 
 
The RCPCH will continue to work with other professional bodies, government 
departments and patient organisations to embed a whole systems approach 
to the development of better services for children and families. Only through 
widespread active collaboration, driven by a real desire to continually improve 
will we achieve better health of future generations of children and young 
people. 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



!
"
#
$%
&'
(
)
*
+'
,
)
-.
$'
)
/'
0
-1
2
3

,
)
-.
$'
)
/'
0
-1
2
3

!
"
#
$
%&
'
(
)%
*"

&
%'
+
%,
-
$
%.
(
,(
)$
%'
.%
-
$
"
/,
-
%0
"
)$
%1
+
%&
'
(
)%
"
)$
"
2%

4
+)

,
'-
.
'$
)
')
.
1
')
/'
)
*
+'
5)
6#
5'
1
0
1
.
$&
'#
.
7
'$
#
58
'$
)
'9
:
;
'&
$#
//
'

#
<
)
*
$'
$"

1
',
+)

,
)
&1
7
'-
=
,
+)
0
1
=
1
.
$&
'$
)
'"
)
&,

-$
#
5'
&1
+0
-6
1
&'
#
6+
)
&&
'

.
)
+$
"
'1
#
&$
'>
)
.
7
)
.
?'

@
A
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
':

)
=
1
+$
)
.
':
)
&,

-$
#
5C
':
)
=
1
+$
)
.
'G
)
2
C'
H
I
'J
;
G

@
D
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'>
)
.
7
)
.
'K

*
&5
-=

'L
1
.
$+
1
C'
F
I
EI
@
'!

"
-$
1
6"

#
,
1
5'

G
)
#
7
C'
H
D
'D
BM

@
N
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'O
"
1
'P

57
'O
)
2
.
':

#
55
C'
@
I
'Q
+)
#
7
2
#
(C
''
''
''
''

;
$+
#
$/
)
+7

C'
H
D
R
'F
Q
S
'

@
R
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'T
-6
#
+#
U
1
'V
-1
57
';
"
)
,
,
-.
U
'L
1
.
$+
1
C'
G
-,
,
51
'

G
)
#
7
C'
Q
#
+8
-.
U
C'
WX

D
D
'Y
4
S

@
J
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'!

"
-,
,
&'
L
+)

&&
':

)
&,

-$
#
5C
'L
)
//
1
1
';
"
)
,
''
''
'

ZB
*
.
6$
-)
.
'F
[C
'!

"
-,
,
&'
L
+)
&&
'G
)
#
7
C'
H
D
D
'D
9
''

@
\
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'O
"
1
'>
-<
1
+$
(
';
"
)
,
,
-.
U
'L
1
.
$+
1
'Z
.
1
#
+'
Q
:
;
[C
'

G
)
=
/)

+7
C'
G
K
D
'N
G
>

@
Y
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EJ
,
=
'E
'O
"
1
'K

#
55
'W
5/
)
+7

C'
:
-U
"
'G
)
#
7
C'
W5
/)
+7
C'
WX
D
'D
G
;

@
I
'B
#
.
*
#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'O
1
&6
)
C'
:
#
.
6)

68
'G
)
#
7
C'
Q
+)
=
51
(
'<
(
'Q
)
2
C'
''
'

H
N
'N
4
]

D
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
?N
A
#
=
ER
,
=
'E
'W
5/
)
+7
'L
1
.
$+
#
5'
>
-<
+#
+(
C'
L
51
=
1
.
$&
'G
)
#
7
C'

W5
/)

+7
C'
WX

D
'D
H
]

@
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
@
EJ
,
=
'E
'V
-.
&<

*
+(
']
0
1
.
*
1
';
^
*
#
+1
C'
H
L
@
K
'@
S
_

F
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
,
=
E\
,
=
'E
'O
1
&6
)
C'
R
R
'K

)
+.

-.
U
'>
#
.
1
C'
:
#
68
.
1
(C
'H
I
'J
9
4

R
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
E\
,
=
'E
']

;
4
]
C'
D
R
D
'H
#
&$
'V
1
++
(
'G
)
#
7
C'
W&
51
')
/'
4
)
U
&C
'H
D
F
'N
Q
O

J
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
']

;
4
]
C'
K
1
++
-1
5#
.
7
&'
L
+1
&6
1
.
$C
'4

#
U
1
.
"
#
=
C'
G
K
I
'J
;
B

I
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
D
#
=
E\
,
=
'E
'!

#
-$
+)
&1
';
)
*
$"
'!

)
)
7
/)
+7
C'
:
-U
"
'G
)
#
7
C'
H
D
Y
'@
9
]

D
A
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
I
?N
A
#
=
ED
@
?N
A
,
=
'E
'P

*
$,

#
$-
1
.
$&
'4
1
,
#
+$
=
1
.
$C
'G
)
(
#
5'
>
)
.
7
)
.
'

:
)
&,
-$
#
5C
';
$1
,
.
1
(
'!

#
(C
'!

"
-$
1
6"

#
,
1
5C
'H
D
'D
Q
Q

D
A
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
D
#
=
EY
,
=
'E
'O
1
&6
)
C'
X
#
55
)
2
&'
L
)
+.
1
+C
'Q
+(
#
.
$'
]
0
1
.
*
1
C'
G
)
=
/)

+7
C'

G
K
N
'A
>
>

D
D
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EJ
,
=
'E
'`
-.
U
'X
1
)
+U

1
':
)
&,
-$
#
5C
'X
)
)
7
=
#
(
1
&C
'W
X
N
'Y
_
Q

D
@
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
'9
1
2
"
#
=
':

)
&,
-$
#
5C
'X
51
.
'G
)
#
7
C'
>
)
.
7
)
.
C'
H
D
N
'Y
Q
>

D
@
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
A
#
=
EF
,
=
'E
']
;
4
]
C'
H
#
&$
'Q
1
68
$)
.
C'
H
J
'R
Ba

D
R
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
\
#
=
E\
,
=
'E
'>
-0
1
+,
)
)
5'
;
$+
1
1
$'
;
$#
$-
)
.
C'
>
)
.
7
)
.
C'
H
L
@
K
'\
S
:

D
J
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
D
#
=
E\
,
=
'E
'O
1
&6
)
C'
>
1
(
$)

.
&$
)
.
1
C'
R
'X
#
-.
&<

)
+)
*
U
"
'G
)
#
7
C'
''
''
'

H
D
D
'D
:
O

D
\
'V
1
<
+*

#
+(
C'
D
EY
,
=
'E
'S

*
1
1
.
%&
':
)
&,
-$
#
5C
'=

#
-.
'+
1
61
,
$-
)
.
C'
G
)
=
'T
#
55
1
(
'!

#
(C
'

G
)
=
/)
+7

C'
G
K
\
'A
]
X

V
)
+'
=
)
+1
'-
.
/)

+=
#
$-
)
.
'0
-&
-$
b'
2
2
2
?"
1
#
5$
"
/)
+.

1
5?
.
"
&?
*
8
')
+'
/+
1
1
,
"
)
.
1
'A
Y
A
Y
'@
N
Y
'R
F
D
J

c
'
&,
1
6-
#
5-
&$
')
,
1
+#
$-
)
.
&'
)
.
'0
1
-.
&'
#
.
7
'

#
+$
1
+-
1
&'

c
'
&,
1
6-
#
5-
&$
'&
*
+U
1
+(
'/
)
+'
(
)
*
.
U
''
''
''
''

6"
-5
7
+1
.
'

c
'
,
5#
.
.
1
7
'#
.
7
'1
=
1
+U

1
.
6(
'&
*
+U
1
+(

c
'
#
66
-7
1
.
$'
#
.
7
'1
=
1
+U
1
.
6(
'

&1
+0
-6
1
&

c
'
=
#
$1
+.

-$
(
'&
1
+0
-6
1
&

c
'
6)

=
,
51
d
'-
.
,
#
$-
1
.
$'
6#
+1
?'

3
'
+
*(

/,
"
,1
'
+
%0
/'
*$

*%
4
%5

"
)0
-
%6
7
8
7

9
(
)%
:
)'
:
'
*"
/*
%"
1;

%,
'
%1
;
:
)'
#
$
<

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
Inner North East London Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Health 
 
11th February 2010 
 
Item 5 – Royal College of Nursing 
 

 
Item No 

 

5 
 
Outline 
 
Attached is some back ground information from Royal College of Nursing of 
their written submission of responses collated in January 2010 to the Health 
for North East London Consultation. 
 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked:  
 

• To note for information 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

RCN Responses to the Health for North East London Consultation 
Responses collated January 2010 

 
 
The terms of the consultation 
The ‘Delivering high-quality hospital services for the people of north east 
London’ consultation launched in November 2009 and ends on 8 March 
2010.  
A number of statutory, representative and local organisations have been 
invited to present evidence to a series of joint overview and scrutiny 
committees. 
RCN London has accepted this invitation and shall present the views of 
our members, those who work and / or live in NE London. We 
understand that the consultation is managed by the PCTs and outlines 
future plans for hospital services.  
 
Introduction  
The RCN is pleased to present evidence and on behalf of our 14,000 
members in NE London and provide responses gathered since the launch 
of the consultation. As a nursing and healthcare workers professional 
organisation and trade union we value consultation and the principle of 
sharing of information. Our role is to ensure that all staff and RCN 
members in particular are treated fairly, equally and reasonably. The main 
focus of our response is on the impact of these changes on RCN members 
and the healthcare workforce.  
The RCN wishes to ensure that adequate resources are allocated to assure 
our members that any changes to services and clinical teams are 
thoroughly thought through and that proper, training support and 
supervision is provided at all stages.  
 
Responses 
The following responses were received in response to specific questions:  
In your view what are the workforce implications of the proposals for 
NEL nurses, staff training etc?  

“The relocation of acute services will mean that health care staff 
and nurses will be transferred or moved to follow services. This is 
a complex piece of work that will require full consultation with the 
staff affected. Some services changes will require a major 
displacement of the workforce and will have an affect on the 

Page 43



 2 

workforce’s quality of life and work life balance. We ask that the 
needs of staff are taken into account when planning these 
changes.” 
“The movement of staff and services from acute to community 
provider services will require; proper and adequate funding for 
accredited training, a system of professional supervision to 
prepare and support healthcare staff and  nurses transferring from 
acute to community  settings. We know there is a knowledge and 
skills gap and that the workforce needs to be prepared for this. We 
seek absolute assurance that clinical and professional training will 
be fully funded.”  
We ask that the pan London management of change policy be 
discussed and agreed with the local partnership forums; this would 
safeguard our members and monitor NHS behaviours at time of 
intense change. We recognise that there will be local variations to 
be incorporated into the policy.  
There is a perception that the Public Finance Initiative PFI Trust’s 
will; dominate, dictate services and drain resources. Please tell us 
what safeguards are in place to ensure the provision of equitable 
and accessible services, and that services will not be sacrificed to 
fund the PFI’s.  

Do you envisage any particular pressures arising as a result of any 
centralisation of services? 

“The RCN is aware that a consequence of centralization of certain 
services could adversely impact on patients and service users, who 
will have to travel further to receive treatment. Local clinical staff 
will also be affected and we would expect a flexible and reasonable 
approach when managing staff.” 
The challenge is to ensure that good quality consistent public 
information, marketing and publicity  is shared with all workers, 
users, NE residents and those who use these services. There has to 
be short, medium and long term tangible benefits as a consequence 
of centralization, not only better outcomes but better and well 
resourced infrastructure and support services.  
 
 

Page 44



 3 

Do you think these proposed changes will increase or relieve any 
workforce challenges? 

“The greatest challenges facing the workforce are the number of 
nurses due to retire in the next 10 years, the anticipated reduction 
in the number of training places commissioned as a consequence of 
cuts in public expenditure.  This will take place against the 
background of a growing population particularly in Newham 
where live births are expected to increase from 5000 to 9000 over 
the next 10 years.”  

Do you anticipate the proposed changes will bring about an increase or 
decrease in overall workload? 

“There will be an increase in the overall workload.  Whilst there 
may be a fall in eth number of nurses working in acute settings 
there where services are transferred to community settings it will 
take more nurses to deliver the care as they will be spread over an 
increased number of locations.  Without the increase in the number 
of nurses the quality of patient care will fall.” 
“The demands on the clinical workforce will continue to increase 
for the following reasons; adequate cover to promote  training 
which ensure that  workloads are covered, the centralisation of 
services should result in a higher productivity i.e. more patients 
seen more quickly. It is essential that these staff are properly 
trained and supported through this process. 

In your view do the proposals present the potential for improved clinical 
and health outcomes for patients in NEL?  

“That the demand for high quality care and good clinical outcomes 
will require good calibre training and supervision programmes, 
with sufficient time and staff to provide quality care.”    
 “Yes outcomes should improve.  Providing the above is taken 
seriously by managers and that training needs are assessed and 
that regular training is provided on a systematic basis.” 
“Patients requiring specialist care will have to travel further but 
eth concentration of skills in one area should lead to an 
improvement in specialist practice.  Furthermore, if the required 
number of community nurses are deployed then patients should be 
discharged earlier and receive most of their close to or at home.”   

Page 45



 4 

In your view are the proposals sustainable for the long term? 
“The RCN understands that the number of Trusts in NE London is 
not currently sustainable. We know that  diminishing resources 
mean that staff have to find ways of improving care delivery while 
making it more efficient and cheaper to provide.  The current 
proposals alone  may not be sustainable and further measures such 
as merging trusts will need to be considered.” 
 

Other related evidence and Observations. 
 “That hospital service provision must be more closely linked to 
community services and the link will become increasingly 
important. The RCN wants to see strong robust plans for the 
integration of hospital and community based services. 

 
We are grateful to the following for their responses in this 
consultation: 
Andrew McGovern, Interim Business Manager (Paediatrics and 
Neonatal) (Tel. 020 7055 5702 / Internal 5702 / Mobile 07904 987546) 
 
 
  

Page 46



 
 
 
 
Inner North East London Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Health 
 
11th February 2010 
 
Item 8 – Royal College of Physicians 
 

 
Item No 

 

8 
 
Outline 
 
Attached is some back ground information from Royal College of Physicians 

• Team without Walls 
• Acute Medical Care 

 
 
Action 
 
The Committee is asked:  
 

• To note for information 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



Teams without Walls

The value of medical innovation 

and leadership

Royal College of Paediatrics

and Child Health

Report of a Working Party of the Royal College of Physicians,

the Royal College of General Practitioners and the 

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health

Endorsed by the NHS Alliance 

2008

Page 49



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

The Royal College of Physicians

The Royal College of Physicians plays a leading role in

the delivery of high-quality patient care by setting

standards of medical practice and promoting clinical

excellence. We provide physicians in the United

Kingdom and overseas with education, training and

support throughout their careers. As an independent

body representing over 20,000 Fellows and Members

worldwide, we advise and work with government, the

public, patients and other professions to improve

health and healthcare.

Copyright

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be

reproduced in any form (including photocopying or

storing it in any medium by electronic means and

whether or not transiently or incidentally to some

other use of this publication) without the written

permission of the copyright owner. Applications for

the copyright owner’s written permission to reproduce

any part of this publication should be addressed to

the publisher.

Copyright © 2008 Royal College of Physicians 

Royal College of Physicians of London

11 St Andrews Place, London NW1 4LE

www.rcplondon.ac.uk

Registered Charity No 210508

The Royal College of General Practitioners

14 Princes Gate, Hyde Park, London SW7 1PU

www.rcgp.org.uk

Registered Charity No 223106

The Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health

5–11 Theobalds Road

London, WC1X 8SH

www.rcpch.ac.uk

Registered Charity No 1057744

Designed and typeset by the Publications Unit 

of the Royal College of Physicians

Printed in Great Britain by 

The Lavenham Group Ltd, Suffolk 

ii

Members of the Working Party

Rodney Burnham (Chair) MD FRCP

Registrar, Royal College of Physicians 

Ken Aswani FRCGP

Member of Council, 

Royal College of General Practitioners

Mike Cheshire MB FRCP

Clinical Vice-President, Royal College of Physicians

John Dean FRCP

Medical Director for Quality and Care Improvement,

Bolton PCT; Royal College of Physicians 

Agnelo Fernandes MBE FRCGP

Emergency Care Lead, 

Royal College of General Practitioners

Clare Gerada MBE MRCPsych FRCGP

Vice Chair of Council, 

Royal College of General Practitioners

Minoo Irani MD FRCPCH MRCP

Lead, NHS Alliance Specialists Network

Simon Lenton FRCPCH MRCP

Vice President (Health Services), 
Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health

Colette Marshall RGN

Head of Clinical and Research, 

Royal College of General Practitioners 

Jonathan Steel FRCP

Chair, GP Network Steering Group, 

Royal College of Physicians

Acknowledgements

The Working Party would like to thank all those

physicians and GPs who kindly responded to our

survey with examples of new models of care in 

the community and integrated practices; and to 

Darin Nagamootoo, RCP Medical Workforce, 

for conducting the survey. 

Page 50



Executive summary

The intention of this paper is to inform professions, policy makers and

commissioners about the options available for moving care ‘closer to

home’ and to develop the concept of ‘Teams without Walls’.

Teams without Walls is an integrated model of care, where

professionals from primary and secondary care work together in teams,

across traditional health boundaries, to manage patients using care

pathways designed by local clinicians.

The aspiration behind this paper is to create an NHS that puts the patient at thecentre of everything we do – involved, empowered and enabled to achieve thevery best outcomes for their health. Services will be organised around patientjourneys through the NHS, translating the latest evidence into practice, withpatients cared for by competent teams, delivering services close to home where itis safe and sustainable to do so.
This paper encourages innovation throughout the NHS, in particular forclinicians who work at the primary/secondary interface. This boundary is fastbeing eroded as care traditionally provided in hospital is now provided incommunity settings.
For patients to really benefit from this new approach, hospital and communityteams need to merge to ensure that the patient sees the right person, at the righttime, in the right setting. This will require innovation and leadership fromdoctors, as well as a commitment to continuous improvement year on yeardriven by collaboration and learning rather than by competition and targets.
Teams without Walls endorses clinical innovation, leadership and learning as theprimary method of improving patient experience and outcomes within the NHS,and this paper provides examples of successes in implementing this way ofworking.
This approach may challenge some of the recent NHS reforms, but promises tobe a more sustainable solution to some of the entrenched problems the NHSmust overcome if it is to succeed in the long term.
Examples of this thinking and its impact on patient care are offered throughoutthe paper.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 1Page 51



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

Key messages

h Government policy initiatives should lead to care that is excellent, safe and

affordable. Boundaries that hinder effective collaborative working between

health professionals should be removed.

h A jointly commissioned model of integrated health services should be

provided by primary and secondary care working together. This would

significantly reduce the potential for unhealthy competition between

primary care trusts and hospital foundation trusts and contractual and

cultural conflicts.

h Clinical leadership is required for successful commissioning. 

h The incentives/disincentives of Payment by Results need to be re-balanced

to bring integrated specialist and generalist care closer to the patient’s

home.

h Future healthcare should build on the successes of today, using the better

policy initiatives as necessary but rejecting others that create barriers to

effective change. 

h In summary, there will need to be: 

h a clear vision and set of NHS values, shared by all, crossing traditional 

professional and organisational boundaries

h an alignment between those commissioning, providing and 

regulating services

h investment in leadership, innovation and the spread of audit and 

learning, to drive a new culture of continuous improvement

h removal of boundaries between primary and secondary care.

2 Page 52



Introduction

The Government plans to change the way that healthcare is delivered. It proposes that care willbe provided closer to home and whenever possible outside hospital, this process beingsupported by practice-based commissioning1 and world-class commissioning.2 The Departmentof Health recommends that ‘specialty organisations and Royal Colleges should define clinicallysafe pathways that provide the right care in the right setting, with the right equipmentperformed by the appropriate skilled person’.3 This paper will show that this is indeed what themedical profession has been developing: creating Teams without Walls, delivering services thatcross traditional primary/secondary, hospital/community boundaries to best meet the needs ofpatients.
Many of the Royal Colleges, sometimes with other professional organisations, have publishedpapers that propose an erosion of the traditional boundaries between professional groups andindividual NHS organisations; for example:
h the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) and the Royal College of Physicians(RCP) joint statement, Making the best use of doctors’ skills, a balanced partnership,4 whichbuilds on their previous joint publication on chronic disease management5
h the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH) paper, A guide tounderstanding pathways and implementing networks6
h the Royal College of Surgeons paper, Delivering high-quality surgical services for the future7
h the joint paper between the NHS Confederation  and the Joint Medical ConsultativeCouncil entitled A clinical vision of a reformed NHS.8
All of them emphasise the importance of shared working as the most effective way of managingpatients with long-term conditions.
The challenge for the future is to ensure that government policy initiatives lead to care that isgood quality, safe and affordable and that boundaries are removed that hinder effectivecollaborative working between health professionals. We believe this can best be achieved byaccelerating the process of creating Teams without Walls.
Aims of the paper

During 2007 and 2008 a Working Party from both the RCP and the RCGP, together with arepresentative from the NHS Alliance Specialist Network and latterly a representative from theRCPCH, has been looking at the redesign of healthcare in detail. The intention of the group wasto inform the profession, policy makers and commissioners of the options available for movingcare ‘closer to home’ and to develop the concept of Teams without Walls. This paper is theoutcome of these deliberations and will give examples of current and innovative practicethrough service redesign. These demonstrate that specialists and GPs are embracing new ways ofworking and are willing and able to provide the leadership necessary to erode the boundariesbetween primary and secondary care.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 3Page 53



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

The need for integrated care

Patients with long-term conditions move between primary and secondary care at different timesof their lives. As they get older or more unwell, these moves have a tendency to become morefrequent and complex, requiring the additional involvement of social, voluntary and sometimesmental health services. Occasionally, demand management creates dislocation of close workingbetween generalist and specialist practitioners. However, there is no doubt that in the changingworld, they must work together in different ways to better meet the needs of patients with long-term conditions throughout the time of their illness.
This Working Party believes that an integrated model of care, where multi-professional teamswork in a managed network across the interfaces and manage patients on a care pathwaydesigned by local clinicians, is the best model for the future. We feel that Teams without Walls is the way forward to achieve the required improvements in the delivery of healthcare.
Examples already exist that reflect this in a number of specialties, for example respiratorymedicine.9 Although there are examples of high-quality General Practitioners with a SpecialInterest (GPwSIs), successful ones work in close partnership with consultants. A number ofspecialties such as dermatology and rheumatology have issued guidelines about theaccreditation of such practitioners.10,11

Systems and strategies for providing integrated care 

The future direction of general practice – a roadmap (2007)12 outlined the future strategy forgeneral practice and included a strong emphasis on developing effective integrated andnetworked services in the community (see Fig 1).
The roadmap noted that whilst most patients will present to the GP, it is important that effectivecare includes a partnership between other healthcare professionals working in a network toensure that the patient pathway optimises care.
The Nuffield Trust has recently produced a briefing paper on clinically integrated systems thatprovides support for the system we are endorsing.13 The authors highlight the tension betweencompetition and collaboration in the provision of healthcare. It concludes that, up until now,more emphasis has been placed on competition because of the need to reduce waiting times forplanned care or investigations. However, this competitive model may only work well in thesurgical arena or where the individual has a well-defined clinical problem which is amenable toa single diagnostic test or intervention. The report suggests that in order to improve services forlong-term conditions clinical integration between what we now call primary and secondary careand the development of clinical networks will be needed. It suggests that integratedcommissioning should be used as a mechanism to develop this and that the performance ofsuch systems in a competitive environment should be explored.

4 Page 54



Advantages of integrated care

There is good evidence as to the advantages of integrated working practices between primaryand secondary care clinicians. These include better communication and educational exchange,14
improved patient satisfaction,15 greater efficiency and improved health outcomes.16 However, anefficient mechanism to facilitate this integration has always been elusive. Case examples ofhospital consultants providing sessional services in GP surgeries have not been systematicallyevaluated for efficiency or cost effectiveness and critics of the model state that economies ofscale favour keeping specialist services in hospital. Therefore session-based work by hospitalspecialists in primary care may not be efficient or cost-effective in the long term, unlessaccompanied by specific training programmes, workforce planning and sophisticatedcontractual and career progression incentives.
In recent years some primary care trusts (PCTs) have supported clinician-led initiatives in themanagement of long-term conditions in community and primary care where efficient links withhospital services are maintained. Integrated health services would enable generalists (GPs,primary care nurses) and specialists (consultants, specialist nurses) to cooperate and collaboratein both the process of commissioning and providing health services that are sensitive to theneeds of the local population. This would not just be about service provision but thedevelopment of new ways of working, from the idea through to its implementation. The role ofPCTs and commissioners would then be to monitor and quality assure the process andoutcomes. National standards and evaluation tools exist in some areas of practice11 and can beused for this purpose. These new teams, made up from existing primary and secondary services,

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 5

Systematic functions

of a community

network in 2015

h Improving health and

equity

h Early diagnosis and

problem definition

h Comprehensive and

accessible services

h Navigation and

integration of care

h Quality and 

safety systems

h Commissioning and

resource management

h Teaching and research

h Aggressive long-term

condition managment

Practice

team

Practice

team

Practice

team

Practice

team

Practice

team

Community

network

and facility
Diagnostics,

enhanced

services and

ambulatory care

provided by

specialists and

generalists

Figure 1. Community network championed by clinicians. (Reproduced from Ref 12.)

Page 55



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

would be sensitive to the wider health needs of the local population and maintain a moreholistic and preventative focus, but also have skills which would enable them to support patientsduring hospital admissions or investigation, if required. The emphasis would remain uponkeeping the patient out of hospital by health promotion, and by managing outpatient care andminor complications in the community. This approach recognises the balance that needs to existin a health economy between that which is best provided in the community and the necessity attimes for the services to be provided in a hospital setting.
A jointly commissioned model of integrated health services provided by primary and secondarycare would significantly reduce unhealthy competition between the two and reduce the potentialfor contractual and cultural conflicts between PCTs and hospital foundation trusts.
Clinical integration would prevent monopolies from being created, as might be the case ifhospital foundation trusts expanded to provide community and primary care. It would enablegeneral and hospital practitioners to align their loyalties and best practice objectives and have acommon vision for high-quality cost-effective service provision.
Aspirations for the NHS (a vision from clinicians)

h Clinicians wish to see the NHS using resources wisely and achieving the best outcomes forall patients. To achieve this, patients need to be fully engaged in both the prevention andmanagement of their conditions. They need to be involved, empowered and enabled toparticipate in their own care, with close family members where appropriate. In addition,they need to be involved in service design, improvement and evaluation.
h Services should be organised in a way that facilitates patients achieving their outcomes inthe most efficient, effective and safe way. The use of patient pathways (some of which needto be developed and others adapted to local circumstances) as the building blocks forservices is recommended, with the right balance between prevention, early identification,assessment, intervention and, when necessary, long-term support. This will haveimplications for commissioners, providers and regulators of services.
h The system needs to adopt a culture of continuous innovation, improvement and learningas the driver for better services in the future. To achieve this cultural shift, the NHS needsexplicit values that influence day-to-day decision-making, and an assurance system whichconstantly first identifies and then rectifies the weakest point in the patient pathway.
h The Teams without Walls approach needs to be facilitated by either vertical or virtualintegration of management structures, working in the long term towards managed clinicalnetworks.

6 Page 56



How can this vision be achieved?

h Population health needs and inequalities are considered at the planning stage.
h Communication and service gaps are identified. Patient involvement is an essential partof this.
h The service knowledge of local clinicians and public health data are essential.
h World-class commissioning must strive for world-class services.
h Clinical leadership is required for successful commissioning – involving both generalistsand specialists.
h Regulators should inspect for improvement based on care pathways as well as byregulating organisations.
h Commissioning must:

h commission pathways, delivered by teams, working in networks
h promote partnerships, leadership and enthusiasm in its local clinicians 
h set boundaries, support clinical innovation, monitor its effectiveness and use evidence that is valid, reliable and reproducible 
h ensure that local clinicians are enabled by its process and not hindered or inhibited by it.

Practice-based commissioning can be an effective tool to initiate clinical integration, but itneeds to be developed further. General practitioners, hospital doctors and other clinicalpractitioners know most about their practice and patients, although they see them fromdifferent perspectives. Successful commissioning brings together all of those involved in theprovision of care to patients, including patients themselves, in a true collaboration.
Payment by Results 

Payment by Results (PbR) is a tool for paying for health activity.17 It may create perverseincentives so that it appears easier financially to admit the patient rather than manage themoutside hospital or to commission separate specialist services in primary care, thus avoiding thefull tariff price of a consultant-delivered service in an outpatient clinic. We believe that theincentives and disincentives of PbR need to be re-balanced to support integrated specialist andgeneralist care closer to home.
Teams without Walls offers a simple way of dealing with this issue by designing, commissioningand paying for  new, cost-effective, service pathways which are beneficial to the patient. We areencouraged that the Department of Health PbR team are starting to do this; they could explorethe concept of payment by pathway (PbP) for an episode of care, and annual payment bycondition (a PbC) for long-term conditions.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 7Page 57



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

Examples of good practice

As part of our exploratory work, Fellows and Members of both the RCP and the RCGP weresurveyed about new models of care in the community. In total, there were 288 replies from thephysicians, and all but 20 were positive, with innovation right across the range of clinicalspecialties.* The common thread was high-quality clinical involvement and partnership. Thesame exercise was conducted using RCGP networks to survey GPs about best practice withrespect to shared/integrated services. The survey was sent to approximately 100 contacts, and 31responses were received. Examples of both are listed in Appendix 1. We have tried to determinesustainability, efficiency and effectiveness but this has not always been possible since there areoften no comparative measures in the data collected.
Issues that accompany success and failure

We believe that integrated care can be successful especially where doctors provide leadership.Where doctors have not been engaged in planning and commissioning services they are lesslikely to succeed. This failure to engage may sometimes be due to professional inertia and anunwillingness to participate in difficult decisions, but in addition some government policies canhave unintended consequences. One example of this was the setting up of independenttreatment centres to increase competition, despite the existing healthcare provider supplying agood service and adequate capacity, thus discouraging clinician engagement.
Elements that promote success

h Clinical leadership and involvement

h High-quality partnership between clinician and professional manager

h Primary and secondary partnerships

h Committed commissioners willing to innovate and fund flexibly

h Clear patient focus for a defined group

h Clear governance arrangements

h Agreed measures and standards to improve the quality and quantity of work

These were the common features of those services that work.
Success occurs where clinicians use the opportunities available to them but show leadership byrising above the strict implementation of the new government policies; paraphrasing theChinese concept of Tao, ‘going with the flow but remaining above it’.

8

*A list of these can be found on the Fellows and Members area of the RCP website at: 

www.rcplondon.ac.uk/members/teamswithoutwalls.asp

Page 58



Elements that accompany failure

h Clear separation of managerial and clinical aims

h No clinical leadership

h Targets with unintended negative consequences

h A culture of competition rather than collaboration

h Financial flows that encourage efficiency without considering effectiveness

h A ‘command and control ethos’ that does not value learning

The future 

The current policy initiatives of commissioning, PbR and foundation trusts should be seen astools to bring about change rather than a means to an end. One possibility would be to developintegrated provider organisations as envisaged in the report from the NHS Alliance.18 ‘World-class commissioning’ must enable doctors to innovate and lead these improvements.
Future healthcare should build on the successes of today, using the better policy initiatives asnecessary but rejecting others that provide barriers to effective change.
The examples in this document show that with imagination integrated services can be achievedusing current policy mechanisms. Whilst some may feel that integration can only be achieved byco-location, integration is as much about systems for innovation, communication, clinicalcollaboration and shared learning as it is about bricks and mortar.
Linked intimately to the future success of this approach is the ability of both the generalist andspecialist to learn to work in different ways in the future. This learning depends upon creatingfeedback systems using measures that can motivate those providing services to do thingsdifferently, if the service is not meeting patient or clinical expectations.
Current and future trainees should be trained in integrated care; during training they should besupported outside hospital as in hospital. Also, consultants in integrated care services needsupport with proper governance procedures and continuing medical education.
Widespread best care for patients and families will be accelerated by removing barriers tochange and ensuring that clinical professionals can together design, deliver and evaluate localcare to ensure that it meets local needs. Local clinical networks, strong clinical leadership andsupportive management will enable services to be developed that best meet the needs of ourchanging population. Finally, clinical integration is about allowing individuals, services andorganisations to align in order to improve patient care.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 9Page 59



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

Appendix 1

Examples of integrated care

Care of the elderly scheme in Poole, Dorset

After good engagement between hospital and primary care, the PCT wished to develop this further.

Potential problems were overcome by good relationships between consultants and GPs and by

support from the local authority. Sharing of risk, multiple funding sources and paperless referrals were

additional advantages. A multidisciplinary team, based in hospital and in the community, helped

admission avoidance and enhanced discharge; a strong patient voice was valuable. 

Respiratory medicine in Hull

An implementation group consisting of consultants, GPs and patients, with representatives from

hospital and PCT management, developed an integrated service. Patient-centred guidelines were

established and launched at a well-attended meeting. These guidelines emphasised early treatment

and patient education. An essential feature was close collaboration between all parties, valuing the

others’ skills, which led to learning from each other. An outreach team was very effective.

Gastroenterology in Barnsley
Patients with inflammatory bowel disease were educated and empowered to manage their condition

without hospital attendance if they were stable. The results of blood test monitoring and advice were

sent by email or text. This freed outpatient slots, saved an estimated £40,000 per year, and allowed

rapid advice for patients suffering a relapse.

Community cardiology in Northampton

This service was characterised by collaboration between the hospital trust and PCT, as well as clinical

input from a GP with a Special Interest in Cardiology, a pharmacist and specialist nurses. Access to

echocardiography and support from a consultant resulted in good care for patients and may have

saved money by reducing admissions.

Rheumatology service in Birmingham

A consultant rheumatologist initiated this service with support from GP colleagues, as well as

collaboration from hospital and community managers. Agreed protocols and referral pathways were

disseminated. Sixty of the 64 local GPs participated in this shared care scheme. Initial friction was

overcome with support from the PCT.

Shared care scheme for patients with psoriasis in Manchester

Engagement led by a consultant, GPs, nurse specialist and patient group led to a randomised

controlled trial of management of psoriasis in primary care. This assessed the effect of written

guidelines and education on the appropriateness of referral to secondary care. The trial was successful

and patients are now seen by the right person in the right place at the right time. Patient feedback

has been positive, as has an audit of the quality of care provided.19

10 Page 60



Clinical integrated model in Bolton

Supported by the hospital trust and PCT, physicians and GPs have led the development of clinical

integration in Bolton. High-quality services in diabetes and rheumatology and the management of

alcohol misuse have been established. The Diabetes Centre is based outside the hospital and the

service extends into GP practices. It also provides an in-reach service to the hospital and this includes

acute medical services.

Examples of integration from children’s services

Colocated urgent care centre and emergency department – Homerton Hospital

Children often present to emergency departments with conditions that should be managed by

primary care teams. Some children present in primary care with an acute illness that requires further

investigation or observation. Protocols and process were agreed between general practitioners,

paediatricians and emergency department staff and now children are triaged by a children’s nurse to

either primary urgent care, emergency care or referred to the children’s assessment unit on arrival in

hospital. 

Community children’s teams for life-threatening conditions – Lifetime Service, Bristol

Children with complex continuing healthcare needs often have acute exacerbations of their conditions

that can be difficult to assess and manage in primary care due to their multiple co-morbidities.

Community children’s nursing teams, run from children’s departments, proactively plan for these

problems, give telephone advice, and at the end of life provide 24/7 nursing care. 

Examples from the primary care perspective on interface working

Cardiology rapid access clinic in County Durham

A PCT and trust funded a rapid access one-stop diagnostic clinic to assess patients with suspected

heart failure and breathlessness. The clinic was run from the hospital with GP referrals, by a GP with a

Special Interest in Cardiology, supported by PCT-funded specialist nurses with a consultant cardiologist

available for advice. Outcomes included reduced hospital admissions and high uptake of evidence-

based heart failure therapies.

Medical assessment unit in Plymouth

In a trust medical assessment unit, patients are assessed and managed in a clinic setting from GP

telephone referrals for acute medicine. Secondary opinions are easily sought, and the GP hands over

admissions directly to the medical registrar on call. Alternatives have been found to acute hospital

admission for approximately 40% of patients referred to medicine.

Musculoskeletal pain service in London

Collaboration between the PCT, local practices, an independent provider specialising in pain

rehabilitation and a healthcare trust provides a patient-centred approach to improve the journey of

people with low back pain. This includes a fast-track service for treatment or investigations as well as

a Pain Information Afternoon which 70% of patients rated as excellent.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 11Page 61



Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership

Appendix 2

Role of the specialist in population-based
healthcare 

1 Healthcare delivery planning: advisory role across the whole population to enable 

the translation of clinical evidence into practice.

2 Clinical advisory role: development of guidelines and related documents.

3 Educational role: use of multiple formats to educate non-specialists and trainees 

in clinical and related specialist area.

4 Community role: to champion the treatment of disease or other areas within the 

community, and form links with community groups.

5 Remote clinical role: provision of clinical advice about patients to other practitioners.

6 Direct clinical care: 

a. Joint consultation: together with generalist clinicians where the need for combined 

skills and knowledge will complement clinical care

b. Direct clinical care: where specialist skills and knowledge are required that are beyond 

those of the generalist practitioners.

7 Research: to advance understanding in the specialist area by direct or indirect 

involvement in research, or evaluation of research and appropriateness of translating 

research into practice.

12 Page 62



References

1 Department of Health. Practice-based commissioning. Engaging practices in commissioning. London:

DH, 2004.

2 Department of Health. World-class commissioning. London: DH, 2007.

3 Department of Health. Our health, our care, our say: a new direction for community services.

London: DH, 2006.

4 Making the best use of doctors’ skills: a balanced partnership. A joint statement from the Royal

College of General Practitioners and the Royal College of Physicians on how specialists and

generalists can work together for the benefit of patients in the NHS. Royal College of Physicians

College Commentary suppl 4, May 2006.

5 Royal College of Physicians of London, Royal College of General Practitioners and NHS Alliance.

Clinicians, services and commissioning in chronic disease management in the NHS. The need for

coordinated management programmes. Report of a joint working party. London: RCP, 2004.

6 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. A guide to understanding pathways and implementing

networks. London: RCPCH, 2006.

7 Royal College of Surgeons of England. Delivering high-quality surgical services for the future. A

consultation document from the Royal College of Surgeons of England reconfiguration working party.

London: RCS, 2006.

8 NHS Confederation and Joint Medical Consultative Council. A clinical vision of a reformed NHS.

London: NHS Confederation, 2007.

9 Improving and Integrating Respiratory Services in the NHS (IMPRESS). 

Website:  www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/IMPRESS

10 Practitioners with Special Interests (PwSIs). Website: www.primarycarecontracting.nhs.uk

11 Hay EM, Campbell A, Linney S, Wise E.  Development of a competency framework for general

practitioners with a special interest in musculoskeletal/rheumatology practice. Rheumatology

2007;46(2):360–62.

12 Royal College of General Practitioners. The future direction of general practice. A roadmap. London:

RCGP, 2007. 

13 Ham C. Clinically integrated systems: The next step in English health reform? London: The Nuffield

Trust, 2007.

14 Bowling A, Stramer K, Dickinson E et al. Evaluation of specialists’ outreach clinics in general practice

in England: process and acceptability to patients, specialists, and general practitioners. J Epidemiol

Community Health 1997;51:52–61.

15 Bond M, Bowling A, Abery A et al. Evaluation of outreach clinics held by specialists in general

practice in England. J Epidemiol Community Health 2000;54:149–156.

16 Gruen RL, Weeramanthri TS, Knight SE, Bailie RS. Specialist outreach clinics in primary care and rural

hospital settings. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004, Issue 1, Art no: CD003798. 

17 Department of Health. Response to reforming NHS financial flows. Introducing Payment by Results.

London: DH, 2003.

18 NHS Alliance. Specialist doctors in community health services: opportunities and challenges in the

modern NHS. London: NHS Alliance, 2007.

19 Griffiths CEM, Taylor H, Collins SI et al. The impact of psoriasis guidelines on appropriateness of

referral from primary to secondary care: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Dermatol

2006;155(2):393–400.

Teams without walls The value of medical innovation and leadership 13Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



Acute medical care

The right person, 
in the right setting – first time

Report of the Acute Medicine Task Force 

October 2007

Page 65



The Royal College of Physicians of London

The Royal College of Physicians plays a leading role in the delivery of high quality patient care by

setting standards of medical practice and promoting clinical excellence. We provide physicians in

the UK and overseas with education, training and support throughout their careers. As an

independent body representing over 20,000 Fellows and Members worldwide, we advise and work

with government, the public, patients and other professions to improve health and healthcare.

ii

Citation of this document: Royal College of Physicians. Acute medical care. The right person, in the right setting – first time. Report of

the Acute Medicine Task Force. London: RCP, 2007.

Copyright

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form (including photocopying or storing it in any medium

by electronic means and whether or not transiently or incidentally to some other use of this publication) without the written

permission of the copyright owner. Applications for the copyright owner’s permission to reproduce any part of this publication

should be addressed to the publisher.

Copyright © 2007 Royal College of Physicians

ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS OF LONDON

11 St Andrews Place, London NW1 4LE

www.rcplondon.ac.uk

Registered Charity No 210508

ISBN 978-1-86016-321-0

Cover photograph: Crispin Hughes, by permission of King’s College Hospital, London.

Typeset by Dan-Set Graphics, Telford, Shropshire

Printed in Great Britain by The Lavenham Press Ltd, Sudbury, Suffolk

Page 66



Contents

Members of the Acute Medicine Task Force vi

Acknowledgements viii

Foreword ix

Executive summary and recommendations x

Glossary xxi

1 Vision, remit and background 1

Vision and remit 1

Methodology 1

References and information sources 2

Structure of the report 2

Background 3

Reading this report 5

2 Acute medical care 6

Clinical decision makers 7

Expanding the provision of diagnostic support 7

Improving access to urgent medical assessment and treatment 8

Configuration of acute medical services at the community/hospital interface 8

The spectrum of acute care 8

Models of acute medical care provision 9

Urgent care centres 10

Acute deterioration in long-term illness 11

Acute medical illnesses in nursing homes, residential homes and community 12

hospitals

End-of-life care 13

Emergency medical care 13

The emergency care network 13

Navigating acute medical services: getting the patient to the right person, 14

in the right place – first time

Pre-hospital care and ambulance services 16

iii

Page 67



Acute medical admission to an acute hospital – generic principles 17

Acute and local hospitals 17

Emergency medicine and acute medicine 19

Acute medical care in hospitals without an emergency department 20

Acute specialist medical services 20

Acute general surgery 20

Acute medicine and acute general surgery – configurations 21

Watershed conditions 21

Critical care (high dependency and intensive care) 21

Patient flow and planning the transfer of care (discharge planning) – generic 22

requirements

Leadership, organisation and management 22

3 Patient safety and clinical effectiveness 24

Standardising the assessment of illness severity 24

Improving the standard of patient clinical records and documentation 25

Standardising clinical management protocols for common acute medical illness 25

Monitoring clinical performance – clinical performance indicators 26

The importance of accurate clinical coding in acute medical care 26

Recording patient and carer experience 26

Information technology 26

4 Acute medical care within hospitals 28

The acute medical unit 29

AMU configuration 30

Location 30

Size 30

Design principles 31

Operational principles 32

Patient flows – gearing up capacity to meet changes in demand 33

Interface with other specialties and their bed bases 34

Acute medicine commitment from medical specialties 34

Specialist in-reach 34

Care of older people: special considerations for older patients admitted 34

to hospital with acute medical illness

Access to diagnostics 35

iv

Acute medical care

Page 68



Patient transfers to the specialty bed base 35

Configuration of the specialty bed base beyond the AMU 36

AMU and medical outreach and the acute response team 36

Acute medical unit staffing and operations – general principles 37

The medical team 37

The nursing team 38

Other acute medical unit staff 38

Acute medical unit ward rounds, patient review and handover of care 39

Extended day working 40

5 Workforce planning, education, and training 41

The acute medical unit as a training environment 41

Flexibility and career opportunities 42

Structures important to promote recruitment and retention 43

Job planning and workforce configuration 43

Implications for job planning for specialties 44

Innovative roles 45

Opportunities for medical staff – dual training and dual roles 45

Funding 46

Research and development 47

References 48

Appendix: Further information 49

v

Contents

Page 69



Members of the Acute Medicine Task Force

Executive group

Bryan Williams (Chair), Professor of Medicine, University of Leicester and University

Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust 

Solomon Almond, Consultant Physician, Royal Liverpool Hospital NHS Trust

Derek Bell, Professor of Acute Medicine, Imperial College, Chelsea and Westminster Campus,

London

Mike Jones, President, Society for Acute Medicine

Rhid Dowdle, Vice President, Society for Acute Medicine

Susan Shepherd, Secretary, Royal College of Physicians

Members

George Alberti, National Director for Emergency Access, Department of Health

Graham Archard, General Practitioner, Vice Chair, Royal College of General Practitioners

David Astley, Chief Executive, St George’s Healthcare NHS Trust

Laurence Burke, Acute Physician, Belfast Trust

Stuart Carney, Associate Postgraduate Dean, East Midlands Healthcare Workforce Deanery

and Special Advisor, UK Foundation Programme Office

Chris Clough, Medical Director, Joint Royal Colleges of Physicians Training Board

David Colin-Thome, National Clinical Director for Primary Care and Medical Adviser,

Commissioning and System Management Directorate, Department of Health

Alastair Crosswaite, Primary Care Physician, Lothian NHS

Martin Culshaw, Acute Physician, Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust

Glynis Dack, Senior Nurse, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Trust

Nigel Edwards, Policy Director, NHS Confederation

David Evans, RCP Patient and Carer Network member

James Halsey, RCP Patient and Carer Network member

Taj Hassan, College of Emergency Medicine

Clare Higgens, Consultant Physician, Chair, Acute and General (Internal) Medicine

Committee, Royal College of Physicians

Nick Hulme, Director of Operations, Buckinghamshire Hospitals NHS Trust

vi

Page 70



Paul Jenkins, Acute Physician, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Trust

Kerry Johnston, Matron, Acute Medical Unit, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

Sonya Lam, Director, Allied Health Professionals, NHS Education for Scotland

Kevin O’Kane, Consultant in Acute Medicine, St Thomas’ Hospital, London

Eira Makepeace, RCP Patient and Carer Network member

Alastair McGowan, College of Emergency Medicine

John Miell, Clinical Director for Acute Medicine, Lewisham Hospital NHS Trust

Richard Middleton, General Manager for Medicine and Emergency Department Services,

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

Liz Myers, Nurse Consultant, NHS Tayside

Ben Pearson, Acute Physician, Derby Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Claire Perry, Chief Executive, Lewisham Hospital NHS Trust

Roy Pounder, Royal College of Physicians’ lead for the working time directive

Jonathan Robin, Consultant Physician, Ashford and St Peter’s NHS Trust

Mark Simmonds, Specialist Registrar in Acute Medicine, Queens Medical Centre,

Nottingham Universities NHS Trust

Hannah Skene, Specialist Registrar in Acute Medicine, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham

Universities NHS Trust

Ian Starke, Chair, Specialist Advisory Committee in Acute and General Medicine, Royal

College of Physicians; Clinical Director for Medicine for Older People, Lewisham Hospital

NHS Trust

Chris Streather, Renal Physician, Medical Director, St George’s Healthcare NHS Trust

Ian Sturgess, Consultant Physician, East Kent Hospitals NHS Trust

Audrey Taylor, RCP Patient and Carer Network member

Michael Trimble, Consultant Physician, Belfast Trust

Jenny West, RCP Patient and Carer Network member

Chandi Vellodi, RCP Councillor; Head of Acute Medicine, Barnet and Chase Farm Hospitals

NHS Trust

vii

Acute Medicine Task Force

Page 71



Acknowledgements

As Chair of the Acute Medicine Task Force it has been an honour and a pleasure to have had the

opportunity to work and interact with so many talented people over the past two years. In 2005

Dame Carol Black, past president of the Royal College of Physicians (RCP), recognised the time

was right for an updated RCP report on acute medicine and went on to launch the Task Force.

Since 2006, President Ian Gilmore has been tremendously supportive and has provided invaluable

guidance and advice in managing the many professional interfaces that deliver and depend on

acute medicine services. 

The Task Force brought together a wealth of talent from many stakeholders in acute medical

care, ranging from the full spectrum of healthcare professionals, NHS managers, policymakers

and patient representatives. They all gave their time to participate enthusiastically in discussions

and to support the work of the Task Force in many ways, on many occasions, alongside their

busy lives. It has been inspiring to witness their commitment and passion to continuously

improve acute medical care.  

Beyond the Task Force, there has also been invaluable discussion with leaders and representatives

of many other key stakeholder groups, specialist societies and the Council of the RCP, London:

a process which has further improved this report. It was produced in collaboration with the

Society for Acute Medicine, and many members of the society sat on the Task Force. 

In writing this report, I am indebted to the outstanding work and commitment of the leaders

of the working groups who comprised the executive team: Professor Derek Bell, Dr Solomon

Almond, Dr Mike Jones, Dr Rhid Dowdle and especially Dr Susan Shepherd who was Secretary

to the Task Force and without whose skill and guidance the climb would have been much more

daunting and far less enjoyable. 

October 2007 Professor Bryan Williams

Chair, Acute Medicine Task Force

viii

Page 72



Foreword

In January 2006 the RCP convened a working party – the Acute Medicine Task Force – to consider

in depth the changing landscape of acute medical care in England. The outcome of that work is

distilled into this report and provides a blue print for the development of acute medical services

going into the 21st century. Professor Bryan Williams and members of the Acute Medicine Task

Force are to be congratulated on setting out their vision so clearly.

The care of patients with acute medical illness needs to be improved right across the NHS: to

ensure a consistently high quality of care throughout the service and with respect to access to

an appropriate level of care, out of traditional office hours. This principle applies to patients

developing acute medical illness in the community, as well as to those who develop acute medical

illness while in hospital. 

The report makes a number of recommendations that, if implemented, will improve the efficiency

and efficacy of patient assessment and treatment, while at the same time enhancing their

experience and clinical outcome.

This report is not just for doctors. It is for all those who work in acute medical services and those

who plan, commission, and use them – all of which were reflected in the Acute Medicine Task

Force composition. 

Consultation was at the heart of the way the Acute Medicine Task Force went about its work,

but special thanks are due to the Society for Acute Medicine who collaborated extensively at all

stages in the development of the report.

The RCP wishes acute medical care in the NHS to be at the cutting edge of medicine with rapid

translation of new developments into patient care. The overarching philosophy of this report is

captured by its title – to ensure that patients get access to the highest quality of acute medical

care by the right person, in the right setting – first time. This is a formidable challenge – a challenge

to harness the talent and commitment of all those who work at the front line of medicine to

shape and lead the reform of acute medical services. A challenge to change what we do, when

we do it, and how we do it.

October 2007 Professor Ian Gilmore

President, Royal College of Physicians

ix

Page 73



Executive summary and recommendations

Executive summary

This report of the Acute Medicine Task Force of the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) is about

excellence in the provision of acute medical services, and provides recommendations for the

organisation and delivery of clinical care for people with acute medical illnesses.

Acute medical care

The report makes a number of recommendations, at the heart of which is the need to ensure

that the first assessment of acutely ill patients is by competent clinical decision makers, supported

when necessary by ready access to senior clinical decision makers. Competent decision making

also requires diagnostic support, and the availability of these services must be improved and

better aligned to when and where they are needed. The combination of competent first assessment

and appropriate levels of diagnostic support guarantees that the right assessment and treatment

are delivered – first time. This may be life saving for the critically ill but is important at every

level of illness severity to provide a fast and efficient service. The Task Force wishes to replace

‘see and greet’ with ‘see and treat’.

Patient access to ‘out-of-hospital’ general practice or community-based acute medical care,

especially out of hours, is largely inadequate and inflexible. Too often patients present to acute

hospitals because there is nowhere else for them to go to get the reassurance and care they need.

An expansion of the range of services, providers and facilities offering unscheduled and acute

medical care in the community is required. However, there is an important caveat. Those who

deliver acute care in the community must acquire and maintain the same competencies in acute

medical care as those who deliver it in hospital. This is particularly important in the context of

current policy to move more care into the community and by inference, away from acute hospitals.

Careful planning is required, driven by clear evidence that it will deliver improvements in the quality

of acute medical care. Before existing services are decommissioned, we must be certain that new

services will deliver care that is more convenient, safer and better organised than that offered now.

Acute medical care for older patients

For older patients developing acute illness in community-based longer-term care facilities, we

recommend the wider use of outreach from specialist multidisciplinary hospital teams to manage

these patients more effectively in situ. This would avoid hospital admission whenever possible,

and facilitate it when necessary. In addition, such patients should have long-term care plans that

define the most convenient and appropriate pathways for acute medical care, agreed levels of

intervention, and plans for end-of-life care. 

Acute medical care in hospitals

Acute medical care in hospitals also needs to develop in a number of ways. Not all hospitals admit

patients with life-threatening acute medical illness but those that do should follow the principle

x

Page 74



of ensuring rapid streaming of patients to the right setting. We recommend consolidation of acute

services in large acute hospitals, while taking account of local demographics and the need to provide

safe travel times. 

We support the development of direct acute care pathways for acute myocardial infarction and

acute stroke. We recognise the importance of emergency physicians in the emergency department

(A&E) for the immediate assessment and management of those with a range of undifferentiated

acute illnesses. 

We also endorse and expand recommendations from previous RCP reports about the importance

of the development of acute medicine as a specialty and the establishment of acute medical units

(AMUs) as the focus for acute medical care in hospitals. 

We emphasise the importance of critical care teams and adequate critical care facilities and

support in all hospitals caring for patients with acute medical illness. 

Acute medical care – the front door

However, it is clear that more could be gained by closer working of these related clinical

specialities. We recommend that in large acute hospitals that receive critically ill patients, the

‘front door’ should comprise an ‘emergency floor’ with co-location of the emergency department,

the AMU, critical care, and other acute and urgent care facilities and key support services,

including the ambulance service. This would foster greater integration and collaboration and

would improve the interface between these key services, bringing together their different skill

mixes and expertise within a single setting. In turn, this would facilitate more effective streaming

of patients to the right place for their ongoing care. 

The acute medical unit

We provide detailed recommendations about the remit, configuration and operational policies for

the AMU. The quality of the first 48 hours of acute medical care is an important determinant of

clinical outcomes and we recognise the need to guarantee the quality of this care and access to this

care, 24 hours a day, seven days a week (24/7). The AMU will provide the optimal environment

for acute medical care in hospitals, consolidating the appropriate clinical and support services in

a ‘fit for purpose’ single setting – staffed by clinical staff with competencies in acute medical care

and supported by in-reach from specialist multidisciplinary teams. A closer interface with critical

care teams is essential and many AMUs will require embedded higher dependency care facilities. 

Many patients with acute medical illness will complete their care within the AMU, while those

requiring more specialist ongoing care will be streamed to the specialist bed base within the

hospital network. When deemed appropriate, patients developing acute medical illness in the

community should be streamed directly to the AMU. The new cadre of acute physicians will

need to expand. They will play a key role in the leadership of the AMUs. However, it is essential

that other specialists continue to participate fully in acute medicine to provide a broad-based

skill mix, and to retain their own competencies in acute medical care. 

Some patients develop acute medical illness when in hospital and the quality of the immediate

response and care of these patients must continue to improve, especially out of hours. The AMU

clinical team, working closely with critical care teams, should become the hub for coordinating

medical outreach within hospitals. 

xi

Executive summary and recommendations

Page 75



Emergency care networks

The planning and management of an expanded provision of acute and urgent care options in

the community and in hospitals will require the establishment of emergency care networks in

regions to provide better coordination of acute services. Moreover, some life-saving interventions,

specialist services and complex diagnostics will be provided across local and regional networks,

rather than in every hospital. These networks must be led by senior boards with strong clinical

leadership, comprising key commissioners and providers, with direct accountability. The

networks will need to ensure that patients are granted safe access to acute medical care wherever

they are and whenever they need it. 

Public information

We also recognise that there is little point in developing a wider range of acute services if patients

and staff working within the NHS do not know how to access them. Much more detailed public

information about the remit and boundaries of local urgent and emergency care services is

required and we recommend the development of a local navigation hub, with a well publicised

single access number distinct from 999, that enables a dialogue with a competent decision maker

to reassure and/or direct patients to the most appropriate service within the local network. The

ambulance service will play a key role in acute medical services and we make a number of

recommendations to extend this role and strengthen their interface with acute clinical teams. 

Patient safety and clinical effectiveness

Our report is founded on improving patient safety and we want to ensure that all patients and

staff are confident that acute medical care is of the highest quality wherever and whenever it is

needed. We need to standardise processes for the assessment, documentation and treatment of

acute medical illness across the NHS. We recommend the development and implementation of

an NHS early warning (NEW) score. This NEW score should be familiar to all staff and should

be used to trigger the most appropriate response, either in the community or in hospital. We

also recommend the development of national clinical performance indicators to benchmark and

improve performance. 

Workforce planning, education and training

All of our recommendations have major implications for the NHS workforce – especially for

those working at the front line of acute services. Clinical leadership for local services should

evolve from within the service. Such leadership is essential to drive the development of services

and inspire others to follow. 

We encourage the development of a supportive culture of education, training, self-improvement,

excellence and teamwork founded on the principles at the core of this report, notably patient

safety and quality clinical care. Robust training programmes are required for all staff to guarantee

the competencies required to empower clinical decision making. Training budgets and dedicated

time in job plans must reflect training needs and leadership roles. 

The workforce will need to change and adapt to the requirement for a greater presence of competent

decision makers at the front line of services across extended hours. In so doing, we must recognise

that acute service work is especially demanding and the risk of ‘burn out’ is real. Staff working in

these areas must be supported and their job plans should be flexible and varied, with clear

xii

Acute medical care

Page 76



opportunities for career progression. This is essential to encourage recruitment of the most able

staff into acute specialties at all levels, and to retain the existing expertise. All specialties interfacing

with acute medicine will need to gain and maintain competencies in acute medicine. Acute

medicine should become a mandatory component of the medical undergraduate curriculum.

Research and development

We want acute medical care in the NHS to be at the cutting edge with rapid translation of new

developments into patient care. The evidence base for best practice in acute medical care is

weaker than it should be and needs to be strengthened. For this to occur, the culture of research

and development in acute medical services should be given a higher priority than it has at present.

We have recommended the development of a research and development network for acute

medicine to facilitate this.

Funding

Finally, acute medical care must be adequately resourced and funding mechanisms should be

carefully evaluated to ensure that they do not distort clinical priorities and instead drive the

development of a world class coordinated service, providing comprehensive and safe levels of

care. Acute medical care is not a luxury – we have to get it right, not least of all because one day,

we will all need it.

Recommendations

Acute medical care

We recommend that patients with acute medical illness should get access as soon as possible to

a competent clinical decision maker at the front-line of acute medical services.

We recommend the need for an expanded provision of out-of-hours diagnostic facilities for

community- and hospital-based care. For community care these services should be available as

a minimum for extended seven-day working. However, it is essential that this is aligned to

competent clinical decision making providing a ‘one stop shop’ for certain clinical presentations.

We recommend that within regions there must be a wider range and more innovative options for

acute medical care, scaled to meet patients’ specific needs, fit for purpose and conveniently located.

We recommend that medical care out of hours (both in hospital and community) must be

supported by better access to diagnostics to enable a competent clinical decision maker to

complete an assessment and deliver appropriate treatment first time.

We recommend that defined pathways to facilitate rapid access to specialist in patient care for

people with acute deterioration of long-term illnesses should be developed. These pathways may

also include mental health services and end-of-life care.

We recommend that there should be clear lines of clinical accountability and responsibility and

that the implementation of community care plans should be rigorously evaluated and monitored

to ensure patient safety and satisfaction.

We recommend the development of more multidisciplinary specialist outreach teams from acute

hospitals to support community-based healthcare.

xiii

Executive summary and recommendations

Page 77



We recommend that explicit and effective acute care plans should be developed for patients in

long term care, in order to reduce unscheduled hospital admissions. Such plans should be clear

about levels of agreed intervention and should be discussed and agreed with patients and/or

their representatives, especially regarding levels of intervention and resuscitation. Acute care

plans must be accessible by ambulance services and other responders to acute crises in these

settings. 

We recommend that end-of-life care plans should become an important part of clinical assessment

and ongoing review of patients with terminal illness.

We recommend the development of major acute hospitals serving local regions, providing the

most intensive level of emergency and complex acute medical care. These hospitals should have

major emergency departments co-located with the acute medical unit and critical care units,

ideally as part of an emergency floor.

We recommend that emergency care networks should be established in regions to develop and

coordinate acute services. We further recommend that emergency care networks should be

managed by a Senior Board comprising providers and commissioners with strong clinical

leadership. These Boards must have real power to commission and configure local emergency

services and should be fully accountable for the work of the network.

We recommend the development of a navigation hub for the emergency care network to direct

patients requiring urgent medical care to the most appropriate service.

We recommend that the local navigation hub should have a single, well publicised telephone

number for patients who need access to urgent medical care – this could be integrated with a

more locally relevant NHS Direct service.

We recommend that there is a need for more extensive public information about the role, remit,

and boundaries of the various services within the emergency care network.

We recommend that acute medicine services should be in close geographical proximity to the

emergency department, to facilitate direct access to the AMU for differentiated acute medical

problems for the community. 

We recommend that all hospitals within an acute care network admitting patients with acute

medical illnesses (even those without emergency departments) should establish AMUs as the

focus for acute medical care.

We recommend that AMUs develop an augmented care area (up to level 2 care) and staff with

competences to deliver this level of care. Safe transfer arrangements must be in place to ensure

level 3 care when required.

We recommend that large acute hospitals dealing with complex acute medicine must have on-

site access to level 3 critical care (ie intensive care units with full ventilatory support).

We recommend that a date of transfer of care should become a routine part of the admission

process, and be in place within 12 hours of admission.

We recommend that all AMUs should have nominated clinical and nursing leads for acute medicine.

These leads should work on a regular basis within the unit. Services interfacing with the AMU,

for example, the emergency department, critical care, imaging and primary care. should also have

xiv

Acute medical care

Page 78



xv

a defined clinical lead. We further recommend that leaders of the interface services should meet

on a regular basis to facilitate planning and development of the acute service.

Patient safety and clinical effectiveness

We recommend that clinical assessment, clinical documentation and clinical management of

common acute medical conditions should be standardised nationally, to reflect best practice.

This would improve clinical practice, support clinical governance, and facilitate case review,

transferability of clinical information and clinical audit.

We recommend that the physiological assessment of all patients should be standardised across

the NHS with the recording of a minimum clinical data set result in an NHS early warning

(NEW) score.

We recommend that a working group is commissioned to develop the NEW score and evaluate

it. This work should take into account both the levels of training and the setting of the healthcare

professionals making these assessments.

We recommend that the NEW score be used at all stages in the acute care pathway, including

pre-hospital assessment, eg by the GP, ambulance service or other healthcare professionals

seeking advice on acute medical care. The NEW score should also be used as part of inpatient

assessment of illness severity and as a trigger for appropriate prioritisation of patient review. 

We recommend that all healthcare staff would be trained in the use of the NEW score and the

level of response required at each level of NEW scoring.

We recommend that documentation should be standardised across the NHS in three key areas: 

i clerking forms for acute medical admissions to hospital

i inpatient basic observation charts eg for temperature, pulse rate, blood pressure,

conscious level and urinalysis, which could be part of the NEW scoring 

i inpatient drug and iv fluid prescription charts.

We recommend that roll-out of the EPR, when available, should be prioritised for acute care

areas – this would help standardise the ongoing documentation by multiple practitioners and

carers and also improve hand-over and transfer of care documentation – all of which are

important guarantors of patient safety.

We recommend standardising clinical management with the development of evidence-based

national guidance for the clinical management of common acute medical illnesses. This would

improve patient care and provide a more effective basis for training and audit.

We recommend that an approved list of national clinical performance indicators (CPIs) should

be developed for acute medical care. These should be used to provide a more standardised

evaluation of clinical performance and outcomes for out-of-hospital and in-hospital acute

medical care. These should assess at least three domains: mortality; some cause-specific outcomes

and patient satisfaction and experience.

We recommend that accurate clinical coding information should be recorded by a competent

clinician on the clerking forms.

Executive summary and recommendations

Page 79



We recommend that networks should record data on patients’ experiences of their whole episode

of acute care to help emergency care networks identify ways to improve this service.

We recommend that the provision of reliable, high quality, IT support is prioritised in acute

clinical areas to support efficient working of the emergency care network and its related parts.

Acute medical care within hospital

We recommend that the AMU should be the hub for all acute medical care within hospitals.

This will involve close collaboration with critical care teams and should lead to the establishment

of a single, multidisciplinary Acute Response Team that provides 24/7 outreach care from the

AMU to all areas of the hospital, for patients requiring urgent medical review. Because the clinical

condition of patients in hospital can deteriorate unpredictably at any time, all hospitals will need

an AMU and staff with competencies in acute medical care, irrespective of whether or not they

have an emergency department. 

We recommend that the AMU operates a number of streams for patients related to clinical need.

These include the acutely unwell requiring close supervision and monitoring, short stay patients,

older patients, complex needs patients, and ambulatory care.

We recommend that visitor access to AMUs should be controlled because of the continuous

ongoing admissions process and frequent review of acutely ill patients. The desirability of open

visitor access must be balanced by the priorities of acute clinical care, patient comfort and dignity.

We recommend that the AMU should incorporate sufficient capacity for single sex bay accom-

modation whenever possible recognising that this is not always feasible in monitored environments.

We recommend that where the AMU receives direct admissions, it should have a fully monitored

direct admission area with appropriate levels of medical and nursing staff support and include

modern trolleys/chairs/and waiting areas.

We recommend that AMUs should have operational procedures for defining appropriate and

safe mental health accommodation and behavioural problem areas. This is to cater for patients

with mental illness who develop acute medical problems, or patients with acute medical illness

who develop acute confusional states.

We recommend that the AMU should provide the base for ‘Hospital at Night’ teams and for

‘Hospital out of hours’ services and acute medical outreach. This will need administrative space

and IT support. This focus is appropriate as the majority of patients managed by these teams

have medical problems. For the trainees taking part in these activities, it is important that they

have ready access to the senior physicians working within the AMU for support and educational

feedback.

We recommend that the AMU should also contain ready access to teaching and training facilities

for staff and students. For larger units a seminar room for teaching and training should be

embedded because it is less practical for staff to leave the AMU for training periods.

We recommend that transfer of care planning should begin at the time of the initial patient

assessment and an accurate coding of the diagnosis and an estimation of anticipated length of

stay should be recorded for all patients and reviewed regularly.

xvi

Acute medical care

Page 80



We recommend that length of stay for a patient on an AMU should be dictated by the clinical need

of the patient and not by predefined arbitrary limits – this will involve typical lengths of stay of

between 24–72 hours, with an average length of stay in established AMUs of approximately 24–30

hours, allowing many patients to complete their episode of care with the same clinical team.

We recommend that the pace of life in the main hospital bed base beyond AMU must be geared

to respond dynamically to changes in demand so as to increase capacity during busy periods.

This gearing requires real time monitoring of demand and capacity, and robust escalation policies

that are capable of responding quickly to early signals to distribute acute pressures more evenly

from the front door to the entire bed base. This gearing must also involve community bed access

beyond the acute hospital and must be operational 24/7.

We recommend that modern acute hospitals will require daily clinical review of the entire bed

base by a competent clinical decision maker to ensure efficient patient flows and to reduce length

of stay. This is an essential component of gearing to meet fluctuations in demand.

We recommend that physicians from other medical specialties continue to commit to sessions

in their contract dedicated to acute medicine on the AMU. This provides a healthy mix of

disciplines working in the acute care environment and enables all participating medical specialists

to retain competencies in acute clinical care.

We recommend clearly defined contact pathways for named senior clinical opinions (SpR or

consultant) should be on a rota for all specialties likely to require regular interaction with the

AMU. These include: geriatric medicine, gastroenterology, diabetes and endocrinology,

dermatology, rheumatology, neurology, cardiology, respiratory medicine, infectious diseases and

mental health teams

We recommend that specialty teams should develop rotas of clearly identified adequately

experienced staff who can provide advice or attend and review patients expeditiously on the

AMU, within a maximum of 4 hours of a request and ideally sooner. This is important for clinical

governance, patient safety, education, and to facilitate efficient patient discharge.

We recommend that AMUs tailor their operations to meet the needs and expectations of an ageing

population with more complex illness. Operational policies should reflect this to ensure the

dignity and the highest quality of care for frail, older and vulnerable patients with acute illness.

This requires a multiprofessional approach, working in close liaison with the specialist teams.

We recommend that there should be no discrimination on the basis of patient age when decisions

are made about access to acute medical services, and about the quality of service subsequently

provided and received.

We recommend that the AMU should have scheduled seven-day access to diagnostic and

treatment procedures such as diagnostic GI endoscopy, echocardiography, diagnostic ultrasound,

bronchoscopy and CT and MR imaging – with easy and convenient access for larger AMUs in

large acute hospitals, and available to smaller AMUs via clearly defined pathways within the local

emergency care networks.

We recommend that there should also be 24/7 urgent access to ‘life saving’ interventions such

as GI endoscopy within the emergency care network, ideally located on the same site as the AMU

in large acute hospitals. 

xvii

Executive summary and recommendations

Page 81



We recommend that patients requiring continued specialist inpatient care should be streamed

from the AMU to a hospital bed base appropriate to their clinical needs as defined by their

diagnosis and illness severity. When patients require inpatient care within the specialty bed-

base, there should be no barriers for patient transfer to that bed base. Patient transfers from the

AMU should only occur if the receiving environment provides an appropriate, safe and sufficient

level of continuing acute clinical care – this is an important consideration for the most acutely

ill patients out of hours and at weekends.

We recommend that the acute hospital bed base beyond the AMU should reflect the patient

need. The configuration of the hospital bed base with regard to specialty should reflect the acute

care demand. The bed configuration of most hospitals needs to be reconfigured to match the

acute patient flows and demand to ensure that there is the greatest opportunity to transfer

patients to the most appropriate specialty destination for their ongoing clinical care.

We recommend that the AMU should be the hub for coordinating acute medical outreach care

and many of the activities currently undertaken by the Hospital at Night team and out-of-hours

medical cover arrangements for the hospital. This would provide a focus for coordinating acute

medical outreach care and would provide continuity and review to ensure the patient is cared

for in the most appropriate environment according to their dependency score.

We recommend that acute medical outreach should involve much greater integration between

the existing on-call medical team and the critical care outreach team with competencies in

emergency resuscitation, airway management and acute medical care. This could result in the

development of a multidisciplinary acute response team (ART) that would replace the

independent medical on-call and critical care outreach teams and would provide a single team

to respond to urgent calls for support. 

We recommend that consultant work patterns should include protected session time for AMU,

ideally in blocks of days. Seven-day blocks are considered too onerous and work less well. Precise

work patterns should be developed to reflect local needs and all other clinical duties and

responsibilities should be cancelled for clinical staff while working on AMU.

We recommend that junior medical staff should be allocated to the AMU in blocks, for example,

two to four months at a time. This helps build teamwork and provides a concentrated period

of time to develop competencies in acute care. The model of junior medical staff ‘dipping in and

out’ of AMU for isolated short shifts of duty is strongly discouraged as being much less effective,

less safe and an inadequate training experience. Acute physicians must be their mentors and be

responsible for their training and appraisal during this attachment. Physicians must never work

in isolation in acute medicine.

We recommend that nurses based in AMUs should develop enhanced skills (ECG, venepuncture,

cannulation, IV drugs, arterial blood gas analysis). Those working in higher dependency areas

should develop and maintain critical care competencies. It is also important that nurses have

had experience of nursing patients with severe physical disability, lack of which may compromise

outcomes and delay transfer of care.

We recommend that nurses based in AMU should also be encouraged to develop specialist

nursing skills by secondment or rotation. Larger AMUs should designate a lead nurse with clinical

leadership and training responsibilities for specific specialist areas, such as critical care, NIV,

xviii

Acute medical care

Page 82



asthma care and oxygen therapy, care of the elderly, mental health and so on. Likewise, nurses

from specialties other than acute medicine should be seconded to, or rotate to, the AMU to

acquire and maintain competencies in undifferentiated acute medical care. 

We recommend that the clinical team on the AMU should be consultant led.

We recommend that there should be a twice-daily consultant-led ward round/review of all

patients in the AMU, seven days a week, to support ongoing decision making and to review the

management plans and results.

We recommend that the NEW score and plans for investigations and discharge or transfer plans

for each patient should be clearly displayed within the AMU using a ‘clinical management board’

and should be reviewed and updated regularly and at the end of every ward round.

We recommend that there must be time included in the shift patterns for junior medical staff to

ensure there is a formal handover of care, akin to that adopted for many years by nursing teams.

We recommend new models of working that are predicated on ensuring adequate levels of

competent clinical decision makers are present on the AMU and other front-line services 24/7.

Workforce planning, education and training

We recommend that exposure to the AMU should be part of the core undergraduate medical

curriculum.

We recommend that medical and nursing education and training leads are identified to promote

and coordinate education and training for medical and nursing AMU staff.

We recommend that all medical specialties in acute hospitals or in emergency care networks

servicing acute hospitals will need to acquire and maintain competencies in the assessment and

clinical management of acute medical problems pertinent to their specialty. This important

aspect of training needs to be incorporated into specialist training programmes.

We recommend that training objectives for physiotherapists and occupational therapists should

be adopted for all allied health professionals in AMUs.

We recommend that flexible career options are encouraged and maintained for those practising

acute medicine.

We recommend that the typical programmed activities that are available within a job plan should

be comparable across AMUs according to the commitment of the individual. This will facilitate

job planning and is a piece of work that should be promoted within management. Within job

planning there must be a reasonable balance of capacity and demand with regard to the activity

of the AMU and the personnel available.

We recommend that job planning recognises the work that flows from the clinical interface

including the necessary administrative work and talking to carers and relatives.

We recommend the development of nationally agreed allocations of programmed activities to

these roles and model job plans to facilitate equitable job planning and appropriate resource

(both staff and funding) allocation to prioritise and sustain the proposed reconfiguration and

enhancement of acute medical services for patients.

xix

Executive summary and recommendations

Page 83



We recommend that people working in support roles should not work in isolation, but must

work as part of a multidisciplinary team with clear lines of responsibility and support.

We recommend standardisation of training packages for transferable skills to ensure their wider

and more consistent application. This will also decrease the need for local initiatives that may

restrict the ability of the trainee to extend their role beyond a specific department or clinical

discipline. 

We recommend that there should be opportunities for doctors who are skilled at acute and

critical care medicine to combine these interests and train in both acute medicine and critical

care medicine to CCT level. There should also be opportunities for primary care physicians to

train in acute medicine and to work within the AMU.

We recommend that new training structures are sufficiently flexible to allow physicians to train

in related areas of acute care to CCT level and thereby develop job plans that allow them to

combine clinical roles beyond the AMU, eg AMU, ITU, or Emergency Department

responsibilities.

Funding

We recommend that clinical leaders develop an understanding of the funding mechanisms so

as to allow them to effectively impact on service development and ultimately, patient care.

We recommend that payment systems and tariffs should be better aligned to best clinical practice

so that they do not distort clinical priorities.

We recommend that funding mechanisms should be adjusted to incentivise the development of

high quality emergency and acute medical care while at the same time not disenfranchising

chronic disease management.

Research and development

We recommend the establishment of a national clinical research network for acute medicine that

will provide the infrastructure for high quality research programmes in acute medical care.

As explained on p5 under Reading this report, additional points are set out in the body of the report

in green but without the preceding words ‘we recommend’. These should also be regarded as Task

Force recommendations.

xx

Acute medical care

Page 84



Glossary

Acute care common stem programme: a training programme immediately after foundation

years that incorporates experience in acute medicine, emergency medicine, anaesthetics and

critical care over a two-year period.

Acute medicine is that part of general (internal) medicine concerned with the immediate and

early specialist management of adult patients suffering from a wide range of medical conditions

who present to, or from within, hospitals requiring urgent or emergency care.

Acute physician: a doctor who has taken responsibility for acute medical care within an acute

medical unit and, often, administrative responsibility for that unit. 

Acute medical unit: a specialised area of an acute hospital where patients suffering from acute

medical illness can be assessed and initially admitted.

Acute response team: a team of individuals who have the capacity, and are equipped, to respond

to urgent patient need. This may be an acute clinical need and the team is often based in a critical

care setting or, in the context of a social work response team, may be responding to the patient’s

complex needs.

Ambulatory care is clinical care which may include diagnosis, observation, treatment and

rehabilitation, that is not provided within the traditional hospital bed base or within traditional

out-patient services, and that can be provided across the primary/secondary care interface. 

In the context of acute medicine, it is care of a condition that is perceived either by the patient

or by the referring practitioner as urgent, and that requires prompt clinical assessment, under-

taken by a competent clinical decision maker. The healthcare setting may vary, but for optimal

clinical care will often require prompt access to diagnostic support.

Ambulatory care must be high quality care, designed to ensure the best outcomes for patients.

It is the responsibility of those delivering the care to ensure that resources are deployed in the

most cost-effective manner.

CCT (Certificate of Completion of Training): this is awarded to trainee doctors who successfully

complete a training programme.

Clinical discussion: there has been an erosion of clinical discussion opportunities at the

primary/secondary care interface. There is a real need for more effective dialogue between clinical

decision makers to direct the patient to the most appropriate urgent care facility for their needs,

and reduce the default to hospital admission.

Clinical performance indicators: comparative data that demonstrate the performance of a

clinical service compared with others or more frequently agreed standards.

Competent clinical decision maker: competence in clinical decision making comes after a period

of specific training to use the various tools of clinical assessment combined with appropriate

use and interpretation of investigation. This facilitates the development of a rational differential

diagnosis followed by prompt, safe and effective treatment of the patient. These skills are subject

xxi

Page 85



to assessment by more senior members of the team who have already developed these specific

competencies.

Emergency admission: an admission that is unpredictable and at short notice because of clinical

need, including:

i to an A&E or dental casualty department of the hospital

i to a GP – after a request for immediate admission has been made direct to a hospital,

ie not through a bed bureau

i to a bed bureau

i to a consultant clinic, of this or another hospital (healthcare provider)

i patients admitted from the A&E department of another hospital where they had not

been admitted.

Emergency medicine: a field of practice based on the knowledge and skills required for the preven-

tion, diagnosis and management of acute and urgent aspects of illness and injury affecting patients

of all age groups with a full spectrum of undifferentiated physical and behavioural disorders. It

further encompasses an understanding of the development of pre-hospital and in-hospital

emergency medical systems and the skills necessary for this development.

Within this definition, the day-to-day practice of emergency medicine in the UK encompasses the

reception, resuscitation, initial assessment and management of undifferentiated urgent and

emergency cases and the timely onward referral of those patients who are considered to require

admission under inpatient specialist teams or further specialist assessment and/or follow up.

Consultants in the specialty have responsibilities for the standards of care in emergency departments

as well as the training and development of staff within these departments. Emergency medicine

consultants contribute to research into all aspects of emergency medicine, including accident

prevention and related subjects.

Source: College of Emergency Medicine

Emergency care networks: these were established by the Department of Health under the auspices

of reforming emergency care. The defined remit of this was:

i to optimise the emergency care of all patients in the locality

i to ensure that the patient perspective and quality of care are the priorities in planning

emergency healthcare in the local health and social care community

i to ensure ease of access to appropriate services at the appropriate time without

unnecessary duplication for the patient and in line with national standards

i to coordinate emergency healthcare across all organisations in a community

i to ensure the engagement of external organisations whose services contribute to the

effective delivery of emergency care

i to work with health and social care commissioners to determine priorities in

emergency care

i to promote knowledge of developments in emergency care among health and social

care professionals and users

xxii

Acute medical care

Page 86



i to develop and maintain improvement work including that initiated by the

Emergency Services Collaborative

i to agree and develop local standards and protocols to facilitate comparative audit and

training.

Extended day working: working hours that are outside the traditionally accepted 9 am–5 pm.

Extension of the day may include 7.30–8 am starts and/or completion by 9 pm.

Hospital during the day and night: the Hospital at Night team has developed as a

multiprofessional team providing care across a hospital site to cope with the unexpected needs

of patients at night. This is now being extended to cope with similar problems during the day. 

Levels of care: critical care includes Level 2 and Level 3 patients:

Level 1: patients at risk of their condition deteriorating, or those recently relocated from

higher levels of care, whose needs can be met on an acute ward with additional advice and

support from the critical care team.

Level 2: patients requiring more detailed observation or intervention including support for

a single failed organ system or postoperative care and those ‘stepping down’ from higher

levels of care (eg HDU).

Level 3: patients requiring advanced respiratory support alone or basic respiratory support

together with support of at least two organ systems (eg ICU).

Source: Critical to success, Audit Commission, London, 1999

National early warning score (NEW): a proposed physiologically based system of scoring a

patient’s condition to help determine severity of illness and predict patient outcomes. Although

many similar systems may exist, the development of a national system would promote clinical

communication and facilitate wide adoption.

Navigation hub: a mechanism by which the frequent opacities of pathways of patient care may

be overcome. This takes the form of a locality-based organisation that is able to direct, in real

time, patients or clinicians to the service that is most appropriate for their needs. 

Out-of-hours services: services provided outside of traditional working hours usually by primary

care organisations to cope with unexpected acute illness.

Payment by results: a Department of Health initiative that should provide a transparent, rules-

based system for paying trusts. It should reward efficiency, support patient choice and diversity

and encourage activity for sustainable waiting time reductions. Payment will be linked to activity

and adjusted for case mix. For acute care there may be a perverse incentive for trusts to promote

more admissions to increase income.

Physician of the day: the consultant physician who is responsible for the acutely ill medical

patients admitted to hospital within a specified 24-hour period.

Primary care provides the assessment, management and prioritisation of undifferentiated

problems in the general population in all age groups. Most of this care is delivered by GPs and

their teams.

Senior clinical decision maker: a medical practitioner who has the competencies and experience

to make a prompt clinical diagnosis and decide the need for specific investigations and treatment,

the mode of treatment and the most appropriate setting for that treatment and ongoing care.

xxiii

Glossary

Page 87



Short stay unit: a specialised in-hospital unit that provides care for patients whose inpatient stay

is expected to be short.

Specialist registrar: a senior medical trainee who is on a specific specialty based training

programme before being awarded a CCT (see above). This is the grade that is usually followed

by appointment to consultant.

ST3/ST2 trainees, FY2/CMT FY1: grades of medical trainee. ST = specialty training and the

number refers to the year of training. Thus a ST1 is a specialty trainee in year 1 of training. FY=

foundation year and the number also refers to the year in training. Thus an FY1 doctor is in the

first year of foundation training and in their first year beyond medical school. CMT = core

medical training ie years ST1 and ST2 in medicine. ST3 and beyond are equivalent to the old

specialty registrars. This terminology is the subject of further change. 

Transfer of care: relates to patients moving within disparate areas of healthcare or from healthcare

to social care. In either case the associated information transfer must be robust to support high

quality patient management

Urgent care provides the assessment and management of common problems where the patient

thinks there is a moderate degree of urgency. Much of this care is delivered by GPs and their

teams, although GP out-of-hours services, urgent care, and emergency departments deal with

increasing numbers of patients with urgent care needs.

Urgent care centres: these are becoming increasingly popular in a variety of locations as a means

of front ending emergency and urgent care services with a non-appointment primary care

service. The model is seen in two main forms: a ‘front door’ pre-emergency department, where

the service is an optional stream for patients attending without an appointment who have a

minor injury or illness presentation; and remote services which build – in some cases – on

existing community facilities such as a walk-in centre, minor injury unit or community hospital. 

xxiv

Acute medical care

Page 88



1 Vision, remit and background

Vision and remit

1.1 This report is for medical practitioners, nurses, allied health professionals, deaneries, policy-

makers, commissioners, health service managers, the public, and all others concerned with the

design and modernisation of acute medical services. The recommendations provide explicit

guidance for change and development within acute medicine, and for other directly related

services.

1.2 Our vision is a new system of acute medical care, led by a modern, well-trained and flexible

workforce, working in facilities fit for purpose, offering wider and more convenient access. The

title of the report captures its overarching philosophy – to ensure that all patients with acute

medical illness get access to the highest quality of acute medical care, wherever they are, by the

right person, in the right setting – first time.

1.3 The Acute Medicine Task Force was established by the Royal College of Physicians of

London, and comprised a broad group of key stakeholders involved in the design and delivery

of acute medicine services, both in the community and in hospitals.

1.4 The remit of the Task Force was to provide recommendations for the organisation and

delivery of clinical care for people with acute medical illnesses. The remit was necessarily wide

ranging to capture the complexity of the many interfaces between services, professions, and

patients, which ultimately impact on the delivery of safe and efficient acute medical care.

However, the Task Force was mindful of the need to produce a pragmatic and focussed report

with practical examples to aid implementation.

1.5 The report aims to identify the overarching principles for acute medical care that can

be configured to meet local circumstances and needs. These principles take full account of

issues such as size and scale of services, existing community and hospital configurations and

the impact of rural settings and community demographics, all of which will influence local

implementation.

Methodology

1.6 The Task Force held two scoping meetings to explore the remit and consider previous

reports from the royal colleges1–7 and other professional bodies and agencies, as well as examples

of service configurations nationally and internationally. In order to complete its work the Task

Force divided into three working groups, to examine issues in greater depth:

i access to acute medical care

i the acute medical unit

i workforce planning, education, and training.

1

Page 89



1.7 Each working group met twice, and the product of this work forms the content of subsequent

sections of the report. Overlap between the remits of the working groups was resolved by cross-

group discussion. Additional evidence was gathered from the organisations acknowledged in the

report. Notes of the working group meetings were circulated to all members of the Task Force for

review and comment.

1.8 A smaller executive group comprising the Task Force Chair, Working Group Chairs, and

the Secretary met on a number of occasions to review material and draft the report. The first

draft was presented to the full Task Force in February 2007, and was circulated to a number of

stakeholders for comment.

1.9 The Task Force executive considered comments from this extensive review process and

produced a second draft which was presented to the RCP Council in July 2007. Comments from

this meeting, plus material gathered from an additional round of consultations, were incorporated

into a final draft that was re-submitted to the RCP Council in September 2007.

References and information sources

1.10 The Task Force identified a number of key reports and publications,1–7 and many more

excellent examples of good practice, to help frame and support its recommendations. The

challenge was to produce a report that described generic principles and was of appropriate length,

but which at the same time did not lose the opportunity to provide more practical examples to

facilitate local implementation. It was decided that key reports would be referenced in the

conventional way. However, a web-based reference source will be created to provide additional

information on some of the aspects covered. The advantage of this approach is that it allows

regular updates. Moreover, it provides a mechanism to add a ‘tool kit’ element to the report by

citing practical examples of innovative practice to support local implementation. The many

excellent documents that the Task Force took into account while carrying out its work are set

out in Appendix: further information (p49).

Structure of the report

1.11 The primary focus of this report is acute medicine. However, the complexity of acute

services and ongoing changes to health service configuration mean that it was neither possible

nor desirable to consider the role of acute medicine in isolation. The Task Force recognised that

the continued development of acute medicine is essential to deliver a high and consistent standard

of acute medical care. This report identified a key role for acute medicine at the very heart of

local emergency care networks, with a much stronger interface with primary care and community-

based services and with ambulance services; much greater in-reach and outreach of specialist

services and their multiprofessional teams; and a central role for acute medicine teams in

coordinating and delivering acute medical care in hospitals.

1.12 The report is in five sections: 

i section 1 deals with the vision and remit

i section 2 discusses aspects of access to acute medical care

i section 3 is about aspects of patient safety and clinical effectiveness

2

Acute medical care

Page 90



i section 4 discusses acute medical care within hospitals

i section 5 is about workforce development, education, and training and concludes

with comments and recommendations on funding and on the importance of research

and development in acute medical care.

Background

1.13 A number of reports directly related to the development of acute medicine as a specialty

have been published, most recently by the RCP in 2004.6 For the purpose of this report the

definition of acute medicine used in the RCP 2004 report has been updated to reflect our

recommendation for an extended role for acute medicine in coordinating the care of patients

who develop acute medical illness while in hospital.

1.14 Acute medical services and the provision of acute medical care in our hospitals have

evolved rapidly over the past decade. Acute medical emergencies are the most common reason

for admission to an acute hospital and acute medicine is the fastest growing specialty in medicine.

1.15 There have been a number of recent drivers for change in the provision of acute medical

services, the most important of which have been patient safety and the need to continue to

improve the quality, efficiency and consistency of acute medical care; clinical governance; the

need to train within the specialty; and professionalism.8

1.16 Other levers for change include:

i an increased number of elderly patients with complex needs, presenting to hospital

and requiring urgent or emergency care

i acutely ill patients of all ages presenting to hospitals for out-of-hours care, exacerbated

by recent changes in out-of-hours provision in primary care, which remains inadequate

to service the needs of patients, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week (24/7)

i emergency access targets to improve patient flow and experience 

i workforce reconfiguration as a result of implementation of the European Working

Time Directive (EWTD) for clinical staff and the resulting reduction in working

hours and changes in shift patterns

i job planning and the competing demands of elective work and unscheduled work and

the need for a greater prominence of senior clinical decision makers across extended

hours of work and out of hours

i changes in medical training with an increasing focus on more direct supervision,

more formal appraisal and assessment of trainees

3

1 Vision, remit and background

Acute medicine is that part of general (internal) medicine concerned with the

immediate and early specialist management of adult patients suffering from a

wide range of medical conditions who present to, or from within, hospital

requiring urgent or emergency care. 

Page 91



i a reduction in medical beds in acute hospitals and a drive to reduce acute hospital

admissions and the length of inpatient stay

i reconfiguration of hospital services and a reduction in community hospital beds.

1.17 Alongside these changes there have been recent reports advocating major reconfiguration

of acute medical services across the NHS which aim to provide greater choice for patients with

respect to where and from whom they receive services – predicated on a philosophy of greater

provision of clinical care closer to home and a reduction in traditional models of inpatient care.

1.18 The model set out in the government’s White Paper, Our health, our care, our say: a new

direction for community services,9 has recommended shifting a significant amount of chronic

disease management into the community and by inference a reduced dependence for chronic

disease management on hospitals and secondary care. This implies that the balance of work

within hospitals would shift more towards acute care and the management of more complex

chronic diseases.

1.19 Pursuing this theme, the recent report, Healthcare for London: a framework for action,10

has suggested models for reconfiguration of services in London which have also recommended

shifting towards ‘more healthcare at home’. This report describes models that would have a major

impact on the design and configuration of acute medical services that could be applied nationally.

These include the development of ‘polyclinics’, elective surgery centres, and urgent care centres.

The report suggests that while most inpatient care would be provided by the traditional local

hospital, some hospitals would be designated ‘specialist centres’ and others dealing with the most

complex cases, ‘major acute hospitals’. Consistent with this theme the recent Department of

Health report, Mending hearts and brains,11 has recommended defined clinical pathways and

specialist centres for the emergency care of acute myocardial infarction and stroke.

1.20 Within hospitals there has been recent focus on emergency medical care and acute medicine

in three reports, from the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges,12 from the National Institute for

Health and Clinical Excellence report13 and the report of the National Confidential Enquiry into

Patient Outcome and Death Emergency Admissions Study.14 These reports highlight the intense

focus on improving the quality of acute medical care.

1.21 There are major considerations flowing from the proposals made. Firstly, the need to be

certain that new systems of care are better and more cost effective and affordable than the systems

they replace. Reconfigured services will need to be more effectively and proactively managed

from a strategic perspective, with stronger clinical leadership from front-line clinicians, greater

collaboration between strategists, commissioners and providers, and clearer lines of

accountability and responsibility for acute service provision. This will necessitate the

establishment of ‘unscheduled care boards’ to manage emergency networks within regions. This

is particularly important for the development of well-coordinated and high quality acute services.

Funding mechanisms should drive the strategy and must not distort clinical priorities.

1.22 Whatever models of service are ultimately adopted, the reconfigured services should

provide more efficient patient access to acute care whenever they need it, whether that need

develops within the community or from within hospitals. The response to patients’ needs

requires more rapid and more flexible access – especially out of traditional office hours – to

senior and competent clinical decision makers. Wider access to simple and complex diagnostics

4

Acute medical care

Page 92



and life-saving interventions, and a nationally standardised approach to the clinical assessment,

documentation and management of acute medical illness are essential. All of which should be

subject to audit and quality control.

1.23 However, there is little point in developing a wider range of acute services if patients and

staff do not know how to access them. Emergency care networks must establish more effective

navigation systems, that are themselves easy to access, and that more clearly signpost the most

appropriate and direct routes of access to acute care, 24/7.

1.24 Clinical leadership is essential. If healthcare is to change, then healthcare professionals

must not only change with it, but also embrace and lead the change to ensure the focus remains

on patient safety and improving clinical outcomes. This will require major changes in workforce

configuration, and more flexible working patterns and careers. Working time directives have

provided a challenge to the continuity of care within a framework of 24/7 access to acute care.

Reading this report

A key part of the Task Force remit was to provide recommendations for the organisation and delivery

of services for the acutely ill. Where recommendations are made these are identified clearly in the

text in green. So as not to impede the flow of the report, in some places text is set out in green to

give emphasis to a particular point – without the preceding words ‘we recommend’. Where this

occurs, these points should also be regarded as Task Force recommendations. 

Executive summary and recommendations (prelim pp x–xx) gathers together those recom-

mendations clearly identified with the words ‘we recommend’.

5

1 Vision, remit and background

Page 93



2 Acute medical care

2.1 Acute medical services for patients requiring urgent or emergency assessment and

treatment are varied in their extent and quality across the NHS, and need to be improved.

Moreover, the range of services and access to services are often limited and poorly defined –

both for patients and staff working within the health service. 

2.2 Another major problem is that outside normal Monday to Friday ‘office hours’ (hereafter

referred to as out of hours), patients access most of their acute medical care via hospitals. In

some cases this is necessary because of the seriousness of their illness, but in most cases the care

could be provided more conveniently closer to home. 

2.3 Presently, out-of-hours GP- and community-based services are too limited, and most

hospital outpatient services are not designed to provide urgent review and rarely operate out of

hours. This has led many patients to access urgent care via accident and emergency (A&E)

departments. Many of these patients do not need the services of a major acute hospital, which

can be overwhelmed at times by acute attendances. But where else can they go? In some cases a

dialogue with a professional to provide reassurance, or a simple face-to-face consultation – ‘see

and treat’ – is all that is required. In other cases a guaranteed appointment for less urgent review

for an appropriate level of care will suffice. 

6

i Patients with acute medical illness should get access as soon as is possible to a competent

clinical decision maker at the front line of acute medical services.

i Specialist outreach teams from hospitals should play a greater role in delivering acute care for

people with acute exacerbations of chronic illnesses, or requiring rehabilitation in situ, ie in

nursing homes or community hospitals – avoiding default to acute hospital admission.

i Access to acute medical care must be extended out of hours across the full spectrum of acute

care – this means not only complex acute care but also GP-led and other community-based

urgent medical and social care to avoid acute hospitals becoming unnecessarily overwhelmed.

i Within regions, there must be a wider range and more innovative options for acute medical

care, scaled to meet patients’ specific needs, fit for purpose and conveniently located. 

i Acute medical care out of hours (both in hospital and the community) must be supported by

better access to diagnostics to enable a competent clinical decision maker to complete an

assessment and deliver appropriate treatment first time.

i Acute medical care must have guaranteed and clearly defined access to life-saving

interventions, across networks.

i Acute medical care for the most seriously ill must be improved both pre-hospital and in acute

hospitals and there should be safe and convenient access to critical care support when

required.

i Emergency care networks should be established in regions to develop and coordinate the

aforementioned acute services. 

IMPROVING ACUTE MEDICAL CARE – KEY PRINCIPLES

Page 94



2.4 The Task Force identified a number of themes that are essential to improve the delivery

of acute medical care. These ranged from an urgent need to develop a wider range of options

for acute medical care in the community, that are more patient focussed and more flexible,

through to the establishment of major acute hospitals housing specialist acute medical services.

Clinical decision makers

2.5 Two key requirements that underpin many of our recommendations are the need to

provide earlier and extended access to competent clinical decision makers, supported by extended

access to diagnostics which enable rapid and competent clinical assessment first time – avoiding

the need for duplication and in many cases, avoiding the need for acute hospital admission.

We recommend that patients with acute medical illness should get access as soon as possible to

a competent clinical decision maker at the front line of acute medical services.

Expanding the provision of diagnostic support

2.6 Acute medical care in the hospital and community setting is often hindered by inadequate

access to diagnostics to support expedient clinical decision making – especially out of hours.

The lack of direct access to, for example, laboratory and imaging services for pre-hospital and

community-based care may lead to unnecessary hospital attendance and admission. Similarly,

lack of adequate out-of-hours diagnostic support in hospital will prolong length of stay. 

We recommend the need for an expanded provision of out-of-hours diagnostic facilities for

community and hospital-based care. For community care these services should be available as

a minimum for extended seven-day working. However, it is essential that this is aligned to

competent clinical decision making providing a ‘one stop shop’ for certain clinical presentations.

2.7 While the aspiration to improve community access to diagnostics is important, there are

significant training and governance issues regarding the use and interpretation of the information

generated by such investigations, that should be factored into the development and assessment

of the cost effectiveness of such services.

7

2 Acute medical care

A senior clinical decision maker is a medical practitioner who has the

competencies and experience to make a prompt clinical diagnosis and decide

the need for specific investigations and treatment, the mode of treatment, and

the most appropriate setting for that treatment and ongoing care.

A competent clinical decision maker has undertaken a period of specific

training to use the various tools of clinical assessment combined with appropriate

use and interpretation of investigation. This facilitates the development of a

rational differential diagnosis followed by prompt, safe and effective treatment of

the patient. These skills are subject to assessment by more senior members of

the team who have already developed these specific competencies.

Page 95



Improving access to urgent medical assessment and treatment

2.8 Many patients with an acute medical illness requiring urgent review default to an acute

hospital attendance (usually an emergency department), or direct hospital admission because

traditional GP and specialist medical outpatient clinics are not structured to provide a sufficiently

flexible service or rapid response for urgent care. Local emergency care networks should develop

more effective urgent medical assessment and treatment services at the interface between hospital

and community. Examples are rapid access medical outpatient clinics, rapid access diagnostic

services, and the development of medical ambulatory care services, all with clear referral protocols

and supported by competent clinical decision makers. These referral pathways must be available

to all competent health professionals responding to acute crises if they are to be used effectively.

Configuration of acute medical services at the community/hospital interface

2.9 One size will not fit all. The networks should develop a range of different levels of urgent

and emergency care to provide more flexible options to access acute medical care, in more convenient

locations, with extended opening times and more direct access to competent clinical decision makers

– the right person, in the right setting, first time. This must be fast, safe and efficient high quality

care appropriate to the patients’ need. The suggested models diminish the traditional boundaries

between community and hospital-based care and will provide greater integration of all acute services

within the local network. 

The spectrum of acute care

2.10 Within a region, emergency and urgent care will be required at different levels:

i major trauma and life-threatening illness 

i dedicated acute service pathways for specific illnesses, eg myocardial infarction and

stroke

i acute medical care

i acute exacerbations of long-term illnesses, the care of the elderly with acute illness

and end-of-life care

i acute surgical services

i acute mental health services, including those dedicated to the special needs of older

people

i acute paediatric services

i access to simple and/or sophisticated diagnostic support

8

Acute medical care

Patients need to access acute medical care throughout the 24-hour period, not

just within traditional office hours – acute illness does not take holidays and

service redesign must be predicated on providing fast and efficient access to

acute medical care 24/7.

Page 96



i access to out-of-hours primary care and care for people with acute illness

i end-of-life care.

2.11 This list is not exhaustive but serves to underscore the complexity and variety of emergency

care needs. The provision of a fast and efficient service to meet these needs will require redesign

and better coordination between community care, social services, primary care, rehabilitation

services, emergency response and specialist in-hospital services. It will also require a clear strategy

for the coordination of services within local, regional and cross-regional networks. 

Models of acute medical care provision

2.12 The Task Force considered a range of options for expanding the availability of acute

medical care across the local emergency care network. The models are listed below and some

aspects are discussed in more detail. Although this report focuses on acute medical care, the

models are also applicable for access to other urgent care, ranging from minor injury to major

trauma (major acute hospitals). Many of these services would be co-located to ensure integrated

working of healthcare professionals and multidisciplinary teams and more flexible access to

competent clinical decision makers 24/7. The models considered comprise:

i traditional GP surgery

i ‘urgent care centres’ – including urgent geriatric or day hospital assessment units

i ambulatory care services

i specialist outreach services from hospitals for acute deterioration of long-term illness

and complex illness in the elderly

i intermediate care in hospitals

i community hospital beds

i local hospitals

i emergency departments

i critical care

i major acute hospitals. 

2.13 Patients will develop acute medical illnesses of varying complexity and severity. Some are

emergencies requiring life-saving interventions, others require acute hospital admission.

However, many more require simple investigations and treatment that could be better provided

by local GP services, walk-in centres, pharmacies or other settings closer to home. In some cases,

all that is required is dialogue with an experienced healthcare professional to provide reassurance

and advice. 

2.14 Presently, acute medical care is often driven down one of two paths – either hospital or

GP surgery. This is often defined more by the availability and accessibility of the service rather

than the patients’ need. When the GP is not accessible, the patient goes to the hospital – usually

to A&E. 

9

2 Acute medical care

Page 97



2.15 Most routine acute medical care will still be provided by the traditional GP surgery.

However, when this is inconvenient, or the patient perceives a more urgent need, especially out

of hours, then a wider range of safe alternatives are needed – some hospital based, some

community based. 

Urgent care centres

2.16 Not all urgent care requires attendance at the emergency department (A&E) and some

could in future be provided more conveniently by primary care centres and walk-in centres that

are co-located with emergency departments in acute hospitals, or in convenient locations within

the community. They would bridge the gap between the routine GP appointment and hospitals

for some acute medical care. Much of this would be medical care that would normally have been

provided in the GP surgery as a routine appointment, but which is perceived by the patient to

be too urgent to wait. 

2.17 These centres would provide multidisciplinary care that is GP-led, along with nurses,

emergency care practitioners, mental health crisis teams, rehabilitation and social services and

so on, according to local needs. Some could also include multidisciplinary teams offering

specialist acute assessment of older people. The urgent care facilities would require access to

routine diagnostics to support fast and efficient clinical decision making.

2.18 These facilities should operate 24/7 in acute hospitals (where they would ideally be co-

located with emergency departments) and in the community where the operating times would be

scaled to meet local demand. However, they should always offer services outside traditional GP

surgery hours and at weekends and public holidays. A similar model has been proposed in the

recent Healthcare for London – a framework for action report,10 which has described amalgamation

of these services into ‘urgent care centres’. These centres would provide urgent care for self-

presenting acute medical illness, or patients triaged to that level of care by a competent clinical

decision maker. 

2.19 Some patients require urgent medical assessment that currently results in hospital

admission primarily to secure access to a senior clinical decision maker and to undertake more

complex diagnostic procedures. Examples include: evaluation of potential deep venous throm-

bosis; chest pain; acute exacerbations of chronic respiratory disease; exclusion of pulmonary

embolus in a clinically stable patient; and non-life threatening gastrointestinal haemorrhage.

Many of these cases could be managed via an ambulatory care facility staffed by competent

clinical decision makers and co-located within the emergency floor of acute hospitals. Some

10

Acute medical care

Acute medical care in the community There has been recent emphasis on

the potential for more acute medical care to be transferred from the hospital

to the community. To deliver this it will be essential for a much larger number

of GPs to commit to these new roles and develop competencies in acute

medical care equivalent to those now required by the acute medicine

curriculum. Any expansion of GPs with a special interest programmes in

emergency and acute medical care would need close monitoring to ensure

cost effectiveness and safe clinical governance.

Page 98



centres have developed clinical decision units and closer collaboration with acute medicine and

emergency medicine to is to be encouraged in such centres.

2.20 These ambulatory care services differ from the traditional specialist outpatient clinic in

that they provide immediate access to urgent care that would usually require resources and

expertise available in an acute hospital, but without the need for hospital admission to receive

this care.

2.21 The Task Force recommends the following definition of ambulatory care:

2.22 Acute and emergency physicians, in collaboration with specialist teams, should play an

important role in designing and delivering ambulatory care services. The key to the success of

emergency and urgent ambulatory care is the availability of competent clinical decision makers

with immediate access to diagnostic support to facilitate one-stop rapid diagnosis, treatment

and/or reassurance.

2.23 The ambulatory care facility could also provide urgent review of patients discharged from

acute medical units (AMUs) for patients who would otherwise be detained in hospital for

ongoing review, thereby reducing length of stay – ie a rapid review service supporting safe and

earlier discharge from the AMU. 

We recommend that within regions there must be a wider range and more innovative options for

acute medical care, scaled to meet patients’ specific needs, fit for purpose and conveniently located.

We recommend that medical care out of hours (both in hospital and community) must be

supported by better access to diagnostics to enable a competent clinical decision maker to

complete an assessment and deliver appropriate treatment first time.

Acute deterioration in long-term illness

2.24 Current healthcare policy proposes to shift the management of long-term illness to the

community to provide care ‘closer to home’.9 While better management of these long-term

conditions could reduce hospital admissions, it is important to recognise that long-term

11

2 Acute medical care

Ambulatory care is clinical care which may include diagnosis, observation,

treatment and rehabilitation, not provided within the traditional hospital bed

base or within the traditional outpatient services, and that can be provided

across the primary/secondary care interface. 

In the context of acute medicine, it is care of a condition that is perceived

either by the patient or by the referring practitioner as urgent, and that

requires prompt clinical assessment, undertaken by a competent clinical

decision maker. The healthcare setting may vary, but for optimal clinical care

will often require prompt access to diagnostic support.

Ambulatory care must be high quality care, designed to ensure the best

outcomes for patients. It is the responsibility of those delivering the care to

ensure that resources are deployed in the most cost-effective manner.

Page 99



conditions can deteriorate rapidly and community-based management may be inappropriate in

such circumstances. 

2.25 One of the challenges is to ensure accurate and efficient community-based triage of those

patients who will benefit from specialist acute medical care. Consequently, management of long-

term illness by primary and specialist care should include more explicit and effective acute care

plans to avoid unscheduled hospital admissions – but also guarantee acute hospital admission

when needed.

2.26 The Task Force was told that examples exist whereby specialist teams (doctors, specialist

nursing teams and/or rehabilitation teams) from hospitals provide urgent assessment and

treatment for patients under long-term shared care, in the community setting, avoiding admission

to an acute hospital. 

2.27 These services should be an integral part of the emergency care network and should operate

within an agreed framework of acute care plans for long-term illness. These care plans should

be drawn up by clinicians and other carers and agencies responsible for the delivery of acute

care in the community. They should also be developed with patients and their families when

appropriate. They should be available to all health and social care workers and ambulance services

that may be called upon in a crisis. 

2.28 There should be clear lines of clinical accountability and responsibility and the

implementation of community care plans should be rigorously evaluated and monitored to

ensure patient safety and satisfaction. 

We recommend that defined pathways to facilitate rapid access to specialist care for people with

acute deterioration of long-term illnesses should be developed. These pathways should also

include mental health services and end-of-life care.

We recommend that there should be clear lines of clinical accountability and responsibility and

that the implementation of community care plans should be rigorously evaluated and monitored

to ensure patient safety and satisfaction. 

Acute medical illnesses in nursing homes, residential homes and community

hospitals 

2.29 Patients in nursing homes, community hospitals, and residential homes are usually older

with complex long-term illnesses requiring chronic care and/or rehabilitation. The recommenda-

tions regarding long-term illness (see below 2.28) apply. Too often, patients from these settings

are admitted to acute hospitals with inter-current illness that could be assessed and better managed

in situ, without the distress of transfer to an acute hospital. 

2.30 Many of these patients would benefit from specialist outreach from the geriatric medicine

specialist team that could identify more effective options for ongoing care, making more effective

use of a range of intermediate care options, avoiding acute hospital admission, unless necessary. 

We recommend the development of more multidisciplinary specialist outreach teams from acute

hospitals to support community-based healthcare.

We recommend that explicit and effective acute care plans should be developed for patients in

long-term care, in order to reduce unscheduled hospital admissions. Such plans should be clear

12

Acute medical care

Page 100



about levels of agreed intervention and should be discussed and agreed with patients and/or

their representatives, especially regarding levels of intervention and resuscitation. Acute care

plans must be accessible by ambulance services and other responders to acute crises in these

settings. 

End-of-life care

2.31 Few patients die suddenly and unexpectedly. For many, there is time to plan end-of-life

care. Alas, it is tragic that all too frequently, patients with terminal illnesses, or older patients at

the end of life are rushed into acute hospitals as ‘medical emergencies’, only to die soon after,

alone and distressed, outside of the comfort of their own home setting. 

2.32 The wishes of the patient regarding the intensity of intervention and site for end-of-life

care should be clearly documented and respected. Consideration should be given to the

establishment of a local ‘end-of-life register’ so that patients’ wishes are recorded and the agreed

care plans are accessible to all responders to urgent calls for medical assistance. 

2.33 Similarly, in the acute hospital setting, for patients with life-threatening acute illnesses,

discussions and decisions about end-of-life care are essential and should be documented in the

clinical management plan. Guidance and recommendations on the end-of-life care pathway, and

how this should be formulated for individual patients, are being developed.

We recommend that end-of-life care plans should become an important part of clinical assessment

and ongoing review of patients with terminal illness. 

Emergency medical care

2.34 There is considerable potential to improve the emergency care of patients with life-

threatening acute medical illness. It is not possible to provide the highest quality emergency care

for all eventualities in every hospital. Therefore, it is essential that there are defined routes of

access to this level of acute care in every locality. 

2.35 Rapid access to emergency care will also require specialised and dedicated access routes

and care pathways for specific life-threatening acute medical illnesses such as: acute myocardial

infarction, acute stroke and life-threatening gastrointestinal haemorrhage. These would ideally

be co-located within major acute hospitals to take advantage of emergency departments, acute

medicine, critical care expertise, and 24/7 complex diagnostic support on these sites.

We recommend the development of major acute hospitals serving local regions, providing the

most intensive level of emergency and complex acute medical care. These hospitals should have

major emergency departments co-located with the acute medical unit and critical care units,

ideally as part of an emergency floor.

The emergency care network

2.36 The Task Force advocates a much wider range of acute medical services, not all of which

can or should be provided in a single centre. These services must be co-coordinated and optimised

via the establishment of emergency care networks – these are vital to the reform of acute medical

care and to get maximum value from local services. 

13

2 Acute medical care

Page 101



2.37 Emergency care networks should be established in regions (eg within a strategic health

authority) and should design, commission, and coordinate acute medical services. In large regions,

subregional local networks may be necessary, each focussed around major acute hospitals. Specialist

diagnostic, therapeutic and clinical services could be developed at a local or regional level depending

on local need and the requirements for safe access. In some cases, very specialised services (tertiary)

may also be delivered across regional networks at a supra-regional or national level. 

2.38 Thus the acute medical services network should be localised when possible to ensure the

most convenient access to community-based urgent medical care – close to home but consolidated

in specialist acute centres when necessary, to deliver the highest level of emergency care for life-

threatening acute medical illness and complex illnesses.

2.39 The network should aim to provide fast and efficient access to emergency and urgent care

24/7, mindful of the need to avoid duplication. Services in a specific setting should be coordinated,

ensuring safe and rapid patient transit times from all localities, using agreed protocols.

2.40 The closest facility within a network may not always be the most appropriate for a patient’s

acute medical needs. However, the best facility must always be close enough to ensure safe travel

times – the ambulance services must have clear guidance on transfer of acutely ill patients to the

most appropriate facility; 

2.41 Emergency care networks should not be all inclusive ‘talking shops’ – they must be

managed at a regional level (strategic health authority) by a senior board, comprising the full

range of healthcare providers and commissioners with strong clinical leadership. These boards

must have real power to commission and configure the regional and local emergency services

and should be fully accountable for the network. Guidance on emergency care networks has

been provided by the Department of Health.15,16

2.42 Safe and efficient working of emergency care networks will require clear routes of access

for all services and clear remits and boundaries of services within a specific location that are

familiar to patients and healthcare staff, and managed by pro-active navigation. 

2.43 The emergency care network and all components of it should have standard operating

procedures that are familiar to all staff and regularly reviewed and updated when necessary.

We recommend that emergency care networks should be established in regions to develop and

coordinate acute services. We further recommend that emergency care networks should be

managed by a senior board comprising providers and commissioners with strong clinical

leadership. These boards must have real power to commission and configure local emergency

services and should be fully accountable for the work of the network.

Navigating acute medical services: getting the patient to the right person, in

the right place – first time

2.44 With the development of a wider range of options for urgent medical care, there will be

a need for more explicit information about the remit and boundaries of each level of service and

how to access the most appropriate service. This is important for patients, healthcare staff, and

the agencies directing and transporting patients to services.

14

Acute medical care

Page 102



2.45 The navigation hub would have access to the current menu of services for the local network

and would have a clear service map from which to direct patients to the most appropriate service.

The hub operators should build a comprehensive portfolio of existing acute services within the

local network and should identify areas of deficiency requiring service development.

2.46 Although 999 calls would still be used for emergencies, the navigation hub would be a

preferred point of contact for all other acute medical care to ensure that the patient is directed

to the right place – first time. This would range from self-care advice, through to referral of the

more acutely unwell patient.

2.47 A significant objective would be to direct patients away from an unnecessary acute hospital

admission, for example in favour of attendance at an urgent care centre, an early outpatient or

GP follow up or a dedicated specialist outreach service (nursing home for the elderly or for those

with long-term illness, social care or rehabilitation teams, etc) where these options are available,

appropriate and safe.

2.48 The ambulance services (see 2.50–7) can also play an important role in navigating patients

through to the most appropriate local acute medical service to meet their needs and to avoid

delays and duplication in assessment including direct transfer to the acute medical unit.

15

2 Acute medical care

Fig 1 The navigation hub provides a single point of contact in a locality/region for patients and NHS staff

to access urgent medical advice/care. The hub would be staffed by competent clinical decision makers who

could direct patients to the most appropriate local service for their needs. In some cases, advice and

reassurance will suffice. When face-to-face medical assessment and treatment is required this could be

provided either by a guaranteed same/next day appointment with an appropriate local service or hospital-

based rapid access clinic or ambulatory care centre, or direct admission to an AMU when necessary.

Emergencies would be directed to the 999 call centre for emergency response.

Emergency care network
navigation hub

(dedicated telephone number)

999 emergency 
call centre

Direct admission
to AMU

Emergency
response
vehicle

Advice and
reassurance

Booked urgent appointment
• Local GP
• Urgent care centre
• Ambulatory care centre
• Community nurse
• Community mental health team

The clinical discussion: there has been an erosion of clinical discussion

opportunities between healthcare professionals at the community/specialist

care interface. There is a real need for more effective dialogue between

clinical decision makers to direct the patient to the most appropriate urgent

care facility for their needs, reducing the default to hospital admission.

Page 103



2.49 While navigators do not necessarily need a clinical background, it is essential that they

have access to clinical advice via a competent clinical decision maker such as an experienced

nurse. The performance of the navigation service and outcomes must be monitored and audited.

We recommend the development of a navigation hub for the emergency care network to direct

patients requiring urgent medical care to the most appropriate service including direct transfer

to the acute medical unit when appropriate.

We recommend that the local navigation hub should have a single, well-publicised telephone

number for patients who need access to urgent medical care. This could be integrated with a

more locally relevant NHS Direct service.

Healthcare systems have underestimated the ability of the public to access services appropriately

when provided with sufficient information. Therefore, we recommend that there is a need for

more extensive public information about the role, remit and boundaries of the various services

within the emergency care network.

Pre-hospital care and ambulance services

2.50 The ambulance service will play a key role in underpinning the philosophy of this report:

getting patients to the right person, in the right setting – first time. To achieve this, the ambulance

service must be viewed as part of the assessment and treatment processes, and not merely as a

transport service for the movement of acutely ill patients. There are over 20,000 ambulance staff

in England and there is considerable potential to enhance and expand their roles in the initial

assessment and treatment of acutely ill patients, and in the triage of patients to the most appropriate

setting for their ongoing acute care. This will involve enhancing the skills of ambulance staff, and

the development of clear referral pathways and protocols for immediate acute care. 

2.51 The ambulance services and other community response teams must form an integral part

of emergency care teams and have clearly defined roles within the emergency care network,

together with greater dialogue with the hospital-based emergency care teams. This could be

achieved by ensuring that ambulance services are co-located with major acute hospitals.

2.52 Integration is essential and ambulance services should play an important role in delivering

pre-hospital assessment and initiating emergency resuscitation and treatment according to

locally agreed protocols. The national policy for modernisation of ambulance services was

published in 2005.17 Its recommendations are in line with many of the proposals in this report

and are fully supported by the Task Force.

2.53 The quality of emergency call handling by the ambulance service needs to be enhanced

to provide better clinical advice to callers, directing them when possible to a more appropriate

setting for their acute care – ie via liaison with the navigation hub.

2.54 The ambulance service must also provide and coordinate a more diverse range of mobile

healthcare options for patients who need urgent care – ie the provision of ambulance motorcycles

and rapid response cars when they are more appropriate to improve the speed and efficiency of

response.

2.55 To ensure patients with more serious illnesses receive the most effective initial assessment

and treatment ‘at the scene’, the ambulance service needs to expand the number of emergency

16

Acute medical care

Page 104



care practitioners as competent clinical decision makers with enhanced competencies in clinical

assessment, alongside their existing training in time-critical interventions such as resuscitation

and life support. 

2.56 Acute response ambulances must be equipped with modern telemetric technology to

transfer vital clinical data to acute care centres to improve the quality of decision making and

ensure triage to the most appropriate site for ongoing acute care.

2.57 For patients with specific life-threatening acute medical conditions, the Task Force supports

recommendations in the report Mending hearts and brains,11 which states that ambulance services

transfer patients with acute myocardial infarction to specialist units which deliver primary

coronary intervention 24/7. Similarly, patients with symptoms of acute stroke should be

transferred to specialist units with facilities for acute stroke care, supported by imaging and

thrombolysis when required.

Acute medical admission to an acute hospital – generic principles

2.58 The hospital admissions process for acute medical care should be streamlined to allow the

most direct and efficient patient access to an AMU. Patients recognised by a referring agency in

the community to have an acute medical illness requiring hospital-based treatment should have

direct access to an AMU or alternative forms of urgent assessment when required. This streamlines

the patient journey, gives rapid access to a senior medical opinion, reduces unnecessary delays,

and supports the delivery of the emergency care access target. Hospital admission or presentation

at emergency departments should not be seen as the default for all acute medical care.

2.59 The admissions process should start when possible in the community with protocols for

referrals and points of access which are agreed with primary care, the ambulance service and

the navigators. Self-referring patients with an acute medical illness (by whatever mode of

transport they arrive) should have their first clinical assessment by a competent clinical decision

maker to identify the most appropriate route for ongoing care.

Acute and local hospitals

2.60 Local hospitals should continue to provide most inpatient care when required. Some

hospitals should be designated specialist centres, consolidating local services for the provision

of complex specialist medical, surgical and rehabilitation services.

2.61 Some hospitals (other than those designated major acute hospitals) should continue to

provide access for acute medical care, either via emergency departments for undifferentiated

acute care, or direct admission to acute medical units or specialist centres. The configuration of

these hospitals will depend on local needs, workforce considerations and travel times. 

2.62 Local networks should develop major acute hospitals to care for those with life-threatening

illness, either presenting as undifferentiated acute illness or requiring access via specific pathways

for acute medical care, such as acute myocardial infarction or stroke. The ‘front door’ of major

acute hospitals would ideally consist of an ‘emergency floor’ with properly equipped facilities

staffed by a team of clinicians who are competent in managing patients suffering from: 

i illness requiring immediate resuscitation

i acute medical problems

17

2 Acute medical care

Page 105



i acute surgical problems

i major trauma

i minor injuries.

2.63 The emergency floor must be well resourced and would encompass the emergency depart-

ment, the AMU, critical care and specialised diagnostic and assessment areas, working in

cooperation. Acute surgical units should also be co-located if possible. The key is to have the

correct skill mix of clinicians to ensure that all clinical problems presenting acutely can be

managed safely and effectively by a team with appropriate competencies. 

2.64 The emergency floor must be designed to ensure appropriate streaming of patients to the

correct part of the service, avoiding duplication of assessment and of documentation. The ideal

configuration would be that of an emergency floor which would be a series of interlinked facilities

where the skills of the emergency physicians, acute physicians and critical care would work closely

together in the management of the early phases of acute illness. 

2.65 There are excellent opportunities for future generations of trainees to undertake dual

training programmes in these related disciplines that will facilitate even closer working between

these key specialist disciplines. Obstacles to dual training in these clinical specialties must be

overcome to facilitate this important development.

2.66 In addition to geographical co-location, there are a number of process benefits to closely

sited emergency departments, acute medicine and critical care departments. These include

greater cooperation of key emergency services, working across traditional professional

boundaries. Expertise from different disciplines can be rapidly deployed to improve patient care

and throughput. Moreover, this enhances the critical mass of senior and competent decision

makers on the emergency floor for extended day working and ultimately 24/7 cover. 

2.67 The emergency floor would be an ideal site for co-location of in-hospital urgent care

centres which would allow the streaming of patients to the most appropriate level of clinical care

for their needs. In addition, it would be important to co-locate other acute services such as acute

mental health and the ambulance service.

2.68 The extent to which services can be co-located is dependent on which services are on site,

available space, and other demands on services. As hospitals and regional services are reconfigured,

it is important to be mindful of the need to preserve as much real estate as possible on the ground

floor for emergency services. Less acute services, such as large out patient departments, could be

more rationally sited on upper floors, or out with the main hospital building or on sites that do

not receive emergency patients.

2.69 The emergency floor must be supported by the ready availability of both simple and

complex diagnostic services 24/7.

2.70 There are a number of implications regarding the proposed remodelling of access to acute

medical services.

18

Acute medical care

Page 106



Emergency medicine and acute medicine

2.71 Emergency medicine (A&E) and acute medicine are complementary specialities with

different skill sets and competencies that would benefit from closer interaction. There has been

much debate about the role of the emergency department in reconfigured emergency care

networks. Emergency departments have traditionally formed the main access route for emergency

or urgent care – especially out of hours. The emergency department should form an important

part of the emergency access route to an acute hospital within an emergency care network in

both major acute hospitals and hospitals receiving undifferentiated acutely ill patients. However,

the reform of services suggested here is predicated on expanding the range of acute services for

urgent care, thus emergency departments should not be seen as the only access route for urgent

care.

2.72 Patients with acute medical illnesses represent by far the largest proportion of patients

admitted to the bed base of an acute hospital. Patients with acute medical problems fall into one

of two groups: either clearly differentiated (GP or ambulance service) that could be streamed to

the AMU, or undifferentiated cases which will be assessed in the emergency department. 

We recommend that acute medicine services should be in close geographical proximity to the

emergency department, to facilitate direct access to the AMU for differentiated acute medical

problems from the community. 

19

2 Acute medical care

Fig 2 Emergency floor of large acute hospitals. This schematic illustrates some of the components

required for an emergency floor in a major acute hospital. It would be scaled and configured to meet local

needs. This model fosters closer working and more efficient clinical assessment and treatment by the right

person, first time.

*Therapy teams include physiotherapy, occupational therapy, mental health and specialist multidisciplinary teams.

Diagnostic support

Acute surgical unit

Ambulance services

Major trauma

Acute
medical

unit

GP urgent care/
walk-in centre

Mental health team

Paediatrics

Therapy teams*

Ambulatory care

Critical
care

Emergency 
department

Acute
myocardial
infarction

Acute stroke

Page 107



Acute medical care in hospitals without an emergency department

2.73 Some local hospitals within a local emergency care network do not have an emergency

department. However, these hospitals will still need access to acute medical care, ideally

coordinated via an AMU. For example, these hospitals could still deliver direct access to inpatient

acute medical care for a local population according to agreed clinical pathways. Moreover,

patients in these hospitals may develop a need for acute medical care if their clinical condition

deteriorates in hospital. Such hospitals may or may not offer 24/7 acute medical admissions,

depending on local need. Where such AMUs do exist they will need access to higher dependency

care facilities (at least level 2 critical care) as part of a critical care network. This should be

organised through agreed networks of care and protocols. 

We recommend that all hospitals within an acute care network admitting patients with acute

medical illnesses (even those without emergency departments) should establish AMUs as the

focus for acute medical care.

Acute specialist medical services

2.74 In addition to acute medicine, some other specialist services would ideally be located at

the front door, ie with direct routes of access. These could include services for the emergency

care of patients with acute myocardial infarction and acute stroke, where thrombolysis and other

interventions may be required. Each local emergency care network should define specific care

pathways identifying direct routes of access to competent clinical decision makers supported by

appropriate pre-hospital and in-hospital diagnostics for rapid evaluation and treatment of these

conditions.

Acute general surgery

2.75 Major acute hospitals would provide acute surgical services. Access routes for emergency

surgery should be on the same site and co-located with the major AMUs within a network, where

possible. Surgical units need ready access to acute medical services for patients with medical co-

morbidities and for those who develop acute medical complications. Integrated acute medical

and surgical units may provide an ideal solution by increasing access to prompt cross-specialty

opinions.

2.76 Some regions, for a variety of reasons including patient safety and training, have now

consolidated their general surgical services on a single site, which in some instances is on a

different site from acute medicine. This development mandates that staff within AMUs develop

the appropriate competencies to ensure a full evaluation and initial management plan for every

patient, including those developing complications likely to require surgery. 

When required, we recommend that acute medicine must have prompt access to senior competent

surgical review of acutely ill patients. Clear protocols, lines of responsibility and transport

arrangements must be identified within the local network for such eventualities. Future

developments in acute surgical and acute medical care require careful planning with involvement

of all relevant stakeholders, including ambulance services.

20

Acute medical care

Page 108



Watershed conditions

2.77 There are a number of clinical conditions that present as emergencies for which the

distinction between medical and surgical clinical responsibility is less clear, so called watershed

conditions. These include: head injury; the acute abdomen without features suggesting an

immediate need for surgery; acute pancreatitis; gastrointestinal bleeding and fractured neck of

femur in elderly patients with complex medical problems. The emergency department plays an

important role in the initial assessment and treatment of these patients. Thereafter, the emergency

care network needs clear policies and clinical pathways, with clearly defined clinical responsibility

for the ongoing care of these conditions.

Critical care (high dependency and intensive care)

2.78 Critical care is essential4 to support acute medical admissions because medical patients

numerically represent the most seriously ill subgroup of patients presenting to acute hospitals.

Large acute hospitals must have access to level 3 critical care facilities and ideally, for future

planning of large acute hospitals, these would be co-located within the emergency floor. It is

essential that there is a close working relationship between acute medicine and critical care. All

AMUs will require an augmented care area (level 1–2) and staff with competencies to deliver

this level of care. As the work of acute hospitals evolves more towards the provision of acute

medical care of increased complexity, there will need to be enhanced HDU capacity. In some

hospitals, HDU could be embedded within the AMU. 

2.79 Staff working in AMUs with HDU facilities must have the necessary critical care

competencies relevant to their local working environment and policies

We recommend that AMUs develop an augmented care area (up to level 2 care) and staff with

competencies to deliver this level of care. Safe transfer arrangements must be in place to ensure

level 3 care when required.

We recommend that large acute hospitals dealing with complex acute medicine must have on-

site access to level 3 critical care (ie intensive care units with full ventilatory support). 

2.80 Transfer protocols should be developed within the emergency care network to ensure that

critically ill patients with specialist needs are transferred safely and appropriately from smaller

hospitals to larger critical care units. Staff in the smaller hospitals (ideally based on the AMU)

will still need competencies in the assessment and stabilisation of critically ill patients prior to

transfer to larger critical care units. 

21

2 Acute medical care

Model 1: AMU and acute surgical unit (ASU) co-located – larger units and major acute

hospitals

Model 2: AMU/ASU integrated – large/medium/smaller units

Model 3: AMU with no on-site acute surgery – agreed protocols for surgical assessment

and review

ACUTE MEDICINE AND ACUTE GENERAL SURGERY – CONFIGURATIONS

Page 109



2.81 Remote monitoring systems linked to critical care centres within the emergency care

network may be of help in delivering high quality critical care support in remote and smaller

units.

Patient flow and planning the transfer of care (discharge planning) – generic

requirements

2.82 Patient flows through the assessment, treatment and discharge processes must be

proactively managed. Patients should be ‘pulled’ rather than ‘pushed’ through the system, fully

supported by the inpatient specialty bed base. Effective and proactive bed management is

essential to facilitate the acute admissions process and should be ‘needs based’.

2.83 Transfer of care planning should start at the point of entry to acute care and involve the

appropriate components of the multiprofessional team at the earliest opportunity – this is

especially important for older patients with more complex needs. Patients and their carers must

be actively engaged in this process and it is essential that key information, such as that provided

by ambulance services, which will have attended the patient in their home, is formally recorded. 

2.84 An estimated date of transfer of care (discharge date – EDD) should become part of the

routine admission process and be in place within 12 hours of admission to hospital. It is not

always possible to estimate the length of stay for all patients at first assessment. Hence, second

and subsequent phases of regular review and decision making are essential to evolve treatment

plans and to maintain a continued emphasis on planning discharge or for the transfer of care.

All transfers of care must be entirely justifiable on clinical grounds.

We recommend that a date for transfer of care including discharge from the acute hospital should

become a routine part of the admission process, and be in place within 12 hours of admission.

2.85 The full range of transfer of care options and their boundaries must be clearly defined for

clinical staff, carers and patients. This range of options should be updated regularly. Access to

community-based continuing care following transfer of care from acute hospitals is essential

and must be improved, especially out of hours and at weekends, and capacity in this sector must

be expanded to reduce the length of stay in acute hospitals.

Leadership, organisation and management

2.86 The emergency care networks and its components, eg acute medicine, require strong

clinical leadership and locally devolved decision-making powers. The importance of empowered

leadership of the emergency care network has already been emphasised. Leaders and competent

decision makers are integral to effective organisational structures and for the efficient

management of acute clinical care at all levels.

22

Acute medical care

Leadership should arise from within the service – not outside of it. Significant

change and development of acute services is difficult to achieve if the

leadership is divorced from the front line.

Page 110



2.87 Within the AMU strong clinical leadership is essential. 

We recommend that all AMUs should have nominated clinical and nursing leads for acute

medicine. These leads should work on a regular basis within the unit. Services interfacing with

the AMU, for example the emergency department, critical care, imaging and primary care, should

also have a defined clinical lead. We further recommend that leaders of the interface services

should meet on a regular basis to facilitate planning and development of the acute service.

2.88 The establishment of an emergency or unscheduled care directorate should be considered.

This would bring together the emergency department, acute medicine and critical care under a

single management structure in major acute hospitals to facilitate more effective integration of

these key services.

2.89 Given the importance of cross-disciplinary working, it is important that leaders have skills

in managing these interfaces, and not just those of their professional group. The management

team should recognise and develop the relevant support services in collaboration with the

medical and nursing leadership of acute care.

23

2 Acute medical care

Page 111



3 Patient safety and clinical effectiveness

3.1 A major driver for the development of the specialty of acute medicine was patient safety

and improving the quality of acute clinical care. There are significant variations in clinical

outcome across the range of providers of acute care. A number of factors are likely to contribute

to this, which include: difficulties in accessing acute care out of hours; complex processes that

increase the likelihood of error; poor and inconsistent documentation; and variations in training

and competencies in acute care.

3.2 It is remarkable that many aspects of acute care have not been standardised for patients

presenting with an acute medical illness. 

We recommend that clinical assessment, clinical documentation and clinical management of

common acute medical conditions should be standardised nationally, to reflect best practice.

This would improve clinical practice, support clinical governance, and facilitate case review, the

transferability of clinical information and clinical audit. 

Standardising the assessment of illness severity

3.3 The quality of assessment of illness severity should be improved and standardised

throughout the patient journey. Where face-to-face assessment of illness severity takes place,

this should be consistent across the NHS. This would enhance good clinical practice as it would

encourage the clinician to record standardised vital data, provide an important source of

documentation, and provide a valuable baseline from which to evaluate the patient’s clinical

progress. 

3.4 A number of basic assessment tools or ‘early warning scores’ are currently in use

nationwide. There is no justification for the continued use of multiple different early warning

scores to assess illness severity. The physiological assessment of all patients should be standardised

across the NHS with the recording of a minimum clinical data set resulting in a NHS early

warning (NEW) score. This will provide a standardised record of illness severity and urgency

of need, from first assessment and throughout the patient journey. 

We recommend that the physiological assessment of all patients should be standardised across

the NHS with the recording of a minimum clinical data set result in an NHS early warning

(NEW) score. 

We recommend that a working group is commissioned to develop the NEW score and evaluate

it. This work should take into account both the levels of training and the setting of the healthcare

professionals making these assessments. 

We recommend that the NEW score be used at all stages in the acute care pathway, including

pre-hospital assessment, eg by the GP, ambulance service or other healthcare professionals

seeking advice on acute medical care. The NEW score should also be used as part of inpatient

assessment illness severity and as a trigger for appropriate prioritisation of patient review.

24

Page 112



We recommend that all healthcare staff would be trained in the use of the NEW score and the

level of response required at each level of NEW scoring.

Improving the standard of patient clinical records and documentation

3.5 Hospital patient records should be standardised for acute medical care. This has important

implications for ensuring full documentation of clinical details, quality of care, safe transfer of

care, audit and medico-legal reviews. Standardised and familiar documentation will also facilitate

safer patient transfer between carers. There seems to be little, if any, justification for individual

hospitals, or other healthcare providers, investing in the development of customised

documentation. Downloadable nationally standardised documentation templates would provide

familiarity and consistency across all acute healthcare providers.

We recommend that documentation should be standardised across the NHS in three key areas:

i clerking forms for acute medical admissions to hospital

i inpatient basic observation charts eg for temperature, pulse rate, blood pressure,

conscious level and urinalysis, which could be part of the NEW scoring

i inpatient drug and iv fluid prescription charts.

3.6 The Task Force is aware that an electronic patient record (EPR) is being developed but

believes a pragmatic way forward would be to establish a multiprofessional working group with

adequate representation from stakeholders to develop standardised documentation for many

areas of acute medical care.

We recommend that roll-out of the EPR, when available, should be prioritised for acute care

areas – this would help standardise the ongoing documentation by multiple practitioners and

carers and also improve hand over and transfer of care documentation – all of which are

important guarantors of patient safety.

Standardising clinical management protocols for common acute medical

illnesses

3.7 There is considerable variation in the clinical management of many common acute medical

conditions. Moreover, many individual hospitals spend considerable time generating local

clinical management protocols. 

We recommend standardising clinical management with the development of evidence-based

national guidance for the clinical management of common acute medical illnesses. This would

improve patient care and provide a more effective basis for training and audit.

3.8 There is already some standardisation of pre-hospital care via guidance from the Joint

Royal Colleges Ambulance Liaison Committee. The royal colleges and specialist societies should

take the lead in extending this to common acute medical illnesses within hospitals.

25

3 Patient safety and clinical effectiveness

Nationwide unitary documentation and standardised documentation for

patient clerking, and for ongoing patient review records for acute care, is an

essential part of safe and effective clinical care.

Page 113



Monitoring clinical performance – clinical performance indicators

3.9 Monitoring clinical performance in acute care needs to be standardised to allow better

and more objective assessment of the impact of future changes in clinical practice and for

benchmarking clinical performance against national standards. 

We recommend that an approved list of national clinical performance indicators (CPIs) should

be developed for acute medical care. These should be used to provide a more standardised

evaluation of clinical performance and outcomes for out-of-hospital and in-hospital acute

medical care. These should assess at least three domains: mortality, some cause-specific outcomes

and patient satisfaction and experience.

The importance of accurate clinical coding in acute medical care

3.10 Accurate coding of the clinical diagnosis for each patient is essential for clinical audit and

to accurately inform the clinical performance indicators. Coding is often inadequate and in many

cases is completed by clerical staff without clinical input. Emergency care networks should ensure

that there are adequate local arrangements in place to provide accurate clinical coding. The

clinical team caring for the patient should assume direct responsibility for the accurate coding

of their patients to ensure the accuracy of the CPIs used for audit purposes. 

We recommend that accurate clinical coding information should be recorded by a competent

clinician on the clerking form.

Recording patient and carer experience

3.11 A recent Health Commission report18 commented on the advantages of capturing ‘the

raw feelings of patients’ and the importance of responding to these efficiently and effectively to

improve the delivery of acute care. The feelings of carers should also be captured and this patient

and carer information should be used locally to improve services and address concerns before

they develop into complaints – ultimately improving the experience and satisfaction of all

patients and carers. This approach sends a clear message to patients and staff that their views

are important in helping shape the service to meet their needs. 

3.12 Some AMUs have retained the services of volunteers who have collected and collated such

data in a less intimidatory way. This principle should be extended to collect views about the

whole episode of acute care, helping the emergency care network to identify ways of improving

services throughout the pathway.

We recommend that networks should record data on patients’ experiences of their whole episode

of acute care to help emergency care networks identify ways to improve this service.

Information technology

3.13 So much of acute care is dependent on 24/7 access to crucial clinical data and records that

this can only be achieved efficiently by high quality IT support.

3.14 Quality assurance in acute medical care is also dependent on the capture of high quality

data. The recommendations for improved and standardised documentation will be dependent

on high quality data input that is instantly accessible to those responsible for the delivery of care

26

Acute medical care

Page 114



and for objective national monitoring of clinical performance and outcomes. Effective data

capture requires adequate resourcing of IT facilities and training in all AMUs and commitment

from all of those involved in acute medical care.

3.15 Information must be accessible across the emergency care network to facilitate the safe

transfer of care and ensure rapid access to vital clinical data and diagnostic reports to avoid

repetition of investigations.

We recommend that the provision of reliable, high quality IT support is prioritised in acute

clinical areas to support efficient working of the emergency care network and its related parts.

27

3 Patient safety and clinical effectiveness

Page 115



4 Acute medical care within hospitals

4.1 When acute admission to hospital is required, there has been much debate about the ideal

configuration of in-hospital services for patients with acute medical illness.

4.2 One option has been the direct admission to the ‘specialty bed base’ for acute medical

care. This option would provide patients with direct access to the specialty relevant to their

clinical condition, but assumes that the initial assessment has correctly identified the organ-

based pathology relevant to their acute admission. Often patients present with complex

multisystem problems.

4.3 There are also important patient safety considerations regarding this model of care. This

model would result in acute admissions to many different wards in an acute hospital, often out

of hours and at weekends. Mindful of medical and nursing staffing considerations, and the need

for access to diagnostics, the Acute Medicine Task Force could not envisage how such a model

could ensure 24/7 prompt, safe and effective senior review of all acute admissions to different

wards of an acute hospital.

4.4 The Acute Medicine Task Force considered this model unsafe and impractical and did not

believe it was an efficient model for acute medical care for the majority of patients requiring

emergency inpatient care in acute hospitals. 

4.5 The model of care recommended by the Task Force is the establishment of acute medical

units (AMUs). These should be able to admit patients directly from the community and the

AMU. The AMUs and their staff should operate 24/7 and be trained and focussed on the care

of the acutely ill medical patient, within the first 24 to 72 hours of a patient’s admission to

hospital. The length of stay for a patient on the AMU should be determined by the patient’s

needs and the capacity of the rest of the hospital to provide an appropriate setting for an

equivalent level of ongoing acute care, especially out of hours. 

4.6 The majority of admissions to the AMU will have developed acute medical illnesses in the

community. However, because the AMU will have concentrated expertise in the clinical

management of the acutely ill patient, the AMU team, working in concert with critical care

outreach teams, could also ‘reach out’ to provide clinical care for patients developing acute

medical illnesses or complications while in hospital and should coordinate the ‘hospital at night’

programme in acute hospitals. This will be especially important out of hours and at weekends.

We recommend that the AMU should be the hub for all acute medical care within hospitals.

This will involve close collaboration with critical care teams and should lead to the establishment

of a single, multidisciplinary acute response team that provides 24/7 outreach care from the

AMU to all areas of the hospital, for patients requiring urgent medical review. Because the clinical

condition of patients in hospital can deteriorate unpredictably at any time, all hospitals will need

an AMU and staff with competencies in acute medical care, irrespective of whether or not they

have an emergency department. 

28

Page 116



The acute medical unit 

4.7 The AMU is founded on the need to provide safe, efficient and expert acute medical care.

The AMU should operate 24/7 and should be staffed by a multidisciplinary clinical team focussed

on acute medical care with the objective of providing expert assessment and treatment of acute

medical illnesses. 

4.8 An adequately sized and staffed AMU should aim for a significant percentage (around

50%) of acute medical admissions to complete their care episode within the AMU and discharge

without transfer into the specialty medical bed base within the acute hospital. Other patients

will be streamed into the specialty bed base after their initial assessment and treatment on AMU. 

4.9 The success of the AMU will be founded on proactive and dynamic management of the

admissions process and patient flows. Its success is dependent on strong clinical leadership,

continuity of care, expedient access to diagnostic services, well-organised specialist input and

efficient interfaces with the admissions process, and critical care services and the discharge process.

29

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

The acute medical unit (AMU) is a dedicated facility within a hospital that

acts as the focus for acute medical care for patients that have presented as

medical emergencies to hospitals or who have developed an acute medical

illness while in hospital.

Fig 3 Acute medical unit: example configuration and interactions with the transfer of care (TOC) out

of hospital for a majority of acute medical patients, either direct from the AMU or short stay unit. Those

requiring longer hospital stays being transferred into specialist beds. Specialist in-reach supports the AMU

and AMU outreach provides urgent and emergency acute care for the hospital, in collaboration with the

critical care team.

Higher
dependency

area
(level 2)

Specialist bed base

Short stay unit TOC

AMU outreach

Specialist
in-reach

Close interface
with critical
care team

Acute medical unit bed base
Offices and administration
Teaching/seminar rooms

Diagnostic rooms
(echocardiogram/ultrasound)

Acute medical unit

T
O

C

Page 117



AMU configuration

4.10 Generic design principles determining the configuration and function of the acute medical

unit are considered under four headings: location, size, design and operational aspects.

Location

4.11 In larger acute hospitals, the AMU would ideally be located on the ‘emergency floor’, 

co-located with the emergency department, critical care facilities and emergency diagnostic

facilities, especially imaging. In all instances, the AMU would ideally be located close to the ‘front

door’ to allow direct patient access when appropriate to speed up assessments and reduce

duplication of documentation.

Size

4.12 The AMU must be scaled to accommodate demand. As a guide, for efficient units, the

minimum number of beds will be equivalent to the number of patients admitted per 24 hours,

plus 10%. However, this estimate is necessarily simplistic and the number of beds required by

an AMU in a specific locality will be dependent on a number of factors, including: access to a

short stay facility, access to the specialist bed base and access to community beds and other

facilities for patients requiring ongoing inpatient care. Consequently, the capacity of AMUs must

be scalable to dynamically respond to changes in demand. Numbers will also vary if level 2 beds

are an integral part of the unit.

4.13 AMUs must have the appropriate level of equipment to deliver timely and safe care. 

30

Acute medical care

All AMUs should have:

i dedicated monitors with a minimum specification to allow routine full non-

invasive monitoring of ECG, blood pressure, oxygen saturations and

temperature

i ready access to arterial blood gas analysis with a machine preferably

situated within the AMU that conforms to Good Laboratory Practice*

regulations. If this is not situated within the AMU, there must be agreed

response times for results

i non-invasive respiratory support.

Most AMUs should have both continuous positive airways pressure and non-

invasive/non-intubated ventilation facilities unless they are adequately covered

by critical care or respiratory services.

In line with current recommendations that central line insertion should be

ultrasound guided, suitable equipment should be available on the AMU, or

readily accessible.

Larger units and those with high dependency units require the ability to

invasively monitor arterial and central venous pressure.

*Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency

Page 118



Design principles

4.14 The AMU is not a traditional medical ward. It is a busy area operating 24/7 for the

assessment and treatment of patients with acute medical illness, with a high turnover of patients.

We recommend that the AMU operates a number of streams for patients related to clinical need.

These include the acutely unwell requiring close supervision and monitoring, short stay patients,

older patients, complex needs patients and ambulatory care.

We recommend that visitor access to AMUs should be controlled because of the continuous

ongoing admissions process and frequent review of acutely ill patients. The desirability of open

visitor access must be balanced by the priorities of acute clinical care, patient comfort and dignity.

The following points should be read as recommendations:

4.15 Interface with critical care is especially important (see 2.78–2.81). All hospitals will require

monitored beds for acutely ill patients and in larger hospitals the AMU should have embedded

facilities for level 2 care.

31

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

i IT access – ideally wireless

i monitored beds

i a higher dependency/advanced care bed base in larger units – this may include facilities for non-

invasive/non-intubated ventilatory support (NIV) and continuous positive airways pressure

(CPAP), depending on local configurations

i short stay beds

i isolation areas/private rooms

i a staff area and facilities for the coordination of the acute response team members and other

staff responsible for acute medical care throughout the hospital out of hours – a base for

coordinating care by out-of-hours teams

i facilities and space for physiotherapy and occupational therapy for older people

i safe areas for patients with acute mental health problems

i triage areas for AMUs with direct patient access

i relatives’ waiting areas

i confidential interview room(s)

i administration and clerical space

i adequate and separate toilet and washing facilities for both males and females and patients and staff

i adequate office space for all staff

i dedicated allied health professional areas

i an equipment store

i ideally, an in house pharmacy and a drugstore as a minimum

i a treatment and/or procedure room

i a staff rest area, changing areas and locker rooms

i easy access to dedicated teaching space ideally embedded with the unit.

WE RECOMMEND THE FOLLOWING GENERIC DESIGN REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL AMUs:

Page 119



4.16 Non-invasive/non-intubated ventilation (NIV) is being increasingly used for patients with

acute deterioration of chronic respiratory disease. Although these facilities will often be incorporated

within the specialist respiratory bed base – they may also be required in AMUs, depending on local

configuration. Where the AMU has facilities for NIV, staff must be trained and competent in its

use and there must be dedicated specialist respiratory team in-reach and support, and protocols

for the safe transfer of such patients to the specialist respiratory bed base when appropriate. 

4.17 For patients requiring specific specialist input, this should be routinely available and if

required patients would transfer from the AMU to a specialist bed base for continuing care – as

long as that environment provides a safe, appropriate and sufficient level of continuing acute

clinical care to meet the patient’s needs.

4.18 There must be adequate side room accommodation proportionate to the size of the bed

base. This side room accommodation will provide isolation and/or privacy, for patients at the

end of life, patients with isolation for infection control purposes, confused patients or those with

mental health problems requiring privacy. These rooms should be appropriately supervised at

all times. In all instances side room accommodation on AMUs should be for short-term use as

this environment is not designed for longer-term continuing care.

We recommend that the AMU should incorporate sufficient capacity for single sex bay accom-

modation whenever possible recognising that this is not always feasible in monitored environments.

We recommend that where the AMU receives direct admissions, it should have a fully monitored

direct admission area with appropriate levels of medical and nursing staff support and include

modern trolleys/chairs/and waiting areas.

We recommend that AMUs should have operational procedures for defining appropriate and

safe mental health accommodation and behavioural problem areas. This is to cater for patients

with mental illness who develop acute medical problems, or patients with acute medical illness

who develop acute confusional states.

We recommend that the AMU should provide the base for ‘Hospital at Night’ teams and for

‘Hospital out of hours’ services and acute medical outreach. This will need administrative space

and IT support. This focus is appropriate as the majority of patients managed by these teams

have medical problems. For trainees taking part in these activities, it is important that they have

ready access to the senior physicians working within the AMU for support and educational

feedback.

We recommend that the AMU should also contain ready access to teaching and training facilities

for staff and students. For larger units a seminar room for teaching and training should be

embedded because it is less practical for staff to leave the AMU for training periods.

Operational principles

We recommend that transfer of care planning should begin at the time of the initial patient

assessment and an accurate coding of the diagnosis and an estimation of anticipated length of

stay should be recorded for all patients and reviewed regularly.

We recommend that length of stay for a patient on an AMU should be dictated by the clinical

need of the patient and not by predefined arbitrary limits – this will involve typical lengths of

32

Acute medical care

Page 120



stay of between 24–72 hours, with an average length of stay in established AMUs of approximately

24–30 hours, allowing many patients to complete their episode of care with the same clinical

team.

4.19 Some AMUs have incorporated ‘short stay units’ (SSUs) to provide continuing care for

patients who can complete their inpatient care without the need for transfer to a specialist

inpatient bed. This works best when the SSU bed base is embedded or co-located with the AMU

and the clinical teams are integrated to ensure continuity of care. Where this is not possible due

to space or geographical constraints the provision of short stay beds managed by the same team

will be essential to maintain patient flow and continuity of care. 

4.20 This level of integration of acute medical care can result in the discharge from hospital of

up to 30–40% of acute medical admissions from an AMU, and up to 50% of all acute medical

admissions in larger units or those incorporating a SSU, without need for further patient transfer

to specialist inpatient beds. In this regard, the AMU should deliver efficient continuity of care and

reduce patient movement and transfers of care within hospitals, all of which are important means

of risk minimisation and guardians of patient safety. The aim should be to develop acute receiving

areas and processes that can directly transfer at least 50% of acute admissions home, or back into

the community, without further in-hospital transfer. 

Patient flows – gearing up capacity to meet changes in demand

4.21 Simple linear equations to define bed needs for acute care are too simplistic because this

is a dynamic process with ebbs and flows, some of which are predictable, some of which are not.

Gearing is essential to provide a dynamic and flexible capacity. This principle needs ‘buy in’

from the entire hospital and local healthcare community as small shifts in demand in one area

can have a major impact on capacity.

4.22 Predictable fluctuations in demand for urgent assessment of patients with acute medical

illness, ie peak periods of demand, often do not match the traditional working day. The Task

Force recognised that this can only be resolved by increased flexibility of working patterns of

staff involved in acute medical care, especially senior clinical decision makers. This has significant

manpower implications but is fundamental for the provision of safe and efficient acute clinical

care, by ‘the right person, in the right place – first time’.

We recommend that the pace of life in the main hospital bed base beyond AMU must be geared

to respond dynamically to changes in demand so as to increase capacity during busy periods.

This gearing requires real time monitoring of demand and capacity, and robust escalation policies

that are capable of responding quickly to early signals to distribute acute pressures more evenly

from the front door to the entire bed base. This gearing must also involve community bed access

beyond the acute hospital and must be operational 24/7.

4.23 There is often dissociation between the frequency of senior clinical review of patients in

AMU and the frequency of such reviews on the bed base beyond the AMU. We recommend that

modern acute hospitals will require daily clinical review of the entire bed base by a competent

clinical decision maker to ensure efficient patient flows and to reduce length of stay. This is an

essential component of gearing to meet fluctuations in demand.

33

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

Page 121



Interface with other specialties and their bed bases

Acute medicine commitment from medical specialties

4.24 It is not anticipated, nor would it be desirable, for the new generation of specialist acute

physicians in training to replace all of the acute medicine on-call commitments provided by

other specialists. 

We recommend that physicians from other medical specialties continue to commit to sessions

in their contract dedicated to acute medicine on the AMU. This provides a healthy mix of

disciplines working in the acute care environment and enables all participating medical specialists

to retain competencies in acute clinical care.

Specialist in-reach

4.25 When the AMU clinical team requires a specialist opinion for a patient, this specialist ‘in-

reach’ should be prompt and predictable – it is essential that all specialty teams proactively

interface with the AMU clinical team.

We recommend clearly defined contact pathways for named senior clinical opinions (SpR or

consultant) should be on a rota for all specialties likely to require regular interaction with the

AMU. These include: geriatric medicine, gastroenterology, diabetes and endocrinology,

dermatology, rheumatology, neurology, cardiology, respiratory medicine, infectious diseases and

mental health teams.

4.26 In some cases this expertise will be provided across networks. AMUs must also have strong

medical psychiatry liaison with agreed referral paths. It is also essential that psychiatric liaison

includes services dedicated to older people – these services are currently poorly represented in

acute services and this needs to be addressed.

4.27 Much greater priority should be given to supporting acute medical care within the

contractual obligations of medical specialists. We recommend that specialty teams should

develop rotas of clearly identified adequately experienced staff who can provide advice or attend

and review patients expeditiously on the AMU, within a maximum of 4 hours of a request and

ideally sooner. This is important for clinical governance, patient safety, education, and to facilitate

efficient patient discharge.

Care of older people: special considerations for older patients admitted to hospital with acute

medical illness

4.28 Older patients, by far, represent the largest number of patients admitted to hospital with

acute medical illness. For these patients in particular, admission to an acute hospital can be a

distressing experience. The Task Force considered various models of acute medical care for older

patients, including the options of dedicated AMUs for the old and/or direct streaming of such

patients to a specialist geriatric medicine bed base. The Task Force regarded these models as

impractical and unworkable in most settings, mindful of the constraints of the clinical workforce

needed to provide high quality and safe acute medical services 24/7 in such environments.

Moreover, such models run the danger of a two-tier system of acute care for the young and the

old that is inconsistent with the need to eliminate discrimination on the basis of age.

34

Acute medical care

Page 122



We recommend that AMUs tailor their operations to meet the needs and expectations of an ageing

population with more complex illness. Operational policies should reflect this to ensure the dignity

and the highest quality of care for frail, older and vulnerable patients with acute illness. This

requires a multiprofessional approach, working in close liaison with the specialist teams.

We recommend that there should be no discrimination on the basis of patient age when decisions

are made about access to acute medical services, and about the quality of service subsequently

provided and received.

Access to diagnostics

We recommend that the AMU should have scheduled seven-day access to diagnostic and

treatment procedures such as diagnostic GI endoscopy, echocardiography, diagnostic ultrasound,

bronchoscopy and CT and MR imaging – with easy and convenient access for larger AMUs in

large acute hospitals, and available to smaller AMUs via clearly defined pathways within the local

emergency care networks.

We recommend that there should also be 24/7 urgent access to ‘life-saving’ interventions such

as GI endoscopy within the emergency care network, ideally located on the same site as the AMU

in large acute hospitals. 

Patient transfers to the specialty bed base

We recommend that patients requiring continued specialist inpatient care should be streamed

from the AMU to a hospital bed base appropriate to their clinical needs as defined by their diagnosis

35

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

i Older patients usually present with complex medical problems and early engagement and ‘in-

reach’ from specialist geriatric teams is essential – this refers not only to consultant in-reach, but

also to other members of the specialist multidisciplinary team, for example specialist nurses,

physiotherapy, occupational therapy, intermediate care and specialist discharge teams.

i Transfer of care arrangements are often complex and acute hospital discharge planning should

begin early and must be proactively managed with involvement of the specialist multidisciplinary

team (see above), the family and all other relevant agencies.

i Elderly patients requiring acute inpatient care should be transferred as soon as possible to an

appropriate bed base that can provide the required level of care – this may involve the specialist

geriatric bed base, another specialty relevant to their acute illness within an acute hospital, an

intermediate care facility, a community hospital, a nursing or residential home or their own home

– specialist outreach teams could provide continuing care to facilitate early repatriation.

i Older patient transfers must be minimised, especially at night, to reduce clinical risk and the risk

of delirium.

i When care is transferred from the AMU there is an important role for continuing specialist

‘outreach’ from geriatric medicine to facilitate safe and early transfer of care from AMU and/or

hospital.

i Because recovery from acute illness is often prolonged in the elderly, to facilitate transfer of care

to an appropriate facility, the capacity in intermediate care and community hospitals must be

expanded, especially out of hours, and access to these facilities must be better managed.

WE RECOMMEND SOME PRINCIPLES IN THE CARE OF THE OLDER PATIENT:

Page 123



and illness severity. When patients require inpatient care within the specialty bed base, there should

be no barriers for patient transfer to that bed base. Patient transfers from the AMU should only

occur if the receiving environment provides an appropriate, safe and sufficient level of continuing

acute clinical care – this is an important consideration for the most acutely ill patients out of hours

and at weekends.

Configuration of the specialty bed base beyond the AMU

We recommend that the acute hospital bed base beyond the AMU should reflect the patient

need. The configuration of the hospital bed base with regard to specialty should reflect the acute

care demand. The bed configuration of most hospitals needs to be reconfigured to match the

acute patient flows and demand to ensure that there is the greatest opportunity to transfer

patients to the most appropriate specialty destination for their ongoing clinical care.

AMU and medical outreach and the acute response team

4.29 When a patient’s clinical condition deteriorates in hospital, various clinical teams have

been configured to provide support. These usually include the on-call medical team (usually the

medical specialist registrar), the critical care outreach team for critically ill patients, and the

cardiac arrest team. This has been termed medical outreach – ie specialist teams reaching out

to support acutely ill patients. This support may be patchy over the 24-hour period and is often

poorly coordinated between the various clinical teams.

4.30 The development of AMUs will provide medical teams who are experienced and competent

in the care of acutely ill patients. These teams will already have strong links with the critical care

clinical teams. 

We recommend that the AMU should be the hub for coordinating acute medical outreach care

and many of the activities currently undertaken by the Hospital at Night team and out-of-hours

medical cover arrangements for the hospital. This would provide a focus for coordinating acute

medical outreach care and would provide continuity and review to ensure the patient is cared

for in the most appropriate environment according to their dependency score.

We recommend that acute medical outreach should involve much greater integration between

the existing on-call medical team and the critical care outreach team with competencies in

emergency resuscitation, airway management and acute medical care. This could result in the

development of a multidisciplinary acute response team (ART) that would replace the

independent medical on-call and critical care outreach teams and would provide a single team

to respond to urgent calls for support. 

4.31 The ART could be called to respond to requests for support via a single dedicated telephone

number in hospitals (distinct from that of the cardiac arrest call), manned by a competent clinical

decision maker (not necessarily a doctor), who can decide on the level of response required

according to the NEW score and clinical information required. Moreover, a specific NEW score

would automatically trigger a call to the ART for advice and review, if required.

36

Acute medical care

Page 124



Acute medical unit staffing and operations – general principles

4.32 The AMU requires a skilled multidisciplinary clinical team with strong managerial,

administrative and IT support. The AMU objective is to provide integrated care for people with

acute medical illness in a single dedicated environment staffed by a multidisciplinary team

competent in acute care. This team should deliver a consistent high quality service 24/7 which

is dependent on flexible working, strong interfaces with other clinical teams involved in acute

care, and guaranteed access to essential diagnostic services. 

The medical team

4.33 Teamwork and continuity of care are essential in the AMU to deliver safe and effective

clinical care. This requires clinical staff at all grades to work in blocks of time focussed on the

AMU, without any other clinical responsibilities or distractions.

4.34 Acute medicine is the fastest growing specialty in medicine and a recommended model

for the AMU consultant team will be a core team of specialist acute physicians complemented

by other specialists with dedicated protected sessions on AMU. 

4.35 The model of ‘physician of the day’ is strongly discouraged as this is not conducive to the

ethos of teamwork, training and continuity of care.

We recommend that consultant work patterns should include protected session time for AMU,

ideally in blocks of days. Seven-day blocks are considered too onerous and work less well. Precise

work patterns should be developed to reflect local needs and all other clinical duties and

responsibilities should be cancelled for clinical staff while working on AMU.

We recommend that junior medical staff should be allocated to the AMU in blocks, for example,

two to four months at a time. This helps build teamwork and provides a concentrated period

of time to develop competencies in acute care. The model of junior medical staff ‘dipping in and

out’ of AMU for isolated short shifts of duty is strongly discouraged as being much less effective,

less safe and an inadequate training experience. Acute physicians must be their mentors and be

responsible for their training and appraisal during this attachment. Physicians must never work

in isolation in acute medicine.

4.36 Primary care physicians should be encouraged to become an integral part of the AMU

team. These should be experienced GPs who also have a base in primary care and continue to

work in the out-of-hours services.

37

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

The acute physician: a physician who has been trained to work in an acute

medical unit and provide a medical lead in that area. As such the acute

physician will have competences in the management of the acutely sick medical

patient but will also have leadership skills, strong practical skills and the ability

to manage and improve patient pathways. In day-to-day practice the acute

physician will combine these competences, skills and abilities to produce high

quality care for all patients with acute medical problems including supporting

professional training and developing novel patient pathways.

Page 125



The nursing team

4.37 An experienced, dedicated nursing team with competencies in acute medical care is

essential. The AMU requires a senior nurse as a leader/champion – effective leadership has been

linked to fewer medication errors, lower staff absenteeism and staff turnover and higher patient

satisfaction.19,20 In smaller units a senior nurse could have overarching responsibility for both

the AMU and the emergency department. Some units will have a nurse practitioner, consultant

nurse or matron in this role.

4.38 The number and grade of nursing staff within the AMU will depend on the size, case-mix

and dependency of the unit. AMUs with embedded level 2 care facilities, a high patient

throughput, and a high proportion of monitored bed areas will require a higher number with

a more experienced skill mix. The nursing staff number and seniority should be balanced across

the 24-hour period to reflect 24/7 working in the AMU.

We recommend that nurses based in AMUs should develop enhanced skills (ECG, venepuncture,

cannulation, IV drugs, arterial blood gas analysis). Those working in higher dependency areas

should develop and maintain critical care competencies. It is also important that nurses have

had experience of nursing patients with severe physical disability, lack of which may compromise

outcomes and delay transfer of care.

We recommend that nurses based in AMU should also be encouraged to develop specialist

nursing skills by secondment or rotation. Larger AMUs should designate a lead nurse with clinical

leadership and training responsibilities for specific specialist areas, such as critical care, NIV,

asthma care and oxygen therapy, care of the elderly, mental health and so on. Likewise, nurses

from specialties other than acute medicine should be seconded to, or rotate to, the AMU to

acquire and maintain competencies in undifferentiated acute medical care. 

Other acute medical unit staff

38

Acute medical care

i AMUs require administration and clerical cover 24/7 – this is essential for larger units.

i Formal support from a community psychiatric nursing team and established lines of

communication are essential.

i The AMU should have dedicated access to physiotherapy, occupational therapy and social

worker input – ideally they will be an integral part of the multidisciplinary team.

i Dedicated pharmacy support specifically and solely appointed to the AMU is important for

patient safety and to expedite patient discharge.

i Dedicated portering staff are required.

i Dedicated cleaning staff are required to facilitate rapid turn-around of bed use.

i Larger units will require support for equipment inventory and maintenance. 

AMU STAFFING PRINCIPLES

Page 126



Acute medical unit ward rounds, patient review and handover of care

4.39 We recommend that the clinical team on the AMU should be consultant led. This will

typically require on average one consultant per 25 admissions per day or less. Senior review of

patients must be available at all times and result in the early formulation of a clinical management

plan which includes the estimated length of stay and confirms accurate diagnostic categories for

coding purposes. This should occur immediately for the acutely unwell patient and rolling review

is to be encouraged.

4.40 We recommend that there should be a twice-daily consultant-led ward round/review of

all patients in the AMU, seven days a week, to support ongoing decision making and to review

the management plans and results. Patients should be reviewed, whether they have been formally

‘clerked’ or not. Discharge planning should begin at the time of this initial review and necessary

support teams should be engaged early. These rounds must include members of the nursing

team to ensure proactive management and transfer of information.

4.41 Although some training and education will take place during these rounds, notably

training by consultant review of clinical decisions by junior doctors, it is emphasised that these

are business rounds that are not intended as formal teaching rounds. However, opportunities

for ‘on the job learning’ and experiential learning must not be lost.

There should be timely ‘rolling review’ of admissions to AMU by the SpRs and regular review of

existing patient management plans throughout this process. The frequency and urgency of review

should be informed by the NEW score and clinical need, which should be regularly updated for

each patient. Patients with a high NEW score on arrival should be reviewed immediately and

subsequently according to their clinical need. All patients should be reviewed and have their

management plan and review criteria formalised within 4 hours of arrival onto the AMU.

4.42 We recommend that the NEW score and plans for investigations and discharge or transfer

plans for each patient should be clearly displayed within the AMU using a ‘clinical management

board’ and should be reviewed and updated regularly and at the end of every ward round. There

should be a sensible balance between the need to access such information for clinical decision

making and patient confidentiality – concerns regarding the latter must not compromise patient

safety.

4.43 We recommend that there must be time included in the shift patterns for junior medical

staff to ensure there is a formal handover of care, akin to that adopted for many years by nursing

teams. The clinical management board is an ideal focus and resource for the handover of patients.

39

4 Acute medical care within hospitals

i immediate assessment and immediate treatment 

i triage; development of a formal management plan with investigations

i formal review of patient progress, investigations and results, the management plan and discharge

plans. 

PATIENT ASSESSMENT HAS THREE COMPONENTS:

Page 127



Extended day working

4.44 One of the great challenges of reforming acute services will be implementing changes in

working practices to meet the demands of 24/7 working. We recommend new models of working

that are predicated on ensuring adequate levels of competent clinical decision makers are present

on the AMU and other front-line services 24/7. This should be provided by SpRs working in

shift patterns, supported by junior training grades on similar shift patterns to meet this

requirement. Consultant work patterns must also be more flexible to meet demands for senior

clinical decision making and leadership on the AMU across an extended working day, within

the constraints of job planning. The decision-making role requires a shift to proactive from

reactive. This mode of working, across seven days a week, with on-call consultant support out

of hours, will have significant manpower and work-force implications.

40

Acute medical care

Page 128



5 Workforce planning, education, and training

5.1 The importance of the development of the workforce for acute medical units should not

be underestimated. The delivery of high quality care is dependent on the presence of competent

staff across the multidisciplinary team. We encourage the development of a supportive culture

of education, training, self-improvement, excellence and teamwork in acute medicine founded

on the principles at the core of this report, notably patient safety and quality clinical care. The

recommendations in this section are driven by a need to provide excellent and safe care,

underpinned by training and education.

The acute medical unit as a training environment

5.2 The AMU provides an outstanding environment for the training of doctors, nurses and

members of the multidisciplinary team. It also provides an excellent training environment for

undergraduate medical education. 

5.3 The high intensity but supportive environment of a fully functioning AMU encourages

the development of skills such as rapid clinical assessment, rational investigation, teamworking

and prompt decision making. The latter should encompass the streaming of patients so that

there is early management of the acutely unwell, recognition of the patient with complex needs

and the promotion of appropriate ambulatory care.

5.4 From August 2007 all physicians will train in acute medicine, at least in their early

physician specialist training. Although this promotes the AMU for postgraduate training we

support the incorporation of undergraduate attachments to AMUs to take advantage of the

training opportunities.

We recommend that exposure to the AMU should be part of the core undergraduate medical

curriculum.

5.5 It is essential that there is a clinical education lead in the AMU to promote and coordinate

education and training for all staff. There should also be a nurse education and training lead

with dedicated time, whose role it is to support junior members of staff and to ensure that staff

are kept up to date with evidence-based practice.

We recommend that medical and nursing education and training leads are identified to promote

and coordinate education and training for medical and nursing AMU staff.

5.6 Training at all levels has to be adequately assessed to ensure the full range of acute care

competencies are attained and maintained. This should be supported by regular appraisal of

staff to promote skill acquisition, personal development and job satisfaction. As part of this

assessment ST3 trainees must be signed off as competent to take a senior supervisory role prior

to direct involvement in that role.

5.7 Recent financial pressures on training budgets are concerning and short sighted. It is clear

that health organisations which promote training enjoy improved morale, better staff retention,

better teamworking and ultimately better clinical outcomes for patients.19,20

41

Page 129



5.8 The volume, intensity and variety of experience that is available in an AMU will provide

an outstanding training environment for all within the multidisciplinary AMU team. As these

areas are consultant led there should be unrestricted access to more senior trainers. This exposure

to a broad spectrum of specialties and specialists within the structured environment of the AMU

will facilitate communication and the awareness of complementary skills within the

multidisciplinary team. The trainees must be aware that one of the core skills is promoting and

facilitating discharge and that the successful trainee in an AMU must develop the integrative

skills necessary to incorporate evidence from a variety of sources to ensure the best possible

management plan for any individual patient.

We have highlighted the importance of specialist in-reach for acute care. We recommend that

all medical specialties in acute hospitals or in emergency care networks servicing acute hospitals

will need to acquire and maintain competencies in the assessment and clinical management of

acute medical problems pertinent to their specialty. This important aspect of training needs to

be incorporated into specialist training programmes.

5.9 The emphasis on the acute care element of core skills for nursing has to be promoted but

there must also be recognition of the benefit of increasing specialisation and multi-skilling of

nursing staff within the AMU. 

5.10 The training objectives for physiotherapists and occupational therapists have been defined

by their professional organisations. We endorse these objectives and recommend that they should

be adopted for all allied health professionals in AMUs.

We recommend that training objectives for physiotherapists and occupational therapists should

be adopted for all allied health professionals in AMUs.

Flexibility and career opportunities

5.11 Acute medicine is a specialty exposed to unremitting pressure and the risk of ‘burn out’

is high. Professionals working in the AMU must be able to incorporate variety and flexibility

into their career plans and adopt a portfolio career structure. This would allow some clinicians

to take a full and active part in acute medicine in their early consultant careers and then move

to other medical specialties. It should also allow the medical specialist to adopt the role of the

acute physician later in their career. 

5.12 In either direction, training opportunities must be available for individuals to adopt new

roles and responsibilities and acquire new skills to maintain their enthusiasm and commitment

to this demanding role. New training structures must be sufficiently flexible to allow life-long

modular training. The assurance of competence and the provision of opportunities to maintain

competence and develop new competencies remain as important throughout the career of

physicians and other health professionals, as it does at present for individual trainees.

We recommend that flexible career options are encouraged and maintained for those practising

acute medicine.

42

Acute medical care

Page 130



Structures important to promote recruitment and retention

5.13 The flexibility of working practice within an AMU combined with the potential for

modular training, active patient interaction, consistent senior input, life-long learning and active

teamwork are likely to make a supported AMU an attractive place to work. There must be

evidence of reflective practice within the training environment that is supportive to promote a

better understanding within the individual member and facilitate growth of the acute medicine

team spirit.

5.14 The availability of training for specific skills must be promoted. This may vary simply

between specific courses on the management of the acutely ill or to a longer period of modular

training required for accreditation in practical skills eg echocardiography, ultrasonography or

endoscopy. Courses for the management of the acutely ill should be targeted according to the

skill set of the trainee but must focus on all areas within the curriculum.

5.15 Study leave to gain experience of acute medicine from courses or visiting other centres

should be encouraged, but this entails the availability of an adequate budget. This must be

recognised for all professions within the multidisciplinary team. A team philosophy must be

emphasised with the training structures across all AMUs. Use of common documentation,

unified use of a national early warning score system and regular team meetings to review the

functioning of the AMU are mandatory.

5.16 The service and training needs within the multidisciplinary team must be appropriately

balanced and the former must not compromise the latter. The clinical lead should ensure that

the AMU environment is conducive for high quality training for all team members and that all

job plans reflect the need for continuing professional development.

5.17 Career pathways and opportunities for progression must be made clear in acute medicine

so that recruitment and retention may be optimised. The intensity of work, lack of private

practice and potentially anti-social hours may make this career less attractive for some physicians.

This adverse perception must be counterbalanced by the development of clear career pathways

and incentives for potential acute physicians.

Job planning and workforce configuration

5.18 Appraisal for acute medicine specialists must reflect their activity in acute medicine

continued professional development and the appraisal must be geared to ensure that the

individual maintains competencies relevant to acute medicine. 

We recommend that the typical programmed activities that are available within a job plan should

be comparable across AMUs according to the commitment of the individual. This will facilitate

job planning and is a piece of work that should be promoted within management. Within job

planning there must be a reasonable balance of capacity and demand with regard to the activity

of the AMU and the personnel available.

5.19 To avoid the concern of burn out, job planning must be realistic and should not simply

confine the acute physician to the AMU clinical environment. The interactions between

professionals and professions to promote new patient pathways and safer ways of working are

a vital part of the acute physician role and must be protected. Similarly for those trained in

43

5 Workforce planning, education, and training

Page 131



specific practical procedures or with educational qualifications, use of these skills should be

encouraged and recognised within job plans. 

We recommend that job planning recognises the work that flows from the clinical interface

including the necessary administrative work and talking to carers and relatives. 

5.20 It is suggested that there should be a minimum medical staffing level for 20 admissions

consisting of: 1 SpR/ST3+, 1 FY2/1CMT or equivalent and 2 FY1. These doctors would be

responsible for both ongoing care and assessment of new admissions. This requirement would

be increased if the AMU takes direct medical admissions, is responsible for a large amount of

ambulatory care or a HDU, has a large training programme, or is the prime lead for the acute

response team (ART) and ‘hospital during the day and night’.

5.21 Within larger AMUs there should be a dedicated management team to ensure that the

quality targets are audited and achieved, that training is promoted and adequately resourced

and that an ethos of teamwork is facilitated.

5.22 We support the recommendations from previous reports for at least three dedicated

specialist acute physicians in most acute hospitals and eight in larger institutions. This core team

should be augmented in all instances by scheduled contributions to acute medicine from

physicians in other specialties.

Implications for job planning for specialties

5.23 There are a number of recommendations in this report that will have significant

implications for job planning in acute hospitals.

44

Acute medical care

The concept of the acute physician working in isolation cannot be supported.

i the shifting balance between acute and elective work in acute hospitals

i the move towards more flexible patterns/extended day/out-of-hours working for senior decision

makers

i dedicated blocks of time for acute work on the AMU and cancellation of other commitments

(dedicated refers to time allocated in job plans that is unrestricted by other commitments)

i rotas for dedicated specialist in-reach for the AMU

i rotas for dedicated acute specialist ‘outreach’ into the community for some specialists to

support acute medical crises in the community, for example specialist geriatric medicine

outreach services

i establishment of out-of-hours diagnostic and interventional support services, for example

emergency endoscopy services across a network

i increasing demands for dedicated time to support more formalised training and assessment of

junior medical staff

i dedicated time for CME and professional development to maintain competencies and acquire

new competencies.

IMPLICATIONS FOR JOB PLANNING INCLUDE:

Page 132



We recommend the development of nationally agreed allocations of programmed activities to

these roles and model job plans to facilitate equitable job planning and appropriate resource

(both staff and funding) allocation to prioritise and sustain the proposed reconfiguration and

enhancement of acute medical services for patients.

Innovative roles

5.24 There should be development of new roles to take on some of the routine responsibilities

of clinical staff, or to allow members of the existing team to take on additional responsibilities.

Many innovative roles have been developed and are still under review with AMUs. These include:

i physicians assistants

i emergency care practitioners

i clinical aids

i phlebotomists.

5.25 The role of the physician assistant in acute care has been promoted and in the areas that

this is active in it has generally been received positively by professions and patients alike.21 The

precise role of some of these professions in acute care is still being clarified and there is a need

for standardisation of nomenclature and job plans for each role. An important overarching

principle for people working in support roles is that they should not work in isolation and must

work as part of a multidisciplinary team with clear lines of responsibility and support.

We recommend that people working in support roles should not work in isolation, but must

work as part of a multidisciplinary team with clear lines of responsibility and support.

5.26 The development of enhanced roles within the multidisciplinary team must be encouraged

so that the profile of competences available within the AMU is maximised. The example of the

nurse specialist functioning independently (but not in isolation) within the ‘minors’ stream in

the emergency department is a prime example of the relevance of these enhanced roles.

5.27 We support further development of roles with allied health professionals taking prime

responsibility for specific groups of patients whose major needs are best served by this group of

professionals. This may be further enhanced by the use of occupational therapy assistants.

5.28 There is often no recognition of the transferable nature of skills that may have been

developed in discrete departments or hospitals. 

We recommend standardisation of training packages for transferable skills to ensure their wider

and more consistent application. This will also decrease the need for local initiatives that may restrict

the ability of the trainee to extend their role beyond a specific department or clinical discipline. 

Opportunities for medical staff – dual training and dual roles

5.29 It has become apparent that members of the medical workforce other than physicians

trained specifically in acute medicine may wish to take part in the acute medical take and play

a role in an AMU. Similarly, physicians within the AMU have competencies that lend themselves

to working in related acute areas of the hospital. This is especially pertinent with the development

45

5 Workforce planning, education, and training

Page 133



of new training structures such as the acute care common stem programme for ST1 and ST2

doctors. This pattern of training should help foster better understanding and stronger links with

key interface departments with the AMU, such as emergency medicine (A&E) and critical care. 

5.30 Work is taking place within the Working Group on Acute General Medicine that has

attempted to define pathways for experienced doctors from other clinical disciplines to work

within the AMU. This is particularly applicable to specialists from emergency medicine,

anaesthetics and critical care. This would ensure that doctors with appropriate competencies are

given the opportunity to play a role in unscheduled acute medical care within the AMU.

We recommend that there should be opportunities for doctors who are skilled at acute and

critical care medicine to combine these interests and train in both acute medicine and critical

care medicine to CCT level. There should also be opportunities for primary care physicians to

train in acute medicine and to work within the AMU.

We recommend that new training structures are sufficiently flexible to allow physicians to train

in related areas of acute care to CCT level and thereby develop job plans that allow them to

combine clinical roles beyond the AMU, eg AMU, ITU or emergency department responsibilities.

Funding

5.31 Financial viability of services is as important as the clinical viability – the absence of either

could compromise the AMU. Clinicians as well as managers should, therefore, understand

financial mechanisms including costings, income tariffs, patient coding and primary care trust

(PCT) and GP commissioning intentions and processes. Clinicians who demonstrate a keen

interest and use their leadership skills to influence processes can have a very significant beneficial

impact on services provided and thus on patient care.

We recommend that clinical leaders develop an understanding of the funding mechanisms so

as to allow them to effectively impact on service development and ultimately, patient care.

5.32 Funding mechanisms can be a powerful lever for change, but they can also distort clinical

priorities and inhibit change. There are some perverse incentives within the existing payment

by results framework that can drive patients through ineffective and inefficient care pathways

that do not benefit the patient or the local health economy. An example of this is when acute

hospitals are encouraged by PCTs to deploy expensive staff and resources to the front line to

reduce their admissions (very appropriate for patient care). Yet there is no payment mechanism

which encourages this and it has the additional consequence of reducing provider unit income.

Another example is that by reducing patient length of stay to less than 48 hours, there is a

consequent reduction in tariff income. There are other examples of when the true cost of complex

investigations and interventions are not recovered, but their use in a patient’s care has been

appropriate. This can be a disincentive to develop services.

We recommend that payment systems and tariffs should be better aligned to best clinical practice

so that they do not distort clinical priorities.

5.33 Service level agreements between provider units and GP/PCT commissioners using non-

tariff pricing can enable innovative pathways of care to be created through shared financial risk

and simultaneously achieve performance objectives for both primary and secondary care. To

46

Acute medical care

Page 134



take advantage of such processes clinicians and managers should share an understanding of the

financial mechanisms and their implications.

5.34 Commissioning acute and/or urgent care provision should support the developments

which recognise the type and level of healthcare provision required for the community. AMUs

can create a range of assessment, diagnostic and referral options that underpin the clinical

dialogue between GPs and specialists and empower clinical decision making at all levels.

Developing a comprehensive financial and operating framework that supports direct access to

high quality opinion, diagnostic and/or treatment options would enable clinical leadership

throughout the care pathway in both secondary and primary care. Front-line staff and particularly

clinical leaders, in both primary and secondary care, need to feel that they are able to promote

patients’ interests. A key to this is providing the autonomy to allow decisions to be taken locally.

Commissioning on the basis of measurable outcomes would improve the patient experience and

empower clinical leaders.

5.35 Workforce and service planning and priorities have been too focussed on scheduled care.

We recommend that funding mechanisms should be adjusted to incentivise the development of

high quality emergency and acute medical care while at the same time not disenfranchising

chronic disease management.

5.36 The funding arrangements and tariffs for acute medical care must adequately reflect the

case complexity, the need for a consistent presence of senior and competent clinical decision

makers, and the timely availability of relevant diagnostic support, to provide safe and efficient

care to acutely ill patients, 24/7. This is not a luxury, it is a necessity.

5.37 In addition, there is a need to code and remunerate care episodes that do not follow the

traditional care pathways but still require specialist input, eg ambulatory care, specialist outreach

and other new models of acute care provision. Avoiding hospital admission is not always the

cheapest option, but when safe, for many patients, it represents a better option than hospital

admission.

Research and development

5.38 Acute medical care should evolve within a vibrant environment of research and

development. The opportunities for research and development in acute medical care are immense

and under-exploited. Research encourages a culture of reflective practice, critical appraisal and

review – all of which contribute to a high quality and safer clinical environment. Much of the

clinical practice in acute care lacks a quality evidence base. This reflects in part: a lack of academic

leadership in acute medicine, inadequate high quality data capture, and a lack of funding and

research infrastructure.

5.39 The volume and variety of clinical activity in AMUs provides an outstanding foundation

for high quality clinical research that could be rapidly translated into clinical practice. Moreover,

the work of the acute medical team in blocks of time provides the kind of flexibility that should

appeal to doctors, nurses and other healthcare professionals contemplating a clinical academic

career, combining clinical practice and clinical research with a common purpose.

We recommend the establishment of a national clinical research network for acute medicine that

will provide the infrastructure for high quality research programmes in acute medical care.

47

5 Workforce planning, education, and training

Page 135



References

1 Royal College of Physicians. Future patterns of care by general and specialist physicians. Meeting the needs

of adult patients in the UK. London: RCP, 1996.

2 Federation of Medical Royal Colleges. Acute medicine: the physician’s role. Proposals for the future.

A working party report of the Federation of Medical Royal Colleges. London: Royal College of Physicians,

2000.

3 Royal College of Physicians. The interface of accident and emergency and acute medicine. Report of a

working party, London: RCP, 2002.

4 Royal College of Physicians. The interface between acute general medicine and critical care. Report of a

working party, London: RCP, 2002.

5 Society for Acute Medicine (UK). Recommendations for Medical Assessment (Admission) Units.

Edinburgh: Society for Acute Medicine (UK), 2003.

6 Royal College of Physicians. Acute medicine: making it work for patients. A blueprint for organisation and

training. Report of a working party, London: RCP, 2004. 

7 National Leadership Network. Strengthening local services: the future of the acute hospital. London:

National Leadership Network Local Hospitals Project, 2006.

8 Royal College of Physicians. Doctors in society: medical professionalism in a changing world. Report of a

working party, London: RCP, 2005.

9 Department of Health. Our health, our care, our say: a new direction for community services. London:

DH, 2006.

10 Department of Health. Healthcare foundation: A framework for action. London: DH, 2007.

11 Department of Health. Mending hearts and brains – clinical case for change. Report by Professor Roger

Boyle, National Director for Heart Disease and Stroke. London: DH, 2006.

12 Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Acute health care services. Report of a Working Party of the Academy

of Medical Royal Colleges. London: AoMRC, 2007.

13 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Acutely ill patients in hospital. Recognition of and

response to acute illness in adults in hospital. NICE clinical guideline 50. London: NICE, 2007.

14 National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death. Emergency admissions: a journey in the

right direction? London: NCEPOD, 2007.

15 Department of Health. Emergency care ten years on: reforming emergency care. Professor Sir George

Alberti, National Director for Emergency Access. London: DH, 2007.

16 Department of Health. Emergency care networks checklist. London: DH, 2004.

17 Department of Health. Taking health care to the patient: Transforming NHS ambulance services. London:

DH, June 2005.

18 Healthcare Commission. State of healthcare 2006. London: Healthcare Commission, 2006.

19 West MA, Borrill C, Dawson J et al. The link between the management of employees and patient

mortality in acute hospitals. Int J Hum Resource Manag 2002:13/8;1299–1310.

20 West MA, Guthrie JP, Dawson JF, Borrill CS, Carter M. Reducing patient mortality in hospitals: the

role of human resource management. J Organ Behav 2006:27/7;983–1002.

21 Woodin J, McLeoad H, McManus R, Jelphs K. Evaluation of US-trained physician assistants working in

the NHS in England. Birmingham: Health Services Management Centre, Department of Primary Care

and General Practice, 2005.

48

Page 136



Appendix: Further information

Useful material that can be read in conjunction with the report

The Society of Acute Medicine

The Society for Acute Medicine (UK). Recommendations for medical assessment (admission) units.

Edinburgh: SAM(UK), 2003.

The Society for Acute Medicine (UK). Recommendations for nurse staffing on acute medicine/medical

assessment units. Edinburgh: SAM(UK), 2004.

The Society for Acute Medicine (UK). Guidelines for physiotherapy in medical assessment units.

Edinburgh: SAM(UK), October 2004.

Royal College of Physicians

Royal College of Physicians. Future patterns of care by general and specialist physicians. Meeting the needs

of adult patients in the UK. London: RCP, September 1996.

Royal College of Physicians. Acute medicine: the physician’s role. Proposals for the future. A working party

report of the Federation of Medical Royal Colleges. London: RCP, June 2000.

Royal College of Physicians. Management of the older medical patient. Teamwork in the journey of care.

London: RCP, September 2000

Black CM. (editorial). Acute medicine: the physician’s future role. Emerg Med 2000;17:391 

Armitage M. Acute medicine: making it work for patients. Clin Med 2000;4:203–6.

Royal College of Physicians. Skillmix and the hospital doctor: new roles for the healthcare workforce.

London: RCP, September 2001.

Royal College of Physicians. The interface of accident and emergency and acute medicine. Report of a

working party, London: RCP, May 2002.

Royal College of Physicians. The interface between acute general medicine and critical care. Report of a

working party, London: RCP, May 2002

Royal College of Physicians. Isolated acute medical services: current organisation and proposals for future.

London: RCP, July 2002.

Smith S. The changing face of acute medicine. Clin Med 2002:2:287–9.

Royal College of Physicians. Development of the out-of-hours team. RCP statement. November 2003.

Royal College of Physicians. Acute medicine: making it work for patients. A blueprint for organisation and

training. London: RCP, 2004.

Royal College of Physicians. Continuity of care for medical inpatients: standards of good practice. London:

RCP, 2004.

Royal College of Physicians. Acute and internal medicine in the UK – the way forward. Report of the

working group on acute and internal medicine. JCHMT. London: RCP, November 2005.

Royal College of Physicians. Patterns of full shift working, using three nine-hour shifts to provide 24-hour

care. Pounder and Connelly (in print).

Royal College of Physicians. Generic medical record-keeping standards. Health Informatics Unit

laminate. London: RCP, 2007.

49

Page 137



Academy of Medical Royal Colleges

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. The development of the out-of-hours medical team. The out-of-hours

management of acute hospitals. London: AoMRC, November 2003.

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Acute healthcare services. London: AoMRC, September 2007.

Department of Health. Discharge from hospital; pathway, process and practice. London: DH, 2003.

Department of Health. The competence and curriculum framework for the physician assistant. London:

DH and NHS National Practitioner Programme, 2006.

Department of Health. A direction of travel for urgent care. Urgent care team. London: DH, October

2006.

Department of Health. Evaluation of ‘closer to home’ demonstration sites. Final report. London: DH,

June 2007.

Department of Health. Healthcare foundation: A framework for action. London: DH, 2007.

Peer-reviewed articles

Hensher M, Fulop N, Coast J, Jefferys E. The hospital of the future. Better out than in? Alternatives to

acute hospital care. BMJ 1999;319:1127–30.

Lyons RA, Wareham K, Hutchings HA, Major E, Ferguson B. Population requirement for adult critical

care beds: a prospective quantitative and qualitative study. Lancet 2000:3;355(9219):1997–8.

Lattimer V, Sassi F, George S et al. Cost analysis of nurse telephone consultation in out-of-hours

primary care: evidence from a randomized controlled trial. BMJ 2000;320:1053–7. 

Iliffe S. Nursing and the future of primary care: handmaidens or agents for managed care? BMJ

2000;320:1020–1.

Weekends

Bell CM, Redelmeier DA. Mortality among patients admitted to hospitals on weekends compared with

weekdays. N Engl J Med 2001;345:663–8.

Cram P, Hillis SL, Barnett J, Rosenthal GE. Effects of weekend admission and hospital teaching status

on in-hospital mortality. Am J Med 2004;117:151–7.

Schmulewitz L, Proudfoot A, Bell D. The impact of weekends on outcome for emergency patients.

Clin Med 2005;5:621.

Kostis WJ, Demissie MD, Marcella SW et al. Weekend versus weekday admission and mortality from

myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2007;356:11.

Redelmeier, MD, Bell CM. Weekend worriers (editorial). N Engl J Med 2007;356:11.

Early warning systems, etc

Subbe C. Validation of a modified EWS in medical admissions. QJM 2001;92:521.

Seward E, Greig E, Preston S et al. Confidential study of deaths after emergency medical admissions.

Clin Med 2003;3:425.

Goldhill DR. Physiological abnormalities and early warning scores are related to mortalities in adult

patients. Br J Anaesth 2004;92:82.

Paterson R, MacLeod DC, Thetford D. Prediction of in-hospital mortality and length of stay using an

early warning scoring system: clinical audit. Clin Med 2006;6:281.

50

Acute medical care

Page 138



E-learning

Greenhalgh T. Computer-assisted learning in undergraduate medical education. BMJ 2001;322.

Wong G, Greenhalgh T, Russell J. Putting your course on the web: lessons from a case study and

systematic literature review. Med Educ 2003;37:1020–3.

Childs S, Blenkinsopp E, Hall A. Effective e-learning for health professionals and students – barriers

and their solutions. A systematic review of the literature – findings from the HeXL project. Health

Inform Libr J 2005;22/2:20–32.

Jorge G, Ruiz MD, Michael J. The impact of e-learning in medical education. Acad Med 2006:81/3;

207–12.

Integrated discharge teams

Miller DK, Lewis LM, Nork MJ et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment; a meta-analysis of controlled

trials. Lancet 1993:342:1032–6.

Moss J, Flower C, Houghton M. A multidisciplinary care coordination team improves emergency

department discharge planning practice. Med J Aust 2002;177(8):435–9.

Mion LC, Palmer RM, Meldon SW. Case finding and referral model for emergency department elders:

a randomized clinical trial. Ann Emerg Med 2003;41:57–68.

Pethybridge J. How team working influences discharge planning from hospital: a study of four

multidisciplinary teams in an acute hospital in England. J Interprof Care 2004;18(1): 29–41.

Lattimer V, Turnbull J, Burgess A et al. Effect of introduction of integrated out-of-hours care in

England: an observational study. BMJ 2005;331:81–4.

Ellis G, Langhorne P. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older hospital patients. Br Med Bul

2005;71;45–59.

Assessment tools

Davies H, Archer J, Heard S, Southgate L. Assessment tools for foundation programmes – a practical

guide. BMJ Career Focus 2005;330:195–6.

Archer J, Norcini J, Southgate L, Heard S, Davies H. A mini-PAT (peer assessment tool). A valid

component of a national assessment programme in the UK? Adv Health Sci Educ 2006.

NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement

NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement. Delivering quality and value: directory of

ambulatory emergency care for adults. London: NHS, 2007.

Human resources

West M, Guthrie J, Dawson F. Reducing patient mortality in hospitals: the role of human resource

management. J Organ Behav 2006;27/7:983–1002

West MA, Borrill C, Dawson J et al. The link between the management of employees and patient

mortality in acute hospitals. Int J Hum Resource Manag 2007;13(8):1299–1310.

Other

The Intensive Care Society. Levels of critical care for adult patients. Standards and guidelines. London:

The Intensive Care Society, 2002.

51

Appendix: Further information

Page 139



Woodin J, McLeoad H, McManus R, Jelphs K. Evaluation of US-trained physician assistants working in

the NHS in England. Birmingham: Health Services Management Centre, University of Birmingham,

2005

NCEPOD. An acute problem? A report of the National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and

Death 2005. London: NCEPOD, 2005.

Black A. The future of acute care. Andy Black: a personal view. London: NHS Confederation, 2006.

National Leadership Network. Strengthening local services: the future of the acute hospital. London:

National Leadership Network Local Hospitals Project, 2006.

Which? Which way? Negotiating the out-of-hours maze. Hartford: Which? 2007.

British Society of Gastroenterology. Out-of-hours gastroenterology – a position paper. London: BSG,

2007.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Acutely ill patients in hospital. Recognition of and

response to acute illness in adults in hospital. London: NICE, 2007.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Patient Safety Observatory. Safer care for the

acutely ill patient: learning from serious incidents. London: NICE, 2007.

52

Acute medical care

Page 140


	Agenda
	PARTICIPATING LOCAL AUTHORITIES
	MAP OF LOCATION
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING
	INEL JOSC Mins LB Barking & Dag 21 Jan 2010

	4 WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS
	Item 4 Royal Coll Paed & Child Hlth Attach A
	Item 4 Royal Coll Paed & Child Hlth Attach B.doc
	Item 4 Royal Coll Paed & Child Hlth Attach C
	Item 4 Royal Coll Paed & Child Hlth Attach D.doc

	5 WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF NURSING
	Item 5 - JT consultation responses attachment

	8 WITNESS - ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS
	item 8 Teams without Walls Attach A
	item 8 Acute Medical Care Attach B


